Rowan University Rowan Digital Works

Theses and Dissertations

4-7-2022

HER-STORY: A NARRATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF FIRST-GENERATION AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN WHO TRANSFER TO A PREDOMINATELY WHITE INSTITUTION

DeLithea Evonn Davis Rowan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd

Part of the Higher Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Davis, DeLithea Evonn, "HER-STORY: A NARRATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF FIRST-GENERATION AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN WHO TRANSFER TO A PREDOMINATELY WHITE INSTITUTION" (2022). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2980. https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd/2980

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Rowan Digital Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Rowan Digital Works. For more information, please contact graduateresearch@rowan.edu.

HER-STORY: A NARRATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF FIRST-GENERATION AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN WHO TRANSFER TO A PREDOMINATELY WHITE INSTITUTION

by DeLithea Evonn Davis

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Department of Educational Services and Leadership College of Education In partial fulfillment of the requirement For the degree of Doctor of Education at Rowan University March 21, 2022

Dissertation Chair: Monica Reid Kerrigan, Ed.D., Associate Professor, Department of Educational Services and Leadership

Committee Members: Cecile H. Sam, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Educational Services and Leadership James Coaxum, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Educational Services and Leadership © 2022 DeLithea Evonn Davis

Dedications

What a journey this has been! I have worked through the loss of family, a pandemic, and changes in my life. I am so thankful for everyone that walked this journey with me. I want to thank my mom Phyllis for encouraging me, pushing me, and of course, asking, "When will you be finished!" I dedicate my work to Myles and Jocelyn, my two heartbeats. Thank you for loving me and supporting me every step of the way. You both have made me so proud to be your mom, and I love you. Keep your heads held high and stay focused on your goals! Charles, thank you for supporting me. Aunt Jean, Uncle James, Marcus, and Savayah, I did it. I promised you I would complete this journey, and now I am here. I hope I continue to make you proud of me. Thank you, Saniyah, for calling to check on your aunt and talking to me about my study. Thank you to my sisters and brother for understanding my focus on school and my constant writing with my virtual groups. I love you all so much! To my extended family, which is extremely large, thank you for the love and support while I have walked this path. Thank you, James, for checking on me to make sure I was alright. The laughs and sharing memories of your dad kept me focused on this process. Malcolm X (1962) once stated, "The most disrespected person in America is the Black woman. The most unprotected person in America is the Black woman. The most neglected person in America is the Black woman." Thank you to my participants for allowing me to share your stories. I hope it helps us as Black women to get the respect, protection, and support we deserve.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my chair, Dr. Monica Reid Kerrigan. Your support, encouraging words, and understanding of my worries and fears was beyond what I expected from a chair. You are an amazing person, and I appreciate you taking this journey with me! Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Cecile Sam and Dr. James Coaxum. The support you showed me during this process was appreciated. Your expertise helped to make my study what it is today! Additionally, I want to thank Latoya Bond and Tevis Bryant. The love, support, friendship, and belly laughs were so needed. I love both of you for always supporting me and taking turns being Michelle! I knew that the moment I sat next to you, Latoya, and in front of you, Tevis, at orientation, we would be fast friends. The Flosse Posse made it!!! Thank you for your friendship, Susan and Megan, you have become more like sisters to me, and I love both of you. I appreciate how much the two of you have loved me, encouraged me, and welcomed me into your lives. To Dr. Michael Colbert and Lillie Howard, thank you for starting this journey with me at Saint Joseph's University. Dr. Colbert, I have carried your words of encouragement with me throughout this program, and I know if it were not for your push, I would not have made it to any of my finish lines. Lillie, thank you for allowing me the space to feel sad or frustrated but being the type of friend that encouraged me to wipe the tears away and keep pushing forward. Brenda Harkins, thank you for cheering me on; I love you! I want to lastly thank my many colleagues who helped me and introduced me to my participants. I would not have completed my study without your support. There are so many people I want to thank for taking this journey with me, but unfortunately, I cannot name everyone. Please know that I genuinely love and appreciate you all so much!

iv

Abstract

DeLithea Evonn Davis HER-STORY: A NARRATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF FIRST-GENERATION AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN WHO TRANSFER TO A PREDOMINATELY WHITE INSTITUTION 2021-2022 Monica Reid Kerrigan, Ed.D. Doctor of Education

The purpose of this narrative research study was to explore the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. More specifically, this study focused on Black women students' ability to succeed while navigating against dominant majoritarian views and negative stereotypes while attending a predominately White institution. This study focused on the resilience and success of Black women as they worked towards obtaining an education. Black feminist thought and Anti-Deficit Achievement theory assisted the study in identifying negative stereotypes, oppression, and the women's abilities to be successful. The findings indicate that while these women faced negative stereotypes and transfer barriers, they used their voices to gain their desired support. This study assists in expanding the limited research on first-generation African American women college students' experiences when they have transferred to a predominately White institution. This study shows the importance of positive institutional agents, culturally responsive teaching, and support for first-generation Black women transfer students to assist them in their continued college success.

Abstract	V
List of Tables	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	6
Research Questions	6
Delimitations	7
Significance of Study	8
Summary	9
Terms & Definitions	10
Chapter 2: Literature Review	13
Conceptual Framework	16
Black Feminist Thought	18
Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory	22
Transfer Students	24
Transfer Student Persistence	26
Transfer Student Retention	27
First-Generation College Students	28
Parental Involvement	
College Readiness	32
First-Generation Students and Academic Advisor Support	

Table of Contents

Table of Contents (Continued)

African American Women in Higher Education	5
Imposter Phenomenon/Syndrome	6
African American Women at Predominately White Institutions	7
Faculty-Student Engagement	9
Campus Involvement4	.1
Retention of African American Women at PWIs4	2
Institutional Support for African American Women4	.4
Black Feminism, Anti-Deficit Achievement, and PWIs4	.5
Summary4	6
Chapter 3: Methodology4	.8
Research Questions4	.8
Research Design4	.9
Narrative Inquiry4	.9
Researcher's Role5	1
Research Site5	3
Participants	4
Sample5	5
Data Collection5	7
Narrative Analysis5	8
Limitations6	0
Ethical Considerations6	51
Quality and Trustworthiness	2

Conclusion	62
Chapter 4: Findings	64
Charmaine	66
Ayanna	77
Alice	85
Jean	91
Discussion of Themes	97
Three-Dimensional Space Narrative Inquiry	97
Awareness of Negative Stereotypes	
Importance of Education and Peer Work Ethic	
Negative Experiences with Communication Issues	
Positive Engagement with Institutional Agents	
Measuring Success as Black Students	
Navigating the Covid-19 Pandemic	
Conclusions	
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Implications	
Discussion of Research Questions and Findings	
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	113
Research Question 3	116
Limitations and Delimitations	
Implications for Practice, Research, and Policy	121

Table of Contents (Continued)

Table of Contents (Continued)
---------------------	--------------------

Practice/Leadership	121
Research	124
Policy	125
Conclusion	127
References	
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	154
Appendix B: Document Protocol	158
Appendix C: Alignment Matrix	159
Appendix D: Interview Consent Form	160
Appendix E: Recruitment Email	162
Appendix F: IRB Approval Letter	

List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 1. Participants	65

Chapter 1 Introduction

The transfer process is one that many students attempt to do each semester from their community college to a four-year college. In a report for The National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, on an average of 852,439 students who first enrolled at a community college nationwide, 31.5% or 268,749 students transferred to a four-year institution within six years (Shapiro et al., 2017). Research conducted by Townsend (2008) supports the idea that many transfer students may run into issues adjusting to the social aspects of the transition, including feelings of isolation on campus. When the transfer student is also first-generation, transitioning can be more difficult because of social-class disparities. Colleges and universities are aware of these disparities, so they seek to mitigate them by offering programs to help first-generation students adjust to higher education (Engle et al., 2006). Stephens et al. (2014) share that many institutions offer programs to assist first-generation students with financial resources or academic skills, but these resources do not guarantee success for first-generation students.

The pathway to higher education is not always equal and equitable for all students (Blackwell & Pinder, 2014). Although the number of Black women enrolled in historically White institutions has grown in recent years, research has failed to adequately address these students' mental, social, and emotional well-being (Green et al., 2018). The experiences of Black women and girls remain marginalized in our society. Crenshaw et al. (2015) explain, "the existing research, data, and public policy debates often fail to address the degree to which girls face risks that are both similar to and different from those faced by boys" (p. 11). The challenges facing Black people and Black men and

boys are treated as the same. Patton et al. (2016) explain, "as a result; an asymmetrical solidarity is perpetuated among Black people, relegating the lived experiences of Black women and girls to the margins" (p. 194). Because of these experiences and marginalization, Black women are either serving as props in narratives about Black men or being left out altogether (Johnson, 2013). Although there is an argument that all students need to feel that they "matter" on their campus (Schlossberg, 1989), students of color can feel marginalized more than they feel that they matter. This marginalized experiences (Jackson, 1998).

Green et al. (2018) argue that while Black women seek higher education to gain upward mobility, they find themselves in a hostile environment that acts as a microcosm of the larger society where race, gender, and power relations are present. Research has also shown that Black women are the most isolated group at predominately White institutions, which is psychologically and emotionally taxing (Shavers et al., 2014). Jackson & Harris (2007) argue that higher education's general system is not built for Black women to succeed. Although researchers have discussed these findings, the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2019) indicates that in 2015-16, 64% of Black women earned bachelor's degrees. Winkle-Wagner (2015) argues that contradictory trends emerge when addressing Black women's success in college. Black women have doubled their enrollment rates in thirty years, but their graduation rates are not as high as White and Asian women.

When you couple the transition process for a student who transfers to a four-year school, first-generation, and an African American female student with the hostile

environment these students can face, their success is essential. If the climate in these student's environments is especially hostile or alienating, social connectedness will decrease (Lee et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2014). Also, individuals that do not have the ability to socially integrate or be engaged in the social life of their environments will suffer (Townley & Kloss, 2011; Thelamour et al., 2019). The transition it takes to be a college student can be challenging for many students. Several studies speak about the struggles and triumphs of different populations of students. There is in-depth research on Black students but more specifically on Black males and their persistence at four-year institutions (Brooks et al., 2013; Davis et al., 2013), but very few studies focus on Black women and their ability to be successful in college. Black women face negative stereotypes and discrimination on their White campuses but can still earn a degree successfully. Black females are entering and completing college at greater rates than Black males, giving Black students the widest gender gap than other ethnicities (Lee & Ransom, 2011).

Problem Statement

The college success of African American women remains underexplored due to trends in research of examining students of color as a group that encompasses men, women, and multiple racial/ethnic subgroups (Winkle-Wagner, 2015). Research has further shown that attending a predominately White Institution (PWI) is difficult for many students of color, specifically African American women, because Black women endure marginalization on several levels. Being a woman and African American presents these students with complex issues such as racism and sexism. This study examines how first-generation African American women who transfer to a PWI have transitioned on

their campus and are successful. Black women graduate from college at a higher percentage rate than Black men, but their success is still barely discussed in academia.

It appears that the traditional climate and standard education pedagogy have been unsuccessful in creating an inclusive environment for previously marginalized students (Harper & Shaun 2007; Howard-Hamilton & Hughes, 2003). Undergraduate enrollment percentages of African Americans in higher education are currently high. While the numbers have increased, the overall four-year graduation rates remain low at approximately 21% (NCES, 2019). Research has shown that African American women enroll and graduate from 4-year institutions at higher percentages than do African American men. Despite calls for more research on African American women, insufficient research remains focused on African American men (Walpole, 2008).

African American students have not given up their dreams of obtaining an education. These students have placed a high value on education for generations (Bennett & Lutz, 2009; Winkle-Wagner, 2015). The increase in undergraduate enrollment shows evidence of this. However, the lack of support for these students may be a reason for their poor academic success. It has been established that African American women attend colleges at a higher rate than African American males. It is reported by NCES (2018) that 62% of Black women and 38% of Black males were enrolled in an undergraduate program. A comparison of student persistence rates of African American students attending historically Black colleges (HBCUs) and those attending PWIs shows very different results. Less than half of African American students graduate from PWIs, while 60% of African American students graduate from HBCUs (Arminio et al., 2000). Furthermore, African American students at predominately white institutions (PWIs),

which enroll the majority of Black students, have lower grade point averages (GPA) than students attending HBCUs (Allen & Haniff, 1991; Walpole, 2008). These results indicate a need for more research to be done on the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution.

Erik Erikson (1968) argues that groups previously oppressed and unable to reap the dominant culture's benefits would incorporate negative images of themselves. While African American women are enrolling in college at increased rates, researchers have found that many Black women attending predominately White institutions often encounter social, emotional, or academic barriers while on the path to graduation, which may have several consequences (Dahlvig, 2010). One such consequence is that African American women may not feel like a part of the campus community, interfering with their success at the PWI. Further research has been conducted to examine why underrepresented racial minority and lower-income students enroll in schools that may not be the best fit or provide the resources and support they need. Although there are many disparities in college enrollment choices, one main factor for these students enrolling in colleges that are not the best fit is that the college is close to home. The proximity to their home means their tuition is lower, and they can commute to their campus (Klasik et al., 2018; Long, 2004; Niu & Tienda, 2007; Rouse, 1995; Skinner, 2018).

African American women enrolled in PWIs have significant barriers stacked against them because of their race and gender. When you also consider Black women, who are first-generation transfer students to a PWI, there is concern about the impact on their ability to adjust to a new school and be successful. American history has recorded

the treatment of African American women and the continued devaluing of these women. Malcolm X (1962) once stated, "The most disrespected person in America is the Black woman. The most unprotected person in America is the Black woman. The most neglected person in America is the Black woman." This study will focus on the experiences of Black women and explore the resources they used that set them on a path toward being successful. This study will also discuss the challenges and barriers Black women can face during the transfer process. Transferring can be difficult for students, so this is another layer of complexity for first-generation Black women to contend with.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this narrative research study is to explore the perceptions of firstgeneration African American women's experiences who transfer to a predominately White institution. More specifically, this study focuses on Black women students' ability to succeed while navigating against dominant majoritarian views and treatment while attending a predominately White institution. This study will focus on the resilience and activism of Black women from a Black feminist thought point of view as they obtain an education. Qualitative studies are needed to truly understand through "thick rich" descriptions (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) what is happening (or not) from the viewpoint of this population of students in reference to being on the campus of a predominately White institution.

Research Questions

This qualitative narrative study was conducted to understand the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a PWI. There are three questions that will guide this research. The questions are:

- How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining a postsecondary education?
- 2. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?
- 3. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?

Delimitations

Delimitations are the limitations consciously set by researchers, which are the boundaries or limits of their work (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). A delimitation for this study is the use of Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory as a framework that will allow the researcher to focus on African American students. Since this study is being conducted to examine the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution, this framework will only allow for focus to be placed on a specific population of students. Black feminist thought is another framework being used for this study. This framework assisted the researcher with examining African American women's experiences attending a predominately White institution. Black feminist thought is a viewpoint that clarifies Black women's perceptions of their lives in consideration of their history of oppression and marginalization (Collins, 2009). A delimitation of this framework is it will only focus on the perceptions of African American women and our persistence towards success. Also, only students in this population that demonstrate academic success will be considered for this study. Another delimitation of this study is the sample size of four first-generation African American

women transfer students, which is not representative of all first-generation African American women who transfer to James University. Participants must be in good standing, meaning their academic record should show their success rate, first-generation, African American women, and transfers attending the university.

Significance of Study

There is literature written about African American women attending predominately White institutions (PWIs); however, a large amount of the research indicates that African American students attending PWIs generally have difficulty assimilating socially and academically (Allen, 1992). This study seeks to fill the existing gap about the experiences and perceptions of first-generation African American women who transfer to a PWI. This study will focus on the transfer process, perception of the resources and support available on campus. The findings of this study will inform the field by providing insight into the experiences of this population of students and assisting the field with providing adequate support. This study aims to examine the experiences of first-generation African American women attending a PWI and discuss how Black women can navigate on campus and be successful students. Through these findings, institutions can assess resources and support offered to first-generation African American women.

This study will assist institutions with finding ways to strengthen or improve their services. Black women students on predominately White campuses are rarely integrated into their institutions' life and culture, and there are no clear paths for them to effect change at these institutions (Moses, 1989). This study will bring insight to faculty and administrators, more so those that identify as White. Focus will be placed on the experiences of these women, the current responses of the university they attend, and how

the university provides support to these women. The existing literature examines the differences of experiences for Black men or Black students. It does not delve into the multitude of experiences Black women have on a predominately White institution's campus. This study is intended to provide new information that will offer guidance and strategic support for first-generation African American women attending predominately White institutions. The present study explores these issues through the lenses of Black Feminist Theory and Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory.

Summary

This chapter began by discussing the transfer process for students from a two-year institution to a four-year institution. The discussion further looks at how transferring into a predominately White institution impacts a first-generation African American woman. This study seeks to expand the research on first-generation African American female transfer students who transfer to a specific predominately White institution in the Northeast. The purpose of researching this institution is to understand these women's experiences, the support available, and their ability to succeed. First-generation college students (FGCS) enter college with little familiarity with postsecondary education, are academically unprepared, and do not have much support from their families (Ishitani, 2006). Most FGCS identify as students of color, take remedial courses, and struggle with transitioning into college compared to continuing-generation college students (Gist-Mackey et al., 2018). This population of students has a lot stacked against them once they get to campus. As African American women, they deal with the negative stereotypes about them in society. They are not expected to be successful, but research shows, this population of students earns a bachelor's degree at a higher rate than Black men. This

study seeks to learn about first-generation African American women's experiences through the lens of Black feminist thought and Anti-deficit achievement.

Terms & Definitions

There were important terms used in this research that are important to understand. The following definitions are pertinent to this study.

African American Women- Refers to a woman having origins of African descent (this can include cisgender, transgender, or non-binary people). The term African American is interchangeable with Black in this qualitative research study. The United States Census also includes people with Sub-Saharan lineage (e.g., Nigerian and Kenyan) and Afro-Caribbean lineage (e.g., Jamaican and Haitian) (Rastogi et al., 2010).

Transfer Students- Refers to any undergraduate student who leaves their initial institution of higher learning for another institution of learning (Fauria & Fuller, 2015; Cuseo, 1998).

Underrepresented Students- Refers to students with limited resources and supports in terms of applying to college and being college-ready. They may not have benefited from a "college-going" culture and could be the first in their families to attend college (U.S. Department of Education, 2016).

Black- The term Black is interchangeable with African American in this qualitative research study. These terms describe Americans who identify themselves as having historical origin from West Africa (Brown, 2011).

First-Generation College Students (FGCS)- Some researchers describe this population of students with parents who never attended a university at all. In contrast, others define first-generation college students as those with parents with "some" college experience but never graduated (Blackwell & Pinder, 2014).

Persistence- The academic progress of a student who enrolls in college and remains enrolled until degree completion (Hagedorn, 2006).

Retention- A series of institutional measures, that when viewed by administrators, allows the ability to measure a student's progress towards completion of a degree (Hagedorn, 2006).

Predominately White institution (PWI)- Institutions with more white students enrolled than students who are members of underrepresented racial groups (Bourke, 2016).

Historically Black College/University (HBCU)- Historically Black colleges and universities were established to serve the educational needs of Black Americans. These schools were established because Blacks were generally denied admission to traditionally white institutions (U.S. Department of Education, 1991)

Imposter Phenomenon/Syndrome- Feelings of inadequacy that persist even though the person is successful. This syndrome plagues people with self-doubt and feelings of being a fraud within their environment (Parkman, 2016).

Race- The perceived differences in appearance and behavior across individuals and groups. Other criteria used to define race include region or geographical area of origin, nationality, language, and religion (Gaines, 1994; King & Stansfield, 1990; Loue, 2006). **Microaggressions-**refers to brief and commonplace daily verbal, behavioral, or environmental indignities, whether intentional or unintentional, that communicate hostile, derogatory, or negative racial slights and insults toward people of color (Sue et al., 2007).

Black Feminist Thought- An interpretive framework used to understand the standpoint of Black women. Black Feminist Thought is the reproduction of Black womanhood

through the experiences of Black women but engages a social justice perspective in collaboration with other traditionally marginalized groups (Collins, 2009).

Empowerment- An intentional ongoing process centered in the local community, involving mutual respect, critical reflection, caring, and group participation, through which people lacking an equal share of valued resources gain greater access to and control over those resources; or a process by which people gain control over their lives, democratic participation in the life of their community, and a critical understanding of their environment (Perkins & Zimmerman, 1995).

Anti-Deficit Achievement- Anti-deficit achievement is a qualitative research design created to invert questions commonly asked about educational disadvantage, underrepresentation, insufficient preparation, academic underperformance, disengagement, and Black student attrition. The Anti-deficit model suggests researchers should understand the African American college student experience from the standpoint of what works and what contributes to their success (Harper, 2006).

Success- Often used as a metric for an institution's performance, student success can be seen in persistence and increased self-efficacy outcomes. Success can be defined as achieving a particular goal but can have different meanings in how faculty and students describe it as well as minoritized students like first-generation, underrepresented, or Black, Indigenous, and people of color groups of students (Alyahyan & Düştegör, 2020; Weatherton & Schussler, 2021).

Chapter 2

Literature Review

The literature review focused on the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer into a predominately White institution. This chapter includes discussions from other researchers who address women as females. All other discussions about women from this researcher will follow the current APA 7 guidelines. This review will discuss literature about first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. The majority of the literature discussed is from a deficit standpoint. Based on the deficit perspective of the literature, two conceptual frameworks, Black Feminist Thought and Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory are used to support an anti-deficit perspective. Also, this review includes research about family and campus support available for Black women while navigating their way on a predominately white campus. Individual characteristics students bring with them through the transfer process will have an impact on persistence (Tinto, 1993). Tinto further states that students of color, either new or transfer students, may find transitions even more difficult on many campuses where there is not a large mass of students from similar backgrounds. Racial and ethnic minority students can find themselves feeling overwhelmed with the whiteness they can encounter when first arriving on a predominately White campus (Hawkins & Larabee, 2009). African American women historically are not placed in a position in society to be successful.

There has been a lack of support in research about African American women. Patton et al., 2016 argue between 1991-2012, a 22-year span, only 48 articles were

published on the experiences of Black college women compared to 62 articles written on the experiences of Black undergraduate men (Harper, 2012). Patton et al., 2016 further critiques research by explaining that there is little known about Black women's experiences and challenges in college. The authors further explains that "over the last 20 years, most of the literature on Black girls presents mythologized discourse, which suggests we are "okay" because they fare better than Black boys" (p. 194). Black feminist thought shows that Black women are viewed in society in a negative stereotypical way, but they can persist in their educational careers. This theory clarifies the impacts of racism, classism, and sexism on the lives of Black women by challenging historical views about them and enables scholars to dispel subordination of some based on race, class, and sex (Guy-Sheftall, 1995). First-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution (PWI) can be successful, so Harper's Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory will be used as a framework to support this. Harper (2012) argues that Anti-deficit Achievement should be used as a framework to deliberately attempt to discover how some students of color have managed to succeed. Both frameworks are being used as a guide to explore existing educational research. This chapter was organized to discuss how Black women are viewed and treated at PWIs but can excel and be successful.

Higher education is one of many paths that leads individuals to greater social mobility, economic growth, a sense of achievement, employment opportunities, and working in higher status jobs (Blackwell & Pinder, 2014). Over the past 80 years, the United States experienced a dramatic increase in college enrollment and completion (Horowitz, 2018). According to the National Center for Education Statistics (2018),

young adults 25-34-years-old showed higher employment rates based on their higher educational attainment levels. The percentage of these students that earned a bachelor's degree or higher is 86%, and the employment rate for young adults with some college (79 percent) was higher than the rate for those who had completed high school (72 percent). Obtaining a college degree for First-Generation African American women can provide opportunities for them and their families. Ishitani (2016) argues that a higher education degree is of great value to all students, providing them with economic gains, higher earnings, and greater career opportunities.

As previously discussed, the pathway to higher education is not always equal and equitable for all students (Blackwell & Pinder, 2014). As a first-generation African American woman who transfers to a predominately White institution, this population of students makes up several separate populations. These students, as a separate population, do not always find success in higher education. As a transfer, they are considered nontraditional students that lack higher education experience (NCES, 1996). The same is said for the persistence of first-generation students because they do not have the same support as a White counterpart or continuing generation student (Cataldi, 2018). There are barriers already setup against these students. When these intersections of a student are coupled with being an African American woman attending a predominately White institution, research shows these students are expected to assimilate on their campuses but have difficulties socially and academically (Allen, 1992). Research shows that Black women are successful in college because they enroll and graduate at higher rates than Black men (Winkle-Wagner, 2015), but they are left out of the conversation. Ricks (2014) argues that although Black girls and women have adopted coping and defense

mechanisms while dealing with gendered racism, these methods are interpreted by teachers and school personnel as personality or cultural characteristics instead of responses to daily microaggressions. First-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution are successful over Black men because, as argued by Green & Mabokela (2001), Black women have the ability to rise above challenges and master goals. The authors further say that Black women establish changes by breaking barriers and building bridges to success. The ability to be successful was further explored through the use of conceptual frameworks that focused on Black students.

Conceptual Framework

This study utilized Collins's theory of Black Feminist Thought and Harper's Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory to explore what factors contribute to the retention and success of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. These frameworks were chosen because they complement one another through the lens of Black women being successful, empowered, and the primary focus of this study. Black feminist thought argues that all Black women share common experiences due to the intersection of race, gender, and social class, known as intersectionality (Collins, 2009). This theory is being used to discuss societal views of Black women and how those views are seen on a predominately White institution's campus. This theory also helped to explain the barriers African American women face, leading to her persistence towards success. Black feminist thought is a viewpoint that clarifies Black women's perceptions of their lives in consideration of their history of oppression and marginalization (Collins, 2009). Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory

reframes deficit-oriented thinking to focus on the achievement of students of color (Harper, 2012). Instead of focusing on the disadvantages of underrepresentation, educational disparities, and barriers that students of color face, Anti-Deficit Achievement focuses on the success and positive attributes of students of color. This study used Black feminist thought and Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory to discuss the marginalization of African American women who attend predominately White institutions and focused on their success.

Using a combination of Black feminist thought's distinguishing features and Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory as conceptual frameworks, this study explored the experiences of African American women and their perceptions of their campus. Black feminist thought provided a space for Black women to share their stance and experiences when a sense of belonging does not exist (Collins, 2009). Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory challenges researchers to understand Black men and what contributes to their success (Harper, 2010). Research has found that Black women are positioned in oppressive environments where they face challenges due to gender and racial disparities (Collins, 2009). Despite all that is known about what complicates and undermines achievement for minority groups, Harper (2010) argues that these groups successfully navigate their way through college. Collins (2009) explores the idea of the matrix of domination which is a concept that draws attention to the inherent complexity of privilege and how it shapes people's lives. Although Black women face the intersectionality of race, gender, and class disparities, Black feminist thought allows these women to empower themselves and push back against their oppressive environments. Anti-Deficit Achievement complements this empowerment by showing how Black

women can navigate the inequities and racial achievement gaps to be successful (Harper, 2010). Although this theory was created to research Black men and their success, it was used in this study to help create a discussion about the success of Black women.

Black Feminist Thought

How long shall the fair daughters of Africa be compelled to bury their minds and talents beneath a load of iron pots and kettles?

Maria W. Stewart

This study was informed by Black feminist thought. Using Black feminist thought as one of two theories served as the foundation of this study which, seeked to illuminate Black women's experience by focusing on academic achievements and the support systems that contributed to retention. Black feminist thought privileges experiences and ideas of Black women, which are often minimalized or ignored by society (Collins, 2009). This perspective acknowledges the interaction of multiple forms of oppression experienced by Black women, such as racism, sexism, and classism (Crenshaw, 1998). Black feminist thought began in the sociology arena to identify African American women's marginalized position in American society (Collins, 1986; Howard-Hamilton, 2003). Collins identified African American women's marginalization by describing it as an outsider-within status. When an African American woman experiences being the outsider-within, she understands that she is a participant and not entirely accepted. The thought that females/women are often viewed as always "becoming" and never "being" places women as allies with other groups excluded from the dominant group or society-for instance, with the LGBTQ+ community, Jewish people, and racial and ethnic minorities (Tong, 1989, p. 230). Black feminist thought

explained these thoughts of "becoming," as a theory used as a form of empowerment for Black women. Black women's empowerment involves rejecting the dimensions of knowledge that perpetuate objectification, commodification, and exploitation (Collins, 2000, p. 289). Collins (2009) argues that Black feminist thought views Black women's struggles as a part of a broader struggle for human dignity and social justice. Black feminist thought encourages Black women to empower ourselves by understanding the world's perceptions but not letting it stop us from being who we are in this world. Obtaining an education can be one form of empowerment and activism that will allow Black women to fight against the system of oppression. Collins (2000) argues that the skills gained in school is part of focused education for Black community development and thus helps to centralize our worldviews which empowers us more. The author explains that as long as Black women's oppression persists, so will the need for Black women's activism (Collins, 2009, p. 274).

There are six distinguishing features of Black feminist thought which are: to empower Black women, give Black women a unique standpoint on their experiences, and show that Black women have commonalities with oppression. Other features of Black feminist thought are Black women use our intellect as contributions and, Black women can and should make significant social changes. Also, Black feminist thought can be used to promote coalition-building with other social justice projects and groups. The first distinguishing feature of Black feminist thought empowers Black women through their ideas. This distinguishing feature is the idea of empowering Black women against oppression. Black feminist thought aims to do this for African American women within the context of social injustice sustained by intersecting oppressions (Collins, 2000). The

author further explains that Black women cannot be completely empowered unless intersecting oppressions are eliminated (p, 22). The second feature argues that Black women possess a unique standpoint on their experiences. Collins (2000) states that the matrix of oppression is an interlocking system of race, class oppression, gender, and privilege, which has given Black women a group knowledge or standpoint of our marginalized status. The third feature acknowledges the commonalities and diversity among Black women. U.S. Black women's collective historical experiences with oppression may stimulate a self-defined Black women's standpoint that in turn can foster Black women's activism (p. 30). This activism can allow Black women to push against the matrix of domination. Collins (2000) discussed this matrix of domination by describing it as social organizations within intersecting oppressions that originate, develop, and are contained. According to the author, such domination has occurred through schools, housing, employment, government, and other institutions that regulate patterns of intersecting oppressions that Black wome necounter (p. 228).

The fourth feature acknowledges the intellectual contributions of Black women. This distinguishing feature focuses on the tradition of merging intellectual work and activism. Collins (2000) explains that as Black women, we can analyze the intersecting oppressions that restrict our lives. As intellectuals, our experiences as Black women provide us with a unique point of view concerning Black womanhood, which is not the same for other groups (p. 35). The fifth distinguishing feature of U.S. Black feminist thought focuses on the significance of change. As social conditions change, so must the knowledge and practices designed to resist them (Collins, 200, p. 39). According to Collins (2000), remaining focused on these changes will allow Black women to avoid

allowing dominant groups to suppress our views. The last feature of Black feminist thought is to promote coalition-building with other social justice projects and groups. The idea of this feminist feature is to recognize that Black women's struggles are a part of a wider struggle for human dignity, empowerment, and social justice (p. 41). As a Black feminist, Black women are tasked with committing to being the intellectual activist that should work with other social justice projects to bring attention to the "survival and wholeness of entire people" (p. 42).

Black women have been illustrated through culture, history, and media in various combinations of four images: (1) as a family-oriented, nurturing, and portly selfsacrificing Mammy; (2) as an always need to be in charge, argumentative, and threatening Sapphire; (3) as a highly sex-crazed, seductive, sexually irresponsible, promiscuous Jezebel; and (4) the Welfare Queen who appears to have direct ties and access to unlimited monetary gains thorough the U.S. welfare systems (Collins 1990; Sims-Wood, 1988; Weitz & Gordan, 1993). Collins (2009) argues that it is vital to use the concept of controlling images because it brings attention to the negative stereotypical representation of Black women. Stereotyping and preconceptions of women leaders are primary factors that impede women's ability to rise to the top of higher education institutions (Gamble & Turner, 2015: Knapp, 1986). Black feminist thought is used as a path to address negative stereotypes that share a portion of the "general ideology of domination" that takes on a special meaning for Black women (Collins, 2001, p. 69). Researchers have found that Black women are expected to conform to what society deems as "norms of race and gender" or are expected to pick between their race and gender (Croom & Patton, 2011; Everett & Croom, 2017; Winkle-Wagner, 2010).

Negative racial stereotypes affect women of color, particularly Black women, disproportionately, and in ways, gender discrimination alone cannot explain (Walkington, 2017).

Black feminist thought provides a way to deconstruct existing frameworks in society, especially economic structures, education, and many academic disciplines (Brewer, 1993). More importantly, Black feminist thought makes African American women the center or primary focus of research. Collins (2009) noted that Black feminist thought helps dispel and break down stereotypes about African American women and their intellect. Black feminist thought is a social and political perspective that attempts to address social issues that affect Black women in society and political environments. Black feminist thought focuses on the meaning and experiences of a Black woman's life. A Black women's political and economic status provides them with a distinctive set of experiences that offers a different view of material reality than that available to other groups (Collins, 1986, p. 747). Black feminist thought is necessary to uncover African American women's voices to capture their experiences from their standpoint and separating them from African American men and other women.

Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory

Anti-Deficit Achievement is qualitative research created to study achieving undergraduate African American male students of color. This framework is informed by decades of literature on Black men in sociology, psychology, gender studies, education, and society. It inverts questions commonly asked about educational disadvantage, underrepresentation, insufficient preparation, academic underperformance, disengagement, and Black student attrition. Focusing on persistence toward degree

attainment, the framework does not focus on existing theories to examine deficits. Instead, researchers using this framework should deliberately attempt to discover how some students of color have managed to succeed (Harper, 2012). According to Harper (2012), African American students have been investigated primarily with the results typically implicating in the student's home, family, or community in their lack of success (Harper & Harris, 2010). College administrators develop reactive policies to address the needs of socially disadvantaged groups (Harper, 2006). There is a wealth of research and literature with examples of the depth of inadequacies and inequities that plague the African American community (Ross et al., 2012; Walpole, 2003). These approaches, known as deficit models, are where colleges and universities take little to no responsibility for African American students' poor performance and place the burden on the students and their backgrounds (Harper, 2006).

Harper's Anti-Deficit model suggests researchers should understand the African American college student experience from the standpoint of what works and what contributes to their success. The author argues that researchers should focus less on what a student lacks and more on how they were able to achieve success. Numerous researchers have called attention to the underrepresentation and racism that Black students endure on predominately White campuses. While important implications for policy and practice have been generated from these studies, Harper (2015) maintains that much remains to be known about how students manage to excel and persist despite these challenges. Most published evidence on Blacks at predominately White institutions (PWI's) makes clear why so many of these students fail but reveals far too little about

what can be learned from those who craft productive responses to racism and other environmental forces that undermine success (Fries-Britt & Griffin, 2007; Harper, 2013).

Once a student enters higher education, college achievement is considered one of the most important factors. College achievement and persistence are influenced by students' different experiences and their engagement on campus, including interactions with peers and faculty. This is considered the midpoint of a student's educational pipeline, and within this midpoint, Harper (2010) identifies three researchable dimensions of success that influence students' college achievement; classroom experiences, out-ofclass engagement, and enriching educational experiences. With these researchable dimensions in mind, the literature used to examine the success of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution can explain how these students can navigate and become successful on campus. Black feminist thought seeks to change the negative stereotypes of Black women in education; tying in Anti-Deficit achievement theory to this student population can help researchers see that Black women can benefit from positive support on campus, but they can also be successful in college. It seems necessary to investigate how Black students can persist through graduation, especially considering what the literature says about racism, stereotypes, and low expectations that threaten their success at PWIs (Harper, 2015).

Transfer Students

Transferring for a student from one institution to another has become very prevalent amongst college students. The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) reports that in 2018, nearly 5.7 million undergraduate students entered community colleges, compared to 10.9 million that entered 4-year institutions. Students change

institutions for many reasons, but this research focuses on transferring from a 2-year to a 4-year institution. NCES shares that although 65 percent of beginning community college students plan to transfer, only 24 percent do so within six years (2018). Transfer students tend to have a non-traditional background and not a lot of experience with college. According to NCES (1996), students with family and work responsibilities and other circumstances that may interfere with completing their educational goals are considered non-traditional students. These circumstances can be associated with their high school status, family, and financial background. NCES further explains that non-traditional learners receive this distinction because of their enrollment trends at a two-year or 4-year institution. Traditional students enroll in postsecondary education immediately after high school and attend as full-time students, but students that "diverge from this pattern are non-traditional" (NCES, 1996).

Students transfer from a two-year college to a four-year college or university to earn their bachelor's degree. Several studies have shown evidence of transfer students beginning the baccalaureate degree at a community college. However, it has been demonstrated that these students are less likely to complete the process (Allen et al., 2013). The authors argue that since transfer students deal with challenges while transitioning, these challenges can account for why they may not obtain a bachelor's degree. The authors further explain that this can be attributed to transfer shock. Transfer shock is described as the difficulty a transfer student has with integrating and adapting to their new campus (Hill, 1965). However, once a transfer student can adapt to their new campus, many can succeed and earn their degree. According to Horn & Skomsvold (2011), students that transfer with a certificate or two-year degree were 16% more likely

to earn a bachelor's degree than students who transferred without one. Further research has shown that if a community college student transferred to a public flagship school, they were as likely to graduate as those who started there. If they transferred to a less selective public four-year school, they had a better chance of graduating than native students (Jenkins & Fink, 2015).

Earning a higher degree is a goal many students accomplish through the transfer process. However, obstacles specific to the transfer process can include moving to a new location, finding childcare, and transferring course units (Chin-Newman & Shaw, 2013). The greatest challenge for transfer students may involve overcoming self-doubt about their ability to succeed at the four-year university (Schmertz & Carney, 2013). A higher education degree is of great value to all students, helping to provide them with economic gains, higher earnings, and greater career opportunities (Ishitani, 2006).

Transfer Student Persistence

Persistence is the academic progress of a student who enrolls in college and remains enrolled until degree completion (Hagedorn, 2006). Student persistence is linked to transfer students being able to complete their college careers and earn a degree. According to Reason's (2009) model of student retention, there are four areas the researcher believes influence a student's persistence. These influences are pre-college characteristics and experiences such as race, gender, socioeconomic status, or transfer GPA. Other influences, as described by Reason (2009), are organizational culture or policy factors on campus, a student's peer environment, and their experiences with faculty. Transfer students must adapt to a new environment, new professors, and policies and procedures when transferring to a 4-year college or university. This change can cause

anxiety, which researchers have connected to students' predisposition to drop out of school (Lufi et al., 2003; Pappas & Loring, 1986). Perhaps one of the most important facilitators of student persistence is student involvement on campus (Astin, 1984; Kuh, 2001; Wolf-Wendel et al., 2009). Astin (1984) defined student involvement as the mental, physical, quality time and effort students extend towards academic and social experience. Since many transfer students from community colleges are used to taking classes and leaving campus, it is difficult for them to form a sense of community. Research has shown that the more students are involved and integrated into college life, they can persist in their studies (Astin, 1993; Lufi et al., 2003; Ory & Braskamp, 1988; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991).

Transfer Student Retention

The responsibilities of academia and outside life for transfer students play into their ability to stay in school and be successful. NCES (2019) reports that the institution being researched, James University, reported having 16,120 full-time undergraduate students in Fall 2018. The statistics for this institution show that 2,025 of those students were transfer students. The school has relationships with several community colleges in the area, so obtaining statistics of the number of students that transfer to James University from these 2-year schools will need to be investigated. This will assist with a clear picture of how many of the 2,025 were community college or lateral transfer students. The school shows an average of 72% of overall graduation rates, but that rate was not broken down to compare students already attending classes at the school and students that transferred. Transfer student persistence is a topic that many researchers have studied and explain the phenomenon as the ability of students to graduate from a program (Lufi et al.,

2003). The authors share, it seems that a large number of these studies were aimed at predicting academic persistence in order to reduce the dropout rate from school, college, or a university. Research has shown that students who are socially disadvantaged, academically less prepared, and who experience a lack of resources and support are less likely to stay in school (Astin, 1993; Braxton, 2000; Oseguera & Rhee, 2009). Harper (2010) argues that despite knowing what complicates and undermines achievement, these disadvantaged students still manage to navigate their way through college successfully.

First-Generation College Students

Although there are many definitions of first-generation college students (FGCS), some researchers describe this population as students with parents who never attended a university at all. In contrast, others define first-generation college students as those with parents with "some" college experience but never graduated (Blackwell & Pinder, 2014). It is essential for institutions of learning to note that there is a growing demographic diversity of the undergraduate student body (Pascarella et al., 2004). These diverse demographics include enrollment trends amongst students based on race, ethnicity, and gender. First-generation college students (FGCS) come from low-income backgrounds and identify as students of color. These students display different persistence and degree attainment patterns than continuing-generation college students and their White counterparts (Cataldi et al., 2018). Using results from the National Center for Education Statistics, Cataldi et al. (2018) point out that in 2003-04, 23% of students entering the nation's four-year institutions and 42% of students starting at two-year colleges were first-generation students (p. 9). Ishitani (2006) explains that certain groups of individuals are less likely to attend and graduate from American institutions of higher education. One

of these groups of students the author addresses is first-generation students in which he explains are students whose parents never attended college. Researchers have found that a higher level of socioeconomic status positively affects academic and social integration and ultimately influenced one's enrollment decision (Chapman & Pascarella, 1983; Ishitani, 2006). Terenzini et al. (1996) state that first-generation students are less likely than traditional students to have experiences connected to success and persistence in college. Although admission rates are increasing, underrepresented students are more likely to leave school than their majority counterparts (Franke et al., 2011; Loeb & Hurd, 2019). Loeb & Hurd (2019) also explain that 50% of first-generation students enrolled in college obtain a bachelor's degree in 6 years compared to continuing generation and White students.

According to research, many colleges and universities seek to mitigate socialclass disparities by offering programs to help first-generation students transition into higher education (Engle et al., 2006). Since first-generation students often do not have families that understand their college experiences, they lack the knowledge needed when transitioning from one school to another. Stephens et al. (2014) share that many institutions offer programs to assist first-generation students with financial resources or academic skills. However, these resources do not guarantee success for first-generation students.

There appears to have been a disconnect for many years between schools offering support to first-generation non-traditional transfer students and retention. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (2015), there are several characteristics a student can have, which would identify them as non-traditional students. These

characteristics are being independent for financial aid purposes, being a single caregiver, not having a traditional high school diploma, delaying postsecondary enrollment, attending school part-time, and working full time. Research shows that only 56% of firstgeneration students have earned a credential or were still enrolled 6 years after initially entering college (Cataldi et al., 2018; Radunzel, 2018). This percentage rate goes down if the student is a first-generation transfer student. Either these students are completing their programs several years after their prospective graduation dates or not graduating. These students need support and guidance, which research has shown that the impact of family involvement can help or hinder these students.

Parental Involvement

Numerous researchers have documented the impact that parental involvement and parental levels of education and income have on students' postsecondary enrollment (Mitchall & Jaeger, 2018). While parent support and participation have been shown to have positive benefits for students who attend college, parents of first-generation college students do not have adequate time or knowledge to provide support (Hurtado & Carter, 1997; Williams and Ferrari, 2015). Parental involvement and support from their family are important to the overall success of first-generation college students (Engle et al., 2006; Horn and Nunez, 2000; Vega & Moore, 2012). As the first in their families to attend college, many of these students do not receive help from their parents or other family members regarding pursuing higher education because of their lack of knowledge and understanding about college. As these students navigate the transition to college and work to integrate into college and adapt to the college culture, the degree to which these

families are engaged in their children's education might vary significantly (Wang & Nuru, 2017).

Due to parents lacking familiarity with higher education and not graduating from college, they may not be able to advise their first-generation students regarding how they can navigate the college process (Wang & Nuru, 2017). The first-generation student population is diverse, but researchers have found they face more significant challenges than continuing generation students. Researchers have found three explanations that have attributed to these challenges. First, family members may not be able to provide advice about what to expect and how to succeed in college. Secondly, because of family responsibilities, first-generation students spend more time off-campus, making integration into the college environment more challenging. Third, these students may not feel at home in the college culture, which can cause them to straddle home and college cultures (McKay & Estrella, 2008; Orbe, 2008; Wang & Nuru, 2017; York-Anderson & Bowman, 1991).

For some first-generation students, parents' doubts about college can decrease the likelihood that they will persist to graduation (Wang & Nuru, 2017). Since family involvement can vary, researchers have found that more family involvement could serve as an important influence on the success of first-generation students (Palbusa & Gauvain, 2017). It has been documented that having in-person interactions and support from family members can be very influential on the academic success of a first-generation student (Dennis et al., 2005). Some first-generation students have parents who encourage their children to pursue both family and educational goals by encouraging them to remain close to their family roots (McKay & Estrella, 2008). Researchers have shown that family

involvement could influence the success of first-generation college students (Azmitia et al., 2013, Palbusa & Gauvain, 2017). Parental involvement is vital to the experiences of FGCS, but college readiness is also an essential factor of their college experiences.

College Readiness

First-generation college students tend to be less prepared academically for higher education than non-first-generation college students. Due to a variety of challenges and barriers, FGCS more often exhibit lower levels of college readiness and reduced rates of college enrollment and retention than their non-FG peers (Havlik et al., 2020). Examples of barriers include a lack of study and time management skills, remedial courses, limited academic and social support, and have low self-confidence in their academic abilities (Havlik et al., 2020; Reid & Moore, 2008). As a whole, FGCS tend to come from lowerincome families and attended lower-resourced K-12 schools, which in turn increases their need for more significant financial and academic assistance while attending college (Havlik et al., 2020; Ishitani, 2016). While there is a growing number of first-generation students enrolled in U.S. colleges, the number of first-generation students earning a bachelor's degree is declining: Between 1999-2000 and 2011-2012, the proportion decreased from 37 percent to 33 percent (Minicozzi & Roda, 2020).

Literature that examines differences in academic preparedness between firstgeneration and traditional students focuses on factors such as standardized test scores, grade point averages, and type of course work completed in high school (Atherton, 2014; Lee et al., 2004). College readiness is defined as the level of preparation required to be successful in college without the need for remedial coursework (Baker et al., 2005; Schademan & Thompson, 2016). Researchers argued that the differential college

preparedness of advantaged and disadvantaged young people is the major determinant of differences in educational attainment (Bowen et al., 2005). However, it has been demonstrated that even when differences in academic preparation are taken into consideration, first-generation students are still at an increased risk of failure (Engle & Tinto, 2008; Schademan & Thompson, 2016). Reid & Moore (2008) found the value of relationships first-generation students had with their teachers, counselors, and administrators attributed to their decisions to attend college.

First-Generation Students and Academic Advisor Support

Academic advising has consistently been reported as a positive influence on student retention (Habley & McClanahan, 2004). Academic advisors are among the few individuals at the institution with whom students can obtain access and make a connection (Swecker et al., 2013). Academic advising involves a student and an academic advisor establishing a relationship to facilitate decision making, resource identification, problem-solving, and goal setting in the advisee's personal, professional, and academic endeavors (Swecker et al., 2013). For first-generation students, they may not have individuals in their lives (e.g., family) who can directly relate to taxing experiences, because of this, they may not share their college-specific troubles (Glassgen et al., 2018; Jenkins et al., 2013).

Researchers have found that although they might gain increased cultural capital from interactions with faculty members and staff, many first-generation students do not readily pursue those interactions (Glassgen et al., 2018; Ward et al., 2012). Feelings of isolation and being alone may persist for these students because of their lack of interacting with college staff (Glassgen et al., 2018). This lack of interaction can cause a

first-generation student to struggle and lead to the student not completing their degree. Academic advising offers an effective retention strategy for individuals considered at most risk for dropping out, including first-generation students (Swecker et al., 2013). In recent decades, researchers, campus practitioners, and faculty have attempted to improve student experiences in college, focusing on student learning outcomes and student peer and faculty support, increasing advising and academic support, and tutoring in the interest of helping students better adjust to college demands (Carter et al., 2013).

Many colleges and universities struggle to retain and graduate first-generation students. Retention has become a challenge for many institutions of higher education (Green & Wright, 2017). Academic advisors assist colleges with retaining students because they are experienced with providing support to students. Appropriate support and tools are needed for students to navigate through their college and university programming successfully. Therefore, culturally responsive teaching and practices are needed, which will place focus on collective and individual empowerment (Green, 2010; Green & Wright 2017; Lane, 2006).

Researchers have recommended that advisors use proactive advising with at-risk students because it places the responsibility on the advisor to make initial contact and establishing a relationship with the student (Glennen & Baxley, 1985; Schwebel et al., 2008; Swecker et al., 2013). The argument for this type of advising is that it allows the high involvement of the advisor, which can assist with the success rate of a first-generation student (Kirk-Kuwaye & Nishida, 2001; Swecker et al., 2013). Although being a first-generation student in college can be challenging when coupled with being an African American woman in higher education, the experiences of these students are not

readily detailed. According to Johnson-Bailey (1999), African American women's position in research is the source of their invisibility.

African American Women in Higher Education

Black students' enrollment in higher education institutions has increased over the past decades, but Black students still have the lowest retention and graduation rates among their counterparts (Guiffeida & Douthit, 2010; Hall, 2017; Harper, 2013). From 2000-2018, the enrollment rate for Black students increased by 6% (31%-37%) and 6% (35%-41%) for Black women (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020). Because of this information, it is recognized that Black women are attending college. Strayhorn (2017) indicated that undergraduate racial/ethnic minorities increasingly represent a portion of undergraduate students enrolled in public universities. The author explains that of the 21 million full-time and part-time undergraduate students that attend higher education institutions, Black students make up 2 million of those students (Strayhorn, 2017).

In recent years, research and programs have been designed to support Black men in college, such as President Obama's "My Brother's Keeper" program. This initiative was created as a gender-focused program to address the crisis facing males of color. This is support needed for Black men, but it also increases the neglect of Black women. Winkle-Wagner (2015) argues the college success of Black women remains underexplored due to research examining students of color as a group at the aggregate level (i.e., students of color encompass men, women, and multiple racial/ethnic subgroups). Furthermore, the NCES indicates that in 2015-16, 64% of Black women earned a bachelor's degree; however, Patton et al. (2015) argue that Black women

historically and currently maintain a presence in the academy, but their experiences linger primarily invisible and unacknowledged. This insinuates a subtle yet direct link between their representation and engagement on campus (Patton et al., 2015, p. 59). Patton & Haynes (2018) argue that few institutional leaders (e.g., presidents, provosts, chancellors, boards of trustees, deans) understand how, why, and the extent to which minoritized peoples are affected by multiple and overlapping forms of oppression. Harper (2013) explains that minoritized peers often seek out and take responsibility for new or younger peers to help socialize them to racial realities on campus. This allows for minoritized students to avoid feeling lonely while also preparing them for future encounters of microaggressions on campus.

Researchers have found that if institutions commit to attracting African American students, faculty, and staff, this can reduce feelings of marginalization among African American women (Zamani, 2003). Other forms of support suggested by researchers are developing and maintaining programs and policies that focus on African American women's concerns and needs on campus. Also, augment curriculum and classroom experiences to be more inclusive of African American women (Zamani, 2003). Discussing imposter syndrome/phenomenon can show some of the struggles an African American woman in higher education can face.

Imposter Phenomenon/Syndrome

Clance and Imes (1978) utilized the term Imposter Phenomenon to describe the traits and behaviors of a group of high-achieving women who were struggling to internalize their success (Parkman, 2016). Although initially a discussion about these high achieving women, Imposter Phenomenon has been researched in relation to higher

education. Increased competition for students and declining state appropriations by the federal government have left colleges trying to keep up with demands from students and parents (Barnshaw & Dunietz, 2015; Parkman, 2016). The Imposter Phenomenon has the potential to negatively impact an organization's ability to retain students, faculty, and staff. Understanding this phenomenon can help identify those at risk for leaving (Parkman, 2016). Finding ways to connect students from the poor and working classes with peers, administrators, and faculty members from similar backgrounds can reduce imposter syndrome and increase a sense of belonging and engagement (Ardoin, 2020, p. 322). Impostorism, at its root, is about an inability to accurately self-assess regarding performance (Kets de Vries, 2005; Parkman, 2016; Want & Kleitman, 2006). Rooted in the ideology of privilege, imposter syndrome ignites a sense of otherness. Some marginalized groups are aware of how they are othered, and this awareness influences how they navigate spaces (Edwards, 2019).

African American Women at Predominately White Institutions

Many studies have been conducted on the experiences of African American students at PWI's (Solorzano et al., 2000; Strayhorn, 2008a). Campus racial climate, or the campus community's attitudes, perceptions, behaviors, and expectations around issues of race, ethnicity, and diversity, is a topic of ongoing concern for students of color in higher education settings (Hurtado et al., 2008; Thelamour et al., 2019). Students of color are forced to think about and speak on behalf of their race, and white students remain unconscious of their racial identity and privileges (Harris & Linder, 2018; King & Howard-Hamilton, 2003). Research has shown that colleges and universities, as microcosms of the larger sociopolitical context, can reflect the hostility demonstrated in

recent national events (George Mwangi et al., 2017; Thelmour et al., 2019). Because of these events, it is reasonable that students of color might feel more marginalized from their campus communities (Thelmour et al., 2019). Although there is research on the influence of peers on college student outcomes, specifically minoritized students, which shows a positive effect on learning, developmental change, and persistence among same-race peers, literature is lacking (Astin, 1993; Bensimon, 2007, Harper, 2013; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005).

Experiencing hypervisibility and invisibility simultaneously can lead to stressrelated physical and mental health concerns (Clark et al., 1999; Szymanski & Lewis, 2016). This is often Black women's experience at historically White colleges and universities (Kelly et al., 2019b). Black women students' issues of racism and sexism have become hypervisible with widespread media attention because of movements of activism in society and on college campuses (George Mwangi et al., 2018). At the same time, this coverage renders the founders of each of these movements, Black women, invisible because credit for the movements has been given to White women and placed focus on the death of Black men (Chan, 2019). African American student activism, campus unrest, and broader progressive social movements highlight how higher education systematically reproduces society's racial hierarchies (Allen et al., 2018). The erasure of Black women's voices while using their labor is not new (Kelly et al., 2019b; Linder & Rodriguez, 2012). In a study conducted by Kelly et al. (2019b), Black women used emotional energy to combat perceived inferiority, and these women performed roles counter to the "angry Black woman" and masked this anger by being the "independent Black woman" in class who did not need any help from professors or peers. The

emotional energy Black women students expend trying to manage how White faculty and peers experienced them negatively impacts their success in academic majors (Kelly et al., 2019b). Collins (2009) formulates a theory about elite groups of people that hold tools of power within their ability to state what society values and how ideas of Black women can be manipulated. These elite groups of people use existing symbols in addition to creating new ones when needed to make poverty, sexism, racism, and other forms of injustice appear as normal parts of life (Walkington, 2017).

Tinto (1993) argues that colleges are comprised of both academic and social systems, each with its own characteristics of formal and informal structures and set of faculty, student communities, and staff. The student's ability to integrate into these systems can influence their decision to stay or leave college. Despite Tinto's research, PWIs are failing to meet their promises in delivering diversity on campus, ensuring that minority students' voices are heard, and ensuring that adequate support is available to help them succeed (Chen & Hamilton, 2015; Eakins et al., 2017). Black feminist thought stresses that African American women show strength and use knowledge as a mechanism for change (Collins, 2009). This change can take place with support for African American women through their professors. In the next section, the importance of faculty and student engagement will be discussed.

Faculty-Student Engagement

A student's relationship with faculty is an essential aspect of their academic sense of belonging as an African American student at a PWI. If faculty are operating based on negative stereotypes in the classroom, whether consciously or not, minority students may feel uncomfortable, mistrustful, or demoralized (Davis et al., 2004). Accessibility and

support from faculty members are essential to a student's success. Contact between African American students and faculty help predict subsequent college persistence (Strayhorn, 2008b). Research indicates that faculty/student relationships affect student satisfaction with college academic achievement and retention (Astin 1984; Guiffrida 2005). However, further research shows that African American students at predominately White institutions (PWIs) may not receive the same benefits associated with relationships with faculty (Guiffrida, 2005). It has been concluded that Black students attending PWIs had less contact with faculty outside the classroom, and because of this, they are less likely to integrate into campus life than White students (Guiffrida, 2005; Nettles, 1991).

There is a lack of African American women faculty and student affairs personnel working in higher education institutions, which also impacts Black female college students (Bartman, 2015). Research shows that Black women held 3 percent or 45,000 of the 1.5 million faculty positions in degree-granting postsecondary institutions (U.S. Department of Education & National Center for Education, 2018). When Black women search for role models and mentors in their college environment, they start to look outside their cultural group because of the lack of Black faculty members. In a qualitative study, researchers found that participants recognized that self-confidence in their success as students were related to their relationship with their Black mentors (Louis et al., 2014). As previously discussed, The NCES indicates that in 2015-16, 64% of Black women earned a bachelor's degree. However, there still is not enough Black faculty or student support staff to mentor these students towards being successful.

If given the opportunity, Black women can provide a "richness and depth to many areas in higher education" (Carroll, 1982, p. 125). As long as higher education

institutions lack Black faculty, Black women will continue to have difficulties. Landsman & Lewis (2006) argue that Black students commonly face pressures that students who do not share the educators' racial and cultural background do not. This is further supported by researchers who have found that Black students who attend PWIs experience difficulty developing relationships with White faculty. Students of color were more likely to seek academic help from family, friends, or academic counselors who are minorities than White faculty (Braddock, 1981; Guiffrida, 2005). The need for a greater number of African American faculty at PWIs is significant for the academic sense of belonging of African American students (Loo & Rolison, 1986; Strayhorn, 2008b). These students can find meaningful relationships and support when they seek to be involved on campus. This involvement can be through clubs, sororities, or finding support through their institution.

Campus Involvement

Social support systems such as student organizations are generally used to facilitate the adjustment, retention, and progress of African American students (D'Augelli & Hershberger, 1993; Williamson, 1999). Being involved in student clubs and organizations is associated with academic achievement and persistence (Guiffrida, 2004). Many African American students experience feeling isolated or alienated when they attend a PWI. Thus, African American students began creating their own social networks to cope with segregation from the larger college community. These student organizations were formed to create solidarity and unity among African American students and other people of African descent, expressing positive aspects of African American history, culture and advocating for change in the colleges or universities on which they were located (Williamson, 1999). In a study conducted by Fisher & Hartmann (1995)

regarding the impact of race on African American students' social experiences at a PWI, some African American students found it important to stay together. The students in this study reported that staying together gave them a sense of security and helped them maintain their racial and ethnic identity.

When Black students become engaged in African American organizations, they have an easier time being socially integrated at PWIs (Guiffrida, 2003). For students of color who may struggle emotionally and socially at PWIs, membership in multicultural student organizations (MSOs) offers students the opportunity to develop a strong sense of identity, connect culturally with other students, and contribute to campus life (Gloria et al., 2005; McCoy, 2014; Museus, 2008). Research has shown that some colleges offer deficit-remediation programs that are available to help address barriers such as feelings of isolation, lack of resources, or stereotyping students of color deal with (Banks & Dohy, 2019; Dulabaum, 2016). The authors explain that deficit-remediation programs seek to create feelings of belonging by addressing the student's needs or perceived deficits. It is important to recognize the concept of anti-deficit achievement is to place focus on the positive aspects of a student and their success at their college. The literature review on first-generation college students and African American women's academic and social experiences who transfer to a PWI addresses academic preparation, campus involvement, and student support. It is also essential to discuss the persistence and responsibility of institutions to work on these students' retention.

Retention of African American Women at PWIs

Retention of Black students at predominately White institutions (PWIs) is often studied. However, very few researchers examine what helped retain Black women

undergraduate students from PWIs (Kelly et al., 2019a). Information about the experiences of Black women obtaining an education at a PWI is limited because a majority of the research is focused on the experiences of Black men (Kelly et al., 2019a; Stewart, 2017). Stewart (2017) argues that inquiry into Black men's experiences is valuable to higher education research and practice; it is equally valuable to understand Black women college students. Black students attending PWIs report increased psychological stress and difficulty adjusting socially (Donovan & Guillory, 2017; Miller, 2017; Strayhorn & Saddler, 2008). Researchers share that this stress can be more acute for Black women because of the marginalized identities they have (Allen & Joseph, 2018; Miller, 2017; Winkle-Wagner, 2015). Rosales & Pearson (2003) found that Black women students at PWIs reported dealing with racism, oppression, and negative perceptions from peers, faculty, and staff. Black women students often feel invisible or isolated at their institutions, and when they are visible, they believed others did not perceive them as valuable members of the academic community (Stewart, 2017).

Given their multiple intersecting identities, Black women undergraduate students have unique experiences at PWIs (Allen & Joseph, 2018; Miller, 2017). Black women's marginalization and isolation at PWIs affect their sense of belonging and ability to complete college (Donovan & Guillory, 2017). This is a student population that needs institutional support but often does not get that support. Despite the ongoing research on the negative experience of Black women attending PWIs, they are still a neglected population (Shaw, 2017). Black women as students are looked at as being strong or independent. However, research shows this ideology is causing institutions to ignore these students, which relieves their responsibility to the student (Patton et al., 2017). One

of the strongest impacts on student validation and retention is their relationships with faculty. Faculty, parents, classmates, and partners substantially affect student involvement and retention both in and outside the classroom setting (Hurtado et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2019a). Students of color have a more challenging time adjusting to the campus environment, are less engaged, and less likely to persist through college when professors do not consider the unique differences in their students' learning styles and cultural heritage (Holmes et al., 2000). Faculty attention to their students is vital to retaining African American female students at a PWI, but institutional support can also assist with their retention.

Institutional Support for African American Women

Universities and student affairs professionals can counter how "the dominant representations of people of color build upon and elaborate ideas, images, and stereotypes that are deeply rooted in American history and become the rationale for the differential treatment of groups and individuals" (Dill & Zambrana, 2009, p. 10). Such commitment to dismantle this power through privileging the lived experiences of African American women can create a welcoming campus climate (Bailey-Fakhoury & Frierson, 2014; Constantine & Watt, 2002). Addressing race and gender discrimination within the academy requires structural solutions (e.g., institutional change, sound faculty administrations, and a new area of civil rights legal action) (Benishek et al., 2004). As higher educational institutions work to increase equity in services for all students, some critics maintain that inequity of services and support is more prevalent for African American female transfers from community colleges. These students need support from faculty, academic support staff such as advisors, and access to academic achievement. An

American success unseen in virtually any other nation is the ability to provide access for both traditional and non-traditional students at all academic achievement levels (Harris, 2013).

Black Feminism, Anti-Deficit Achievement, and PWIs

The literature discussed about first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution show deficits impact these students. African American women encounter race and gender bias, isolation, invisibility, along with subtle and overt forms of racism (Evans, 2007; Thomas & Hollenshead, 2001). Using the lens of Black feminist thought, Collins (2009) argues that Black women are inherently valuable. Although these students face negative stereotypes on their PWI campus, they are still thriving. The NCES indicates that in 2015-16, 64% of Black women earned a bachelor's degree; however, Patton et al. (2015) argue that Black women historically and currently maintain a presence in the academy, but their experiences linger primarily invisible and unacknowledged. This insinuates a subtle yet direct link between their representation and engagement on campus (Patton et al., 2015, p. 59). When viewing these women through the Anti-Deficit Achievement lens, Harper (2010) argues this framework should deliberately attempt to discover how some students of color have succeeded. The author shares most empirical studies amplify minority student failure and deficits instead of achievement (p. 64).

Black women on a PWI campus are viewed as a population that does not need much support because of their success in college. However, when students are engaged, involved, and feel appreciated on their campus, they are more likely to be retained (Furr, 2002). While it is imperative for Black students to feel welcomed on their campus, this is

not always the case for Black women. Many topics concerning Black women attending a PWI have been started to focus on their feelings of not belonging, loneliness, being attacked by racial microaggressions, all while being academically successful (Arminio et al., 2000; Charleston et al., 2014; Hotchkins, 2017; Muses et al., 2008; Robinson-Wood, 2009; Sue, 2010). The amount of literature that focuses on Black women in higher education trails behind other topics and given that there is nearly three-fourths of Black women attending higher educational institutions (Allen et al., 1991), it is vital to make sure that we review the literature on their experiences, especially Black women attending PWIs. Chavous & Cogburn (2007) indicate that Black female undergraduates occupy dual spaces that identify them as at-risk and resilient. The idea of these women being resilient is commendable. However, it is also an indication that further research needs to be conducted to understand why these students need to be resilient and determine what university administrators can do to remove the barriers these students face. If we focus solely on their resilience, the entire story of the spaces they occupy is not considered (Zamani, 2003).

Summary

This chapter discussed transfer students, their characteristics, challenges, and general reasons for transferring from a two-year institution to a four-year institution. The experiences, challenges, backgrounds, and characteristics of first-generation college students (FGCS) were also discussed. Additionally, literature was reviewed on the experiences, persistence, retention, and challenges for Black women in higher education, specifically while attending predominately White institutions (PWIs). Historically African American students are treated unequally, experience racism, and are faced with

negative stereotypes. These stereotypes, as discussed in this chapter, are focused on Black women and their societal experiences. Black women are often perceived as these negative stereotypes that other students on their college campus may believe. These stereotypes often make these women look unapproachable or look like strong people who do not need help, guidance, or support from their peers, faculty, or college/university they attend.

Research has shown that African American women's experiences have been hidden by research conducted on African Americans, African American men, or Euro-American women. Johnson-Bailey (1999) argues that African American women's position in research is the source of their invisibility. Although the experiences of firstgeneration, transfer and Black undergraduate women have been studied, very little research has been done on the intersectionality of all three of these populations. This study is focused on all three of the individual populations as one student population and the influence of Black feminist thought and using Anti-deficit achievement to discuss the success and not the failures of these women.

Chapter 3 Methodology

This narrative study examined the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution (PWI). This research study looked at how these women transitioned at a PWI and ultimately became successful. Research shows that the number of African American women in higher education institutions has increased over the past decade (Allen, 1992). While enrollment for this population of students is increasing, research shows that many predominately White institutions fail to understand the challenges these women encounter and often neglect having supportive programs available for them (Rosales & Person, 2003). As a researcher, it is vital for me to represent my participants and honor their voices. Tillman (2002) discusses the importance of being culturally sensitive when focusing on African Americans as participants in research. Cultural sensitivity is the researcher's understanding and approach to learning about participants' lifestyles, beliefs, habits, needs, and fears (Sieber, 1992). It was important for me to share the experiences, voices, and perspectives of my participants.

Research Questions

This qualitative narrative study was conducted to understand the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a PWI. There are three questions that will guide this research. The questions are:

 How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining a postsecondary education?

- 2. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?
- 3. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?

Research Design

Narrative Inquiry

A narrative design approach was used to learn about the experiences of the participants. According to Riessman (2008), a narrative inquiry is designed for the humanities and enables the researcher to study individuals' lives through stories. Narrative inquiry is increasingly used in studies of educational experience. The general notion of narrative inquiry is the human experience in the world, which translates into the view that education is the construction and reconstruction of personal and social stories (Connelly and Clandinin, 1990). The view of experience to which Connelly and Clandinin refer, which is the cornerstone of research, is rooted in John Dewey's (1938) pragmatic philosophy (Clandinin, 2006). Based on Dewey's views, Clandinin and Connelly (2000) developed a narrative view of experience. The researchers were able to do this by drawing on Dewey's first criterion, interaction; the authors wrote, "People are individuals and need to be understood as such, but people cannot be understood only as individuals. People are always in relation, always in a social context." (p. 2). The authors drew on Dewey's second criterion, continuity, as they wrote, experiences grow out of other experiences, and experiences lead to other experiences (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Clandinin, 2006).

For the purpose of this study, narrative inquiry was appropriate to use because it created a better understanding of the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. Narrative inquiry is a literary form of qualitative research that places a special emphasis on writing (Creswell, 2008). So narrative inquiry is concerned with analyzing and criticizing the stories we tell, hear, and read in the course of work. It is also concerned with the myths that surround us and are embedded in our social interactions (Webster & Mertov, 2007, p. 7). Narrative is the type of discourse that draws together diverse events, happenings, and actions of human lives (Polkinghorne, 1995, p. 5). This type of inquiry was appropriate because this study investigated the experiences of this population of students. Through the use of Narrative inquiry supported by the conceptual frameworks of Black feminist thought and Anti-deficit Achievement, participants were able to share their experiences from their perspective. More specifically, with the support of Black feminist thought, firstgeneration African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution used our voices to push back against White male-dominated ideology of who we are as Black women (Collins, 2000).

Participants were co-researchers because narrative research is derived from participants' providing stories about their lives and experiences (Creswell, 2018). Using this approach, students should feel free to open up during the interview and allow for follow-up questions. This type of interview is used to encourage and stimulate the participant to tell the interviewer something about some important event in their life and the social context (Muylaert et al., 2014). Narrative research focuses on interviewing participants at some length to determine how they have personally experienced

oppression (Creswell, 2018, p. 59). It is essential to find themes throughout the different interviews (Creswell, 2018), which gave insight into how first-generation African American women who are transfer students feel about their experiences and challenges at James University. Narrative research employs restorying the participants' stories using structural devices, such as plot, setting, activities, climax, and denouement (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Creswell, 2013, p. 278).

Researcher's Role

My role in this study was that of an interviewer, observer, collector of data, and analyzer. The researcher serves as an instrument of data collection, which indicated the data must be interpreted through a human instrument rather than through questionnaires or a machine (Denzin & Lincoln, 2012). The researcher serves as the translator and studies things in their natural settings, attempting to make sense of or to interpret phenomena in terms of the meanings people bring to them (Denzin & Lincoln, 2012, p. 3). As the researcher, I was expected to remain aware of my biases because I related closely to my participants. I am a first-generation African American woman who transferred to a predominantly White institution. Each student's experience is different and unique to who we are. I was an adult student attending community college for the second time as a married woman and mother. The first time I attempted community college, my son was a toddler, and I was not prepared for the commitment it took to be a college student at that time. My second try at my local community college worked better for my family and me because my children were older and in school all day. I created a school schedule for myself that complemented my children's school schedules. I would

arrive home a little before they did, get them off the bus, and go home, and we would do homework together.

When I graduated from my community college, I was immersed in activities, honor societies, and student groups. I graduated with two Associates degrees and a 3.7 GPA. I transferred to a predominately White institution because my professor, who also taught at the school, encouraged me to look into the school and the school's programs. I met with an advisor and felt this was the school I was meant to attend. The academics and prestige of the school were appealing to me. I also earned a scholarship covering the two years I had left to earn my bachelor's degree. I commuted to my new school and would often arrive a couple of hours before my classes started. The culture on my campus was very uncomfortable for me in the beginning. I noticed longer than usual looks from White students, and I began to feel unwelcomed on the campus. A young White woman asked me if I was a graduate student or the teacher's assistant in one of my classes. Of course, this question in front of the whole class placed a spotlight on me, and when I answered no, most people stared at me, trying to figure me out, but no one was courageous enough to follow up on her question.

My mentor saved me; he was my rock during my time of adjustment on this new campus. I often tell people that I would have quit school if it were not for him talking to me and encouraging me. I found a community of other Black students closer to my age, and we built a support group. We encouraged each other, studied together, and most of us graduated together. I believe my experiences at the PWI were unique to me as an African American woman. These experiences allowed me to have an outsider within point of view. Collins (2000) explains that I am an outsider of the dominant group as an African

American woman, but I can occupy space because of my intellect. This space then allows me to gain insider knowledge. The author further explains that this outsider within status has provided a special standpoint on self, family, and society for Black women.

I was interested in interviewing other Black women and learning about their experiences and discussing what they are doing to succeed at their PWI because of my own experiences. It was crucial for me not to place my personal views or opinions on my participants. It was also important to acknowledge that my participants would likely share experiences of being the outsider within. Still, this role can provide insight and foster new angles of vision on oppression (Collins, 2000). As a researcher, I utilized strategies that improved the reliability and validity of qualitative findings (Creswell, 2018), which assisted me with being transparent during this process. The goal of research is to rely on participants' thoughts and views of the situation being studied (Creswell, 2008). Sharing the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution, allows for more insight from our standpoint.

Research Site

I conducted my research at James University, a mid-size, public research university located in a rural area on the East coast. The undergraduate and graduate enrollment at this PWI totals 19,678 with 15,963 undergraduate students, 2,466 graduate students, and 1,249 professional/medical students. James reports 33% of the student body are under-represented students, respectively. The university offers 90 bachelor's, 48 master's, 2 professional, and 8 doctoral degree programs (Fast Facts, 2020). About 34% of the total student population identifies as students of color with the current breakdown of 10% Black/African American, 9.7% Hispanic/Latino/a, 4.3% Asian, 2.7% two or more

races, 0.2% American Indian/Alaskan Native, 5.1% Race unknown (Forbes, 2017). The school's retention rate is 85%, with 48% of students graduating in 4 years and 69% of students graduate in 6 years. Also, 54% of the students are male, and 46% of the student population are female (Forbes, 2017). James University reports 27% of its student population is first-generation (Flying First, 2020). I conducted my research at James University because the school has a sizable number of first-generation African American women who have transferred to the university. This is because James has several partnerships with community colleges in the area, and they work to make the transfer process seamless. The university was also used for this study because 66% of the student population is White, making the school a predominantly White institution.

Participants

Students that are currently attending James University were contacted through student email. A description of qualifying attributes for participants was they must be first-generation, African American women, transfer students from a community college, with a 2.0 grade point average or higher. A definition of first-generation students was provided in the email so participants were able to decipher if they qualified to volunteer for my study. There are different definitions for the first-generation population. I used the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) description and an explanation provided by researchers Blackwell & Pinder, 2014. The National Center for Education Statistics is the primary federal entity for collecting, analyzing, and reporting data related to education in the United States and other nations (NCES, 1998). NCES defined firstgeneration students as undergraduates whose parents never enrolled in postsecondary education. Blackwell & Pinder (2014) also identified first-generation students as those

with parents who never attended a university or those with parents with "some" college experience but never graduated.

Sample

The sample size for this study was four first-generation African American women; transfer students currently enrolled at James University. Students were recruited using purposeful sampling based on them matching the characteristics of this study. This type of sampling technique was used to identify and select participants to obtain information-rich cases (Patton, 2002). To get information-rich cases, individuals or groups are identified and explicitly chosen for their knowledge about or experiences with a phenomenon of interest (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). There are several purposeful sampling strategies a researcher can use in qualitative research. This study utilized criterion sampling, allowing predetermined specific characteristics that all participants must share (Schreier, 2018). Criterion sampling allowed me to select participants based on a set criterion so data could be gathered. This data assisted with answering research questions.

This type of sampling was appropriate for my research because of my interest in the specific experiences of African American women at a predominately White institution. Students that identified as first-generation African American women who have transferred to James University were contacted. I contacted stakeholders in several student success departments at James University. A list of students that met the characteristics of my study was provided to me. Along with purposeful sampling, I collected data using two interviews. The first interview consisted of open-ended questions and the second interview was a semi-structured interview. Semi-structured

interviews are those in-depth interviews where the respondents are asked to answer preset questions. Open-ended interviews are conducted using questions that the interviewee should be able to give in-depth answers to. Interviewing has the value of investigating complex and sensitive issues (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

A description of the study and a definition of the term first-generation was emailed to students identified as first-generation African American women transfer students to James University. This helped to obtain students who met the attributes for this study. Some questions used during the interview helped identify characteristics such as asking how many semesters they attended James University, age range, and grade point average. Since students were pre-identified through a list provided by stakeholders, students received emails, and to decrease selection bias participants were randomly selected from the list. After students were selected for interviews, the next step entailed contacting them and setting up interviews. The interviews were conducted virtually and during a time that was convenient for the student. Participants were prepared to be interviewed for 1-2 hours with the understanding that the interview process could last longer. Conducting a virtual interview was done because of restrictions due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Rubin & Rubin (2016) explain that communicating with participants through the internet is helpful if people are unable or unwilling to talk publicly. These interviews are viewed as more private and give participants time to think about their answers (Rubin & Rubin, 2016). The student had the option to select a place they preferred that allowed for a quiet space to conduct an interview. Allowing the student to choose the area enabled the researcher to record through field notes information about the

environment. This also allowed me to understand the student and show the student's knowledge about James University as a college community.

Protocol for interviewing was used when meeting with participants. Jacob & Furgerson (2012) explain that an interview protocol is more than a list of questions; it helps with the procedural level of interviewing and includes a script of what to say before the interview, prompts, and reminders for what information is most important to the researcher. An interview design that focuses on the provocation of storytelling, of narration, can be called a narrative interview design (Wengraf, 2001). Part of the process of conducting a narrative interview is to ask a question, listen to the participant, and do not interrupt. The interviewee is encouraged to answer questions with necessary reassurances and prompts for more story (Wengraf, 2001). When I met with my participants, I introduced my study and an explanation of the purpose of the study. Students were asked to give verbal and written consent as a record to participate in the study. Since the interview was conducted virtually, the student was asked for permission to record our discussion. Participants were allowed to ask questions before the interview began to assist with understanding the process. The student was given the option to end the interview if they began to feel uncomfortable with questions that were asked.

Data Collection

This study utilized a narrative inquiry research method. Narrative inquiry involves the researcher retelling participants' life stories. There are four primary qualitative data collection types: observations, interviews, documents, and audiovisual materials (Creswell, 2008), with interviews being the most recommended method. Data collection included in-person interviews (Rossman & Rallis, 2012). My interview protocol

consisted of me using semi-structured and open-ended interviews. Using an interview protocol allowed me to create a script of what I wanted to say before, during, and at the conclusion of my interviews (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Two interview protocols were created to reflect both the semi-structured and open-ended interviews. A limited number of questions were prepared in advance, along with follow-up questions for my participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). These questions were created before initial contact with participants. A researcher's interview protocol is an instrument of inquiry-asking questions for specific information related to a particular topic (Patton, 2015). Follow-up questions were used to help clarify information that the participants provided. Rubin & Rubin (2016) suggest using main questions but also have additional follow-up and probing questions. This assisted me with going more in-depth with the participants about their experiences as first-generation transfer students at James University. Field notes and notes used from my researcher's journal have been used as part of the data collection process.

Narrative Analysis

Narrative analysis develops an in-depth perspective of participants' experiences concerning a particular phenomenon (Riessman, 2002). This type of analysis can help offer additional forums for non-dominant populations or cultures to express their perceptions. There are four narrative forms of analysis that researchers tend to use. These are structural, functional, thematic, and dialogic/performance. According to Parcell & Baker (2018), structural narrative analyses are conducted by examining particular characteristics of a story, and functional narrative analyses involve identifying the purposes of a given storytelling moment. The next narrative form of analysis is thematic

analyses that determine themes in a narrative, and what types of stories are told (e.g., stories of grief, master narratives, or counternarratives). The final narrative form of analysis is dialogic/performance which examines how, where, and to whom the story is told (p. 2). Each of these interpretations can be used separately or together during a research study. For the purpose of this study, using thematic narrative analysis was helpful. This type of analysis was an appropriate method for my research because it allowed me to explore the shared experiences of first-generation African American women attending a PWI.

Thematic narrative analysis allowed me to obtain information from participants and focus on the data's meaning. Parcell & Baker (2018) explain that the use of thematic narrative analysis helps a researcher to develop themes. These themes provide substance of narratives to look for across other stories and/or across cultures to describe similar life events. Using themes allowed me to recognize the differences in the experiences my participants have had. Also, through thematic narrative analysis, I was able to use this method for all forms of data collection. The use of thematic narrative analysis helped with my interviews and collecting data from journaling. Ravitch & Riggan (2012) argue journaling is an informal way to examine thoughts, questions, struggles, ideas, and experiences the researcher is learning during the process of research. I was able to document my thoughts about my research and reflect on what I had learned from my participants and their experiences. Maxwell (2013) further explains that journaling was another way to get my thoughts on paper and use my writing as a way to facilitate reflection and analytical insight.

Limitations

The limitations of this narrative inquiry study design was that it involved working with people's consciously told stories, recognizing that these rest on more profound stories of which people are often unaware (Bell, 2002). This study is a unique experience for first-generation African American women who transfer to James University, a mid-size, public research university located in a rural area on the East coast. This study's limitation is that while other studies may have common themes, those themes are not generalizable for different racial groups, men, or other types of college campuses. Meaning, if other researchers conduct this study, their findings may not show the same results if participants are from different racial groups, men, or are on campuses that are not predominately White. Also, this study may not be universal for students that transfer from one four-year school to another four-year school. This study looked at the experiences of first-generation African American women who transferred from a two-year school into a four-year school that is predominately White.

Another limitation was the COVID-19 pandemic that left colleges and universities providing online learning. The pandemic caused students to decide not to transfer to other schools or to take time off from schooling. The pandemic influenced the experiences of my participants. These experiences impacted the transfer process and the way the women were able to be engaged on campus. The majority of faculty and staff were tasked with working from home, which changed how schools welcomed new students to campus. James University typically offered on-campus events like orientations and tours. Since this could not be an option for new transfer students, it may have limited the number of students that transferred to the university. A lack of transfers could have limited my

participants or findings in this narrative inquiry study because of the uncertainty of being on campus.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical issues were considered during the research phase of this study. The researcher was transparent throughout the data collection process and offered to share conflicts of interest with participants. Before data collection began, I seeked approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The permission from the board assisted me with remaining ethical through the process of this study. The participants were given a consent form for interviews that I conducted via Zoom. Since participants were interviewed virtually, they were asked for their consent via email. All participants were aware their participation in this study was voluntary, and if they wanted to discontinue or stop the interview at any point, they could let me know. Multiple data sources were used to increase the reliability of the data collection process (Creswell, 2008).

It was essential to provide these students with confidentiality throughout this process. Confidentiality means that I may know the participants, but their identity would not be revealed in any way in my study (Polonsky & Waller, 2018). Since I am employed at the institution, my study was conducted at; I was conscientious of conflicts of interest. I was responsible for identifying myself as a researcher and an employee of the university. Also, to make sure my study remained ethical, I did not interview participants directly associated with the major or department I work with. Since I did not interview participants connected to my department, it helped avoid bias and keep my participants from feeling like they should answer my questions according to what they thought I may have wanted to hear. Since my role at this university is not one of leadership, my findings

will not negatively impact the university. This study can assist with making changes and providing more support for this population of students.

Quality and Trustworthiness

To maintain credibility and trustworthiness, participants were not made to feel forced to participate in this study. Creswell & Creswell (2018) explain that participation in a study should be seen as voluntary. The authors also share that a researcher should respect norms and anticipate any cultural, gender, or religious differences. Knowing these differences will allow the researcher to maintain consistency during researching, interviewing, collecting, and analyzing data. It was essential to keep the credibility of this research in mind. This was done through the handling of data and the way the participants were treated. As a researcher, bias can cause an issue, so remaining ethical through this research was of the utmost importance to me. Evaluating the quality of research is necessary if findings are to be utilized in practice (Noble & Smith, 2015, p. 34). The authors argue that the quality of how research is conducted is essential because it helps avoid bias.

Conclusion

The methodology of this study has been described throughout Chapter 3. This chapter provided an overview of the research design, research site, participants, data collection, and Narrative Analysis. The research design consisted of two interviews one that used semi-structured questions and the other utilizing open-ended questions. The study was conducted with students from James University, a mid-size, public research university located in a rural area on the East coast of the United States. The participants consisted of four first-generation African American women who transferred to James

University, a predominately White institution. With the permission of the participants, the interviews were recorded. The semi-structured and open-ended interviews were conducted via Zoom virtual conference. The data findings will be discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4

Findings

My study focused on understanding the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. Research has shown the college success of African American women remains underexplored due to trends in research of examining students of color as a group that encompasses men, women, and multiple racial/ethnic subgroups (Winkle-Wagner, 2015). Black women historically maintain a presence in higher education, but their experiences often are invisible or go unacknowledged. In this chapter, I present the findings from this study about four successful African American women. This chapter represents the narrative of these four women willing to share their experiences. The narratives were written by the researcher with the intent to maintain the integrity of the participants. Each interview was transcribed verbatim to assist with data analysis. A quote taken from the participants' narrative is used as part of their introduction, and pseudonym names were given to each woman. Each participant is introduced using their profile information gained from interviews. The names of university employees that participants mentioned were changed to help protect my participant's privacy.

In addition to sharing the narratives of these participants and the significant findings of this study, this chapter included detailed information regarding participant responses obtained from a two-part interview. The first interview consisted of demographic information and open-ended questions. The second part of the interview consisted of asking semi-structured questions. The women all shared their experiences as new students transferring to James University. Some had very similar experiences that

were not ideal for new students attending the university. Once they transferred to James, the women shared their experiences in the classroom and on campus with faculty, professional staff, and peers. The women are consistently working towards reaching their goals and being successful, so they have shared how they measure their success and feel fulfilled as Black students attending the university.

This chapter presents background information, and the stories told, retold, and relived of Charmaine, Ayanna, Alice, and Jean. The lived experiences of the African American women participants are discussed, focusing on their experiences of transferring to a predominately White institution. Through their experiences, they shared interactions with faculty, staff, and peers. The participants also discussed their awareness of negative stereotypes and the importance of education while being aware of White peer work ethic. Also discussed are negative experiences with communication issues on campus, exposure to positive institutional agents, the participants' measure of success, and how they navigated being students during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Table 1

Participants

Name (Pseudonym)	Age	Year	GPA	Major
Charmaine	28	Senior	3.9	Elementary Education
Ayanna	28	Senior	3.3	English/Education
Alice	24	Junior	2.6	Liberal Studies
Jean	30	Junior	3.5	Liberal Studies

Charmaine

"The importance of an education, I think for a Black woman is equivalent to power."

Charmaine is a 28-year-old African American woman who transferred to James University from a local community college. She had a previous career in healthcare but realized she would not be able to excel in the profession. This realization was not due to a lack of confidence but because she had watched other people earn promotions before her that did not have the same caliber of work ethic she had. Charmaine decided to attend college again to assist her with pursuing a new career. She went to her community college to take classes needed for her new major. She applied to James University and was accepted into the College of Education. Charmaine is an Elementary Education major at James University, and at the time of this interview, she had a 3.9 grade point average (GPA). Although she is currently a senior, she will need to student teach to earn her degree. To student teach, which is a three-semester sequence, Charmaine will need to pass Praxis Core Praxis II and maintain a 3.0 GPA or higher each semester she student teaches. Charmaine knows this is a lot to stay on top of, but she is determined to conquer these requirements.

When I first met Charmaine, we discussed her previous career. She shared that she had a good job working in a pharmacy, but she did not feel like the job was for her. She did not feel fulfilled in her role at the pharmacy, so she knew she needed to make a change.

The medical field, I guess, kind of, there's a lot of things that went against, like my morals, my values, beliefs, and um, it's almost like dehumanizing, and I was like, what else am I good at? I try to be an honest person, and I just didn't feel that's what that work was for me. I've been caring for kids since like the beginning time, and I still had family that I was babysitting and nannying for. So, I was like, let me look into education. I wasn't happy with what I was doing, and I was doing it for like five years, and I'm like, it wasn't enough. Am I going to have to do this the rest of my life? I did not feel content after five years so, it was time to go back to school and keep reinventing myself.

Charmaine's decision to attend James University was led by her experiences in health care and her work with children. This led us into a conversation about Charmaine's transfer process. She was hesitant to discuss it at first. Charmaine described a challenging transfer experience that was difficult for her to talk about. She had to stop a few times to compose herself, but she eventually broke down in tears. She cried, vented, and explained her frustration with the transfer process by sharing,

I just felt it wasn't a welcoming, and it was a, it wasn't like, welcome to James University. Usually, I can give grace in situations, but I don't want to give back grace. I can give maybe 50% of this to the pandemic. And then being overwhelmed and dealing with a lot of new students, or a lot of transfers and, I don't really know, but the um, admin ratio to student ratio is probably overwhelming. So, it's not like I think I'm more significant than the next person, but I just felt like I had to constantly stay on people, wear myself out in order for them to do their job, to get the proper help that I needed. I was placed in a situation which I had to write to teachers just to get into a certain class because people were dragging their feet. I was doing whatever I was told that I needed to do. I was getting passed around to multiple departments, and nobody seemed to

care. I had to just stay on it and create a paper trail, who I spoke with and what we spoke about. All this just to be able to have classes in the spring. If that was somebody that didn't care about their education and wasn't capable in life, they just wouldn't have done it.

Charmaine goes into further detail about her transfer experience. She is frustrated about how the process went.

The school almost lost a student, and I feel like that shouldn't have been. That in my case, they told me to do x, y, z. It's done! And I'm still not able to schedule courses, or I'm having issues and like, you know, I think I find one person that I think I really connected with, you just wanna hold on to them. This student is calling every single day, and I'm asking, what are we doing here? I don't ever feel covered. That's another thing this year. It's hard, so when you're dealing with people that just wanna pass you around, you start feeling defeated. You almost feel problematic for being like; I'm doing my part, just do your part. It wasn't a good transition, and I'm like how, who is dropping the ball, what is happening here, I don't understand. And then I felt like, I'm relying on financial aid and loans but, is "Megan" who has her dad paying for school, is she your top priority? Because that's what I felt like. I was being brushed under the rug. Or, if I had been there the first two years and not been transferred in, would the experience have been different going into this third year?

She describes her experience and how the treatment made her feel. Her voice becomes shaky, and she takes a break before she gives more details.

It just wasn't a pleasant experience, and they just put a bad taste in my mouth about finishing here. But, at this point, I just wanna be done. I just feel like that's all I'm trying to do anyway. So, it's just like, work with me and get me out the door. Get your money and get me out the door. When you're pushing and advocating for yourself like, you know, you don't come from wealth, and you just continue to push to make you guys do your job. If I stopped calling, would I have been enrolled or pushed back a semester? If I stopped reaching out, would anybody reach out to me? Because of this experience, I already knew that I was going to have to go in and be on top of everything when it came to dealing with them. I was handling my business, I was on the campus, showing my face, and I was in and out of these offices. It's a whole lot easier for people to be inattentive over the phone or behind the screen, and I think people took advantage of that. Because, when I don't do the work or when I'm slipping, I'm responsible. Then, whose held accountable? If it was a mistake, it was a mistake. I was being rushed through this, the care, I didn't receive the help I should have gotten, I had questions, I was being rushed through the process. The lady in financial aid just wanted to get off the phone, and she ended up making a mistake. And all I get is, I'm sorry. I was passed around to different departments instead of people taking the time to help because I'm a new student. I feel like people only become serious when I ask for their names, but getting registered and getting help this semester as a current student, it was not a better experience. I just needed people to say that they did not know the answers to my questions but offer to find out and get back to me.

The frustration Charmaine feels is intense. As she's sharing this experience, her emotions go from angry to disappointed, and then she's crying. The memories of this particular experience were hard for Charmaine to detail, but she wanted to keep discussing them. She felt it necessary to share her experience, hoping that administrators at James University read about this exchange we had. She does not want another African American woman to go through this same experience. Charmaine further explains,

I will say, I spoke to a guy in the technology center, and he helped me so much. His name is J'Von, I think, but he stayed on the phone with me and walked me through the portal, email, and stuff. He also shared he had an awful experience as a student and could empathize with me. It was because he had that, he knew, he had that experience of what I was going through. He was like, "I'm sorry." He explained it is a little complicated and walked me through and gave me the information I needed. He gave me so much information and then followed up with, "if you need any help, you can call back and ask for me." You don't forget people like that, you know? Even the secretary in the College of Education, Melissa, was so helpful and I appreciate her for that.

It's crucial for Charmaine not to be looked at as an angry person. She is well aware of the "Angry Black woman" stereotype, and she does not want to have that stereotype placed on her. She is just open and honest about how she feels about her treatment at James by some of the staff members. It is essential for her to share her experiences and be transparent about those experiences so she can help another Black woman avoid the same pitfalls. As previously discussed, she, with several of the other

participants, hopes their experiences are noticed, taken into account, and positive changes can be made.

Charmaine discussed James University and being a part of the college's community. She shared her positive and negative experiences as a student at the university. When we talked about her interactions with faculty members in the classroom, she shared positive stories. However, when we discussed peer and professional staff interactions at James, there was a mixture of feelings that ultimately showed the disappointment Charmaine felt with the staff at the college.

While every African American student has different experiences and perceptions of their experiences, the women I interviewed each shared similar aspects of being a Black woman in college. Charmaine enjoys being a student and learning about her future career, but she shared,

I think sometimes I have to; I definitely feel like I have to present myself in a way that is very professional. I know professors and teachers don't necessarily look at their students as professionals, but as put together, well-spoken, I almost have to project that more than my peers. I have to show I deserve to be amongst you guys, and I'm worthy, I'm educated. Sometimes, it feels like not innocent until proven guilty. I feel like I am un-considered until you are until you prove that you should be considered. I get professors that don't even try to say my name, they will just use my last name, and when I pronounce it, they don't even try to say it correctly. When I schedule classes, I feel like there's at least one professor I'll have to prove myself to. Sometimes it just feels like your disregarded, or you're considered less than. I feel like they already know you're Black, and they already have

expectations that are negative, which I believe is unconscious bias that some of the teachers bring to the table. I just feel like I can't struggle because they're already expecting me to be a struggling student.

When Charmaine shared how she presented herself to her professors, she chuckled a bit because she believed it is not every day a student professionally carries themselves at school. We further discussed her on-campus experiences and talked about her interactions with professors and peers. She starts describing personal exchanges with professors and the university's technology software to praise students.

I've had teachers that they send those things to your email about doing well, or if I email them, they have noted that I may be a stronger student. I know I can't do the bare minimum to get by. My one professor last semester, she was great! She was just very aware. I asked her to be my mentor throughout school, you know. The discussions in class were very real because she was not ignorant to what goes on. Knowing she had that level of awareness put me at ease, and it made me feel relaxed because she understood what things were like. I also feel proud when teachers recognize me by sending emails saying I'm doing well. I store those emails because it's a struggle. I don't necessarily realize I'm doing well until I get an email, and then it shocks me. It catches me off guard because I struggle, and I work so hard that I don't think I'm doing well. It's not until I get that acknowledgment that I realize how good I've done the work. Getting that recognition that my work is meeting or exceeding expectations, that's good. You hear more about when you're slipping than when you've done something good, so it feels good to hear you're doing well.

Charmaine recalls a time a professor discussed her work in class. She details her experience and how it made her feel to have her professor point out her work.

Most recently, my professor made an announcement to the class and pulled my work as an example. I felt that she appreciated the time that I put into the assignment, and I made valid points. That made me feel like a valued student that she appreciated the work that I put into the assignment. It's deeper than me, it's, I think it's deeper for me knowing I'm working full time and able to go into school full time. I have to divide my time and attention like that, and these are real-world things that hit different.

Getting positive feedback or recognition from her professors makes Charmaine feel seen in her classes. She appreciates her professors and how they use real-world issues in their classrooms. As a pre-service teacher, she acknowledged that her professors are teaching students to be prepared to teach and tackle societal concerns in their classrooms.

Besides being actively involved in the classroom, I wanted to know how involved Charmaine has been on campus. She was honest about how she felt about being an involved student at James. She looked at this type of engagement differently from the other participants. Since she did not have a good transfer experience, she felt that being actively involved on campus was not important. She shared about her lack of involvement because she has not gone to events or joined clubs.

I don't care to be involved. They don't deserve that from me. I'm not going to build into or help better the school. I put a lot of myself into everything I do, and I don't half-ass any of my pursuits. So, if I was going to even be in a group, I know what I have to give, and because of what I have gotten from the college if it was

like one of those things where I was like, "oh my gosh, this is great," you want to be part of it. You want to be a part of what's going on in and on campus and in the college community. But I'm like, no. I haven't had a good experience with you guys. I'm not going to give to one of your programs because if I do, it's just going to push it in a better direction. That puts you guys in a positive way, and you don't deserve that from me. So, you can get that from the students that are graduating at a higher success rate. They just ought to do that for you because that's the least they can do. Let them run your clubs.

Earning a degree and settling into a career were essential to all my participants. As first-generation students, they either did not have parents who could expose them to college or siblings that could assist them with preparing for college. I discussed with Charmaine her perspective on being successful. She spoke about the influences of her family and the importance of working hard to earn her degree. She also had her sister in mind while discussing being a student at James University. She became emotional while speaking about her sister. Charmaine eventually composed herself and shared how she felt about being labeled strong.

I don't like to use the word strong anymore, not with how it's, how it's used to describe Black women. It's not good to be strong as a Black woman because that means that you're exhausted, that means you were kicking and screaming. That's what that means. I definitely want her to see somebody who, I think, is resilient in the midst of struggle and still being compassionate in caring for others. My sister just earned her degree, so she understands how much of a struggle this is. We never had the help or support from our parents. Even if they had lacked

understanding like there is no financial help we can gain from them. There isn't any emotional support there, and there isn't like, we'll go here with you to figure it out. I said to my dad, sometimes I wish that were just more present because I'm like, they (university staff) would respect you as a Black man. I believe I wouldn't have it as hard. I see "Megan" have an issue at the school, and her dad, who pays for her tuition, will yell and call the Dean or the President of the school and get what he wants. Instead, I have to fend for myself, and I want my sister to see that despite those struggles, I kept going.

This perspective allowed me to discuss the idea of being powerful as a Black woman. We talked about what being powerful meant to Charmaine. She discussed how she believes power is maintained as a first-generation African American woman who has transferred to a predominately White institution. Obtaining an education can be a form of empowerment and activism that will allow Black women to fight against the system of oppression. For Charmaine, her sense of power comes from being a student and using her voice. She shared an interaction with her professor and peers in the classroom.

The professor said to me, if I ever have something I want to say, just feel free to say it. She said she wanted to allow me the space to get on my soapbox. Of course, I would take a step back because no one wants to be a teacher's pet but, the class was so engaging, and I was learning a lot. I didn't think I would be able to impact my class, and because of our discussions every week, more and more people started turning their screens on and participating in the discussions. I think that was a pretty powerful moment for me. My professor taught me not to sit in silence in the classroom. It's a powerful thing where people are listening to your

work. So, don't hold back, especially if it propels us in a direction that promotes learning, understanding, empathy, compassion of all that, so use your voice. And I think a lot of times, the Black community doesn't feel like they're going to be respected or heard. It helps when your professor is backing what you're saying or when others are agreeing with what you're saying.

Having these positive experiences and interactions with her professor and peers allows Charmaine to keep striving towards success. Success is viewed differently for each person. For the purpose of this study, success is not measured by the participant's grade point average (GPA). Charmaine viewed her success from different points of view.

Success means health insurance and comfortable living. I think it goes well beyond me that I can provide a decent life for my children, and then they can provide for themselves and their children. It's like, setting up generational success. I want to be able to pour my success into generations following me. I want to be able to break the cure or chain and make sure the struggle stops here type of thing. It is unfortunate that in America, success means healthcare. Or success means I can live a comfortable life which I believe is unfortunate. I also believe success means that I can have access to people and be in a room with certain people that I would never have had access to. I should be able to say success is, getting a good job and starting a family. Unfortunately, the American dream has definitely changed, and that's not it anymore. I feel like I have to show that I deserve to be amongst you guys, I'm worthy, I'm educated. Honestly, I believe using my voice is how I have been successful.

Charmaine, thinking about her younger sister shared her hopes of how she wants her sister to see her. She had to take a moment because it made her emotional to think about her sister, who is also in college. They support each other by checking on one another, and her sister sends her encouraging videos and memes. She explained that she had spoken to her father about it and said she just needed him to be more present, especially when dealing with her transfer experience. She felt if he was there to help her, as a Black man, maybe the departments that sent her back and forth, "they wouldn't have fucked with me." She is still very angry about her experience, and becomes emotional during the discussion. Charmaine explained to me that her tears are from still feeling frustrated about how she was treated during the transfer process. She just wanted to feel welcomed on her new campus, and since that did not happen, she remains disappointed.

Ayanna

"Opportunities don't come around that often for us."

This quote is based on Ayanna's perception of education and life. Since this is the knowledge that Ayanna carries with her in life, she takes full advantage of opportunities that arise for her. Ayanna is a 28-year-old African American undergraduate student dual majoring in English and Education. She started community college as a theater major. She loved acting and applied to James University after graduating from high school. She auditioned to be a theater major and was accepted, but she decided to start at her community college. At the time of this interview, she was a Senior with a 3.3 grade point average (GPA). She transferred credits from a community college and is on track to earn her bachelor's degree in a semester and her master's degree in two semesters. Gaining her

higher education was important to her because, as a first-generation student, she "knew she was going to college."

Ayanna and I discussed the importance of education to her, and she said, "I hold my education at a very high standard because I feel like without education, I don't want to say there's nothing because that's not true, but for me, without education, there isn't much for me to go off on." As a student, Ayanna loves to learn, grow as a person, and see things "from a different lens." It is important to Ayanna to do well in school to get a job in the career she wants where she feels fulfilled in what she is doing. We bonded because we attended the same community college and had a professor in common. The professor, Dr. Bond, is a person that encourages her students and goes out of her way to help them. She took a class with the professor and felt she learned a lot.

Ayanna and I spoke about her transfer experience to James University. She ran into some issues while she was going through the process.

The transfer process was actually a very hard time for me. I didn't apply to go to James until the fall of 2019, and then I started January 2020. When I started James, it was very difficult. I talked to so many different people, and unfortunately, the communication wasn't where I needed it to be. And I was told something by this person, and something by this person, and I met with many different advisors, and they're all telling me different things. There was this one advisor in particular who discouraged me from going to school because she's like, "You're older than everybody else, and you're trying to work full time. It's not going to work out." It was not a good experience. It wasn't until I met my advisor Emily (pseudonym) that I was like, okay, I can do this. She encouraged me. And

pretty much helped me along the way. So, my transfer journey was very difficult. Even my financial aid, contacting the financial aid office and trying to figure out funds. And then I was getting fined for things. I'm like, this is not making sense, and I'm like nobody has given me any information.

Transferring to James was not a good experience for Ayanna. She goes on to say, "to say the least, it was a mess. Unfortunately, everything was everywhere, and nobody knew anything, and it really almost discouraged me from continuing." Because of the lack of communication Ayanna further explains, "I was like, all right, when this semester's over in May, that's it. I'm done. I'm not doing it."

Ayanna has two older siblings who attended the same community college. She knew she wanted to earn her associate's degree and had always planned to attend James University. Although her parents did not pressure her or her siblings to attend college, she has always wanted to go to college. When she shared how difficult her transfer experience was, she showed frustration. Attending college was so important to her, but that she was willing to walk away from James because of her transfer experience. Ayanna had worked hard to do well and get to this next step of starting school at a four-year university, and between her experience and financial aid issues, she almost walked away. Thankfully, as she shared, she connected with her advisor and meets with her every semester. She credits her advisor for turning things around and making her feel like she could stay at the school and complete her program.

Ayanna talked about being a part of the campus community. She shared what it was like to be an involved student during the pandemic when everything was only offered virtually. She was very active with the James University community by attending six

events in one semester. She even joined an honor society because of her grades. She attended a cooking class which she credits the course for "helping to choose healthy options." One event that left a lasting impact on Ayana was a discussion about Black Lives Matter. Ayanna shared,

The discussion about Black Lives Matter was really nice. A lot of students came out, a lot of students who weren't Black or African American came out, and they were speaking on things that they weren't educated about that they wanted to be educated about. So, it was really good to sit and listen to the different students who weren't African American. They wanted to offer their support and change their thinking and get a better understanding of how things work for African Americans in America. So that was a really cool event. Walking away from that event, I felt good knowing that there were people who weren't African American, who really cared. That was a big thing for me because a lot of times, you go on social media, and you see things. I have a lot of friends who I went to high school with, and to see the things they were saying online, it really hurt me. Like these are people that I talk to and I sat with at lunch, and to think they thought a specific way about African Americans, it hurt me.

Ayanna expressed her hurt to me. She had these people in her life that were her friends, and they showed a side of themselves she did not expect to see. We moved on from that conversation and talked about relationships she has developed with professors and her interactions with her peers. Ayanna shared she enjoyed her classes and professors. She discussed how she has felt in her classes by stating,

I have never felt not valued by any of my professors. Thankfully they've been very kind. There was a time last semester during the time we were remote (due to Covid), I hopped on Zoom before class started, and I was speaking to my professors. She's amazing, and she was just telling me how much she appreciated my writing. She was telling me that I'm a very strong writer and she really appreciated it. That made me feel very good. Because if she had said, "Oh, your writing's not that great," I would've been like, well, maybe being an English teacher is not the role for me. But she didn't say that. She valued me as a writer and encouraged me, so I'm like, okay, I'm in the right field. I'm headed where I'm supposed to be.

Ayanna also wanted to share about her interaction in class with a peer. This interaction left her feeling frustrated and disappointed in her peer. She was not comfortable with going completely into detail about what exactly was said, but she shared,

In my psychology class, we have a lot of discussions in that class. There was a student in the class, she spoke one day and didn't have nice things to say about African Americans. It was a very awkward moment in class because she was speaking based off her experience. But the way that it came out, it was very rude and disgusting. But, after that, another student who was not African American hopped in and defended us. I kind of felt not valued, but when the other student defended us, I felt valued, so I was okay.

Working towards being successful in college is important to Ayanna. She has the support of her family but explained to me that sometimes they do not understand how or

why she is so busy all of the time. Ayanna also discussed the support she received from her family. Although her parents did not push her to go to college, both siblings attempted college. Seeing them attend school helped her decide to go to community college first because it was cost-effective. We spoke about her brother a few times since he's also still working on his degree. She shared a mini argument the two had about school. She loves her brother and wants to see both of them be successful. She stated,

A couple of months ago, I had a mini argument with my brother at the beginning of the semester. He's attending Drake Community College after transferring from Raitman Community College to work on his English Education degree. The amount of work he has is not the same as the amount of work I have. And he just doesn't understand why I always say I have homework; I can't do this or I can't do that. He's just like, "You don't have that much work." He was trying to tell me, "You don't have that much work you have to do. Stop acting like you got so much you have to do." And I'm just like, "No, I have work." And he's like, "Are you trying to say that you're smarter than me?" And I'm like, "Whoa, wait a minute." Things just went to a whole other level. I'm like, no, that's not at all what's happening. I'm like, "Listen, I remember when I went to community and the workload is not the same as the university. And I'm, saying that because I went to community." I told him when he comes to James or goes to Bryant University or wherever he chooses to go, he is going to see. So, he's starting to see it now, he's like, "I think I'm going to change my major." It's a lot of work.

She expressed her love for her brother because he is supportive of her. When you are a student, you become very focused on school and doing well. Sometimes that focus on

school makes you less focused on your family and friends. Ayanna was taken back by where the conservation went between them. She explained to her brother that she understood his workload, and she talked to him about what he could expect his life to be like once he got to a university.

Ayanna was a good student in high, so she always knew she wanted to attend college. She explains, "When I was younger, I would always say, I'm going to get my doctorate degree. I'm going to go all the way up to the top." She was very open and honest with me about her desire to attend college. She shared that she wavered and went back and forth about obtaining a degree but knew she was going to college. She also had an internal battle over if she should major in education or become an actor. Ayanna further explained,

I knew I was going to college either way. Whether it was for theater or for education, I knew that I was going to college. It was nothing that was forced upon me from my parents. They wanted me and my siblings all to go to college, but it wasn't like you have to go to college. It wasn't forced upon us. But I always knew I wanted to go.

Ayanna and I began to speak about being a powerful African American woman and what that looked like to her. She shared with me that she feels like "opportunity can be hard to come by as a Black woman." She explained that she works very hard not to lose an opportunity when one arises. Ayanna believes she has to work extremely hard because opportunities "for us are far and few." She shares that to be a powerful Black woman means taking advantage of the few opportunities that come her way. She also compares the pressure she will place on herself to put forth every effort to do well in her

classes to the work ethic of her White peers. She shared with me that her peers have bragged about reading right before their Literature class or if an assignment is due by 11:59 pm, they have told her they submitted at 11:00 pm. This shows a lack of effort and possible waste of an opportunity that if she did this, it could negatively impact her. When we discussed the topic further, Ayanna talked about her advisor, that has left such a positive impact on her.

I felt most powerful after speaking to my advisor Emily in March of this year. I was talking to her about my classes and grades and things like that. She said to me, "You came in as a transfer student, and you're doing better than half of the students in your field." At that moment, I felt powerful because I'm out here doing my best, and my best is good enough for my advisor to notice it and to point it out in the middle of a meeting while choosing my classes for next semester. I felt really powerful in that moment and, as a Black woman, because I feel like a lot of times, we can point out each other's accomplishments. But then when you hear it from somebody who's not Black, it's like wow. You noticed me. That feels good. This conversation led us into a deeper discussion about success as a Black

woman, and Ayanna explained what success means to her.

Success means a lot to me personally. I know everyone has different versions of what success is. I'm not someone who feels like money and fame is success for me. Success for me is going to class, passing my classes, and graduating with my degree. Once I accomplish that, getting a job in my career field where I'm fulfilled in what I'm doing. As long as I can make that goal, I'm fine. So far, every semester, I've learned a lot, and I've been growing as a student. I'm also in a

National Honor Society for transfer students because of my grades and GPA. That's something that I've been successful at, James. I also don't give up. I go for what I want. I achieve my goals, and I keep pushing forward, regardless of my age. I didn't look at my age as something against me when I decided to come back to school.

As our conversation started to wind down, Ayanna discussed her siblings more. She shared that if she had a younger sister, what she would want her sister to see when she looked at her.

I would love for her to see me as a powerful Black woman who's achieving my goals and going after my dreams. And pushing forward, no matter what. Whatever obstacles come my way, I'm pushing forward.

Alice

"Everyone's experience is different."

When I sat down to speak with Alice, she seemed nervous at first, but eventually, she warmed up to me. Alice is a 24-year-old African American undergraduate student majoring in Liberal Studies. She lives an hour away from James University, so she takes various online and campus courses. Alice attended a community college near her home and transferred to James University because she felt the school's reputation would help her when seeking career opportunities. At the time of this interview, she was a Junior with a 2.6 grade point average (GPA). She transferred with credits from a community college one hour from James University. Her motivation to attend James University was to attain her degree and translate her degree into a career in the medical field. Alice has, like most students, struggled while James University offered several semesters remotely

because of the Covid-19 pandemic. She was excited to be back on campus to turn her grades around and complete her education. When we discussed her grades more, she explained to me that although the pandemic was part of the issue, her priorities were more of an issue. She now feels like her "priorities are getting more straight."

Attending college allows Alice the opportunity to create a better life for herself. Alice believes that "jobs nowadays find your classes and internships important and jobs really want you to have a master's now" She did a medical billing and coding internship which is in the field she's interested in working in. Alice stated, "I want to go into data analysis with healthcare because I really like doing that type of work because it's interesting to me." Since she transferred from a community college to James University, we discussed her transfer experience.

My transfer experience was okay. It was not too bad because I live an hour away. I live an hour away, and I work full time, so I'm not really on campus a lot to get that full experience and to be into a lot of stuff. But yeah, when I was on unemployment and I was able to get into all types of things.

Alice and I discussed if she ran into any issues or barriers during the transfer process, and she did not have any problems transferring to James. She explained that she believes it is essential to research the school you plan to attend. Researching the school can make the transfer process easier because she believes it will help make students more aware of the expectations of that school.

I would definitely say to do your research to see if this is the school you want. If you're looking for a HBCU (Historically Black College or University), I don't think this (James University) would be the experience that you're looking for. It's a diverse crowd, and I don't feel any racism, not towards me at least, but if you're looking for an HBCU, I would go to a different school. Otherwise, James is not a bad school to attend.

Alice spoke highly about her experiences at the university. She openly wondered if her experiences would be different if she lived on campus and was actively involved in clubs or a sorority. When she started discussing experiences on the campus and with her professor and peers, most of her experiences were through web conferences. Since students have faced education and learning virtually because of the Covid-19 pandemic, Alice took advantage of being engaged on campus. She had opportunities to attend events virtually, which helped her become involved with her peers. She described some of the events and her responsibilities during the events.

I did the National Wellness Institution. I was the coordinator, and because of Covid, we had to work remotely. My group and I worked together for about two months to set the event up. I was also able to take advantage of a program called, Get fit. That was fun. I did it two days a week. It is an exercise program for people with disabilities. They come in, and you basically get assigned to a partner, and you go over different exercises with them. It was really fun because I was able to modify different exercises for them to do. They would pick what they wanted to work on, and I would do the exercises with them and end it with a 20minute walk inside.

When Alice discussed working with others, she became very excited. When she has the opportunity, she enjoys helping people. We moved our conversation to her interactions with her professors and peers. Alice talked about her experiences with faculty and peers,

but she seemed indifferent to the discussion. It took her a moment to think about an interaction with a professor or peers that she wanted to share.

I don't really want to say I felt valued. I never had a time where I was like, "Okay, yeah, this professor values me." I don't believe I have really experienced feeling valued or not valued by a professor. There was a time in class when we were talking about commutes. Everyone was saying how far they commute, and I guess I had the highest one in the class, and they were just like, "Okay, yeah, I applaud you for doing that,' and I was like, "oh, thank you." That felt nice. Another nice experience I had was when the president of a club I belong to reached out to me to do a special project for their career fair. So, I thought that was nice. Like you reached out to me to do a specific project. So, maybe she thought I was responsible, she could count on me, I was reliable. So, that felt really good.

Alice further shares a story about a Black professor and his interactions with her White peers. Similar to Ayanna's interaction with a peer that disappointed her, Alice did not like how her peers treated the professor, which left her feeling upset about the situation.

There was a Black professor, and yeah, I felt like the students didn't really respect him at all. Yeah, they didn't respect him because he had; he was African, so he had a little accent. So, they weren't pretty nice to him. I helped him a couple of times, but yeah, it's not nice to do that.

She was visibly bothered that the professor experienced rudeness from her peers. It was important to her to show him support and respect. She did not sit silently in her class or

partake in disrespecting her professor. She instead stood firm to her beliefs that they were wrong and she would not be grouped with that type of behavior.

Alice has dreams and goals for her future, and with the support of her family, she can work towards her goals. Her family wanted to provide her with a good education. She was sent to a school outside of her community that was predominately White, but when she described the school to me, she described it as being a diverse school.

My parents, they really didn't want to send me to Trips High School. So, they sent me to a different school which was a little different for me. So, I adapted there a little differently. The school had better classes and teachers, which my parents felt would be best for me.

It was important to Alice's parents to give her an opportunity to attend a school that would allow her to continue her education in college. She also shared she was interested in going into the military at one point. We began to talk more about the military and the types of resources available to people that enlist. We discussed the different military branches, and Alice shared she was interested in the Airforce. Many high schools have Junior ROTC (Reserve Officers' Training Corps), so we discussed the ROTC and military.

I was actually going to go to the military because since high school, I didn't feel like school was for me, but here I am. Including community college, I've been in school for about six years, but I'm happy about my decision. I took the ASVAB once didn't pass it in high school. They offered the test at my high school, but I didn't take it again. My school had a lot of military kids there, so they had an ROTC, but I didn't join.

Going to college was the better choice for Alice, and now she is at James University working on obtaining her degree. Her ability to earn her degree is a form of empowerment for her as a Black woman. Alice and I spoke more about what makes her feel powerful as an African American woman.

When I have to stand in front of a diverse group of peers and give a presentation in class, that makes me feel powerful. Especially with me, I struggle with it. But, in general, I think that was powerful for me to do. I just got up and presented in this medical class. It also felt good to get feedback from my professor. She said my topic was good. I believe I was the only Black person, so that was powerful for me. Yeah, my dad was pretty proud of me too.

She also went further into detail about success and discussed how she advocates for herself and how that translates into success. When she began the discussion, I allowed her the opportunity to talk, but Alice shared something that I was intrigued by because she said several times.

When I advocate for myself, it leads to me being successful. I will speak up for myself and not in a rude way. I am not the type of person that will stay mute so, I am very straightforward. I have had professors that will reach out to me to check in with me. I know that may not be their responsibility, and I appreciate that they would do that. But, if I'm in a situation in which I need to speak up for myself, I will do that but again, not in a rude way.

Since Alice mentioned a couple of times that she would approach a professor if she needed to, but not in a rude way, I asked her what she meant by that statement. She elaborated what she meant by stating,

Because if I raise my voice, I will be labeled as maybe an "Angry Black woman." So, you need to know how to come correct at the opposite race. Or, with an older professor, they might be thinking you're ignorant or something.

Alice does not want that distinction placed on her because it is important to her to maintain respect between herself and her professors. She also openly shared about her struggles in school and seemed a little embarrassed about her grades and GPA. She has not given up, and that is what is most important. Part of her process towards striving for success is to turn her grades around. This is a way for her to redeem herself in a sense because she knows she can do better as a student. As previously mentioned, she shared that her priorities were not straight, but she is actively prioritizing school and her grades. Alice explained, "I would say, that's part of my success."

Jean

"You don't have to be your circumstances."

Jean is a 30-year-old African American undergraduate student majoring in Liberal Studies. At the time of this interview, she was a Junior with a 3.5-grade point average (GPA). She transferred credits from two community colleges and is on track to graduate in two semesters. Jean is a mother of two boys and aspires to earn her degree for her children. At the time of this interview, she was a few semesters away from graduating with her bachelor's degree. The pure excitement when she shared this information was heart-warming to see. Jean has lived with parents that did not finish high school. Her father dropped out and her mom, but her mom went through the General Educational Development (GED) program and earned her certification. Since her parents did not earn

hog school diplomas, she was encouraged to drop out of high school when she struggled in her senior year.

Jean decided to attend college to better her life and set a positive example for her children. She shared, "I never saw anybody go to college or graduate college. So, it's important for me to show my kids that I can do it so that they have somebody to look up to." Her children are 8-year-old twins so, they understand what Jean is doing and all of the hard work she is putting into college. As we continued to discuss her children, we talked about mom guilt and the responsibilities of being in school and being a mom. Jean has very strong views on the hard work it takes to be an African American woman in school.

And that's what we need. We need more hard work in our (Black) community. More. There is no easy way out. And unfortunately, in a lot of cases, we got to work ten times harder. So, you have to have that mindset that I want this.

When Jean and I discussed her transfer experience, she shared some positive experiences. She did run into a slight issue during the process that was disappointing, but she wanted to stay positive and enjoy the college experiences she was going to have.

My transfer experience was pretty cool. It was pretty easy because I actually graduated from Raitman Community College, and they did a lot of it for me. They helped me with the transfer process. There was only one hiccup, I was a part of PTK (Phi Theta Kappa) National Honor Society, and I was supposed to get a scholarship, but it never happened. I was never able to communicate with anybody or find someone to help me with it. So, I never got that scholarship, and

that was probably the only downfall of transferring. But other than that, it was really, really easy.

Jean found a way to let the disappointment of not getting her scholarship go. She received student loans to help her pay for her education. PTK is an honors program for community college students. These scholarships through PTK are not easy to earn. You have to maintain a high-grade point average (GPA) for the scholarship, which in some cases, the scholarship could pay for the majority if not all of your tuition for the two years you are expected to complete your degree. The scholarship's requirements and amounts change based on the grade point average a student has at their community college. Being a college student is important for Jean. She wants to experience all she can on campus by being involved.

Coming here has opened my eyes to a lot of groups that I would've never known before. I joined Habitat for Humanity, and I also joined a medical group for American women that gives back to the community. This group adopted a family for Thanksgiving and created a basket of food for them. I'm working on signing up to build a home with Habitat for Humanity. I am also in a club that submitted photos, colorings, and stuff to organizations for kids. I have also planted trees in my hometown. Being charitable and giving back are things that fulfill me.

The work Jean is doing at James University is meaningful to her because her children can see her give back to others. This will one day prompt them to follow in their mother's footsteps and do the same. She shared how she feels being an African American student on campus at times.

It is important to me to get the most out of my opportunities. That is why I joined groups at James University. That's why I reach out and talk to my professors. That's why I'm active with my advisor. I don't want to just go to school and say, I went. I want to get the most out of my time here because I think college is more than an education. I feel like being at James University is an experience to help me grow within myself because it's a sense of independence. It's a sense of new community for me. Being a Black woman, I have felt like I had to bite my tongue a lot. So, there's been situations where I want to speak up in class, but it's almost like, you have to know, and when you don't know, you get judged. Sometimes, I really don't know what's going on, so I'll just wait and email the teacher instead of speaking up for myself. I see other people in class speak up all of the time, but I feel like I can't. I believe that's not just an African American thing; I just think I was conditioned to not speak too loud because you don't want to be labeled. You don't want to fit the stereotype, so mute yourself and then figure it out, and that's where you get your strength. So, what I want to take from here is just a better understanding of myself. A better understanding of me as a student, as a peer, as a charitable person, and just as a balanced person because I do balance work fulltime. I balance school full-time; I balance being a single mother full time, and I think it has given me a sense of anything is possible. As long as you really want it and you really work for it, anything is possible.

We also discussed her experiences with her professors, and how she felt as a James University student. When Jean spoke about her interactions with her professors in the classroom, she became excited to share with me.

I've gotten positive feedback from every professor I've had so far, I've not had a bad experience with any classmates either. I would say probably my happiest moments have been when I've gotten feedback. I got letters from the Deans, and they say that my teachers had acknowledged my hard work, and I'm like, I was struggling because I'm tired and I'm studying. Just to see every last one of them have something positive to say about me. That really gave me confidence in myself because, like I stated before, this is my first time going to a university, and it was scary to me. It was a lot more work. It was more demanding than I was used to. So, to see that I was doing something right and to have teachers acknowledge that that was amazing to me. I hadn't experienced that. Even in community college, I hadn't experienced that. I was on the Dean's list, and I was

on PTK. I hadn't had professors actually come out and give me acknowledgment. Succeeding at James University is an essential priority for Jean. Everything that she accomplishes at school is because she is motivated by her children. She stressed the importance of showing her children going to college and being successful can be done. Since her father did not finish high school and her mother encouraged her to drop out of high school, it was important for Jean to set an example for her children. She wants her boys to do better than her.

As a single mom, I knew I needed more just to maintain my household as it grew. So, I decided to try going to school, and it's been going pretty well, actually. I have two boys; they're twins, and they just turned eight. So, for me, my education is really important because I never saw anybody go to college or graduate college.

So, it's important for me to show my kids that I can do it so that they have somebody to look up to because they don't have a lot of outlets to see that.

Jean and I spoke about her experiences as a mom and Black woman. She shared her story about biting her tongue in certain settings because she is a Black woman. Although she believes this is not just an issue for African American women, she shared that she was conditioned not to speak up for herself. Not speaking up is not just an issue within the Black community. For years, women have been raised to be young ladies, speak a certain way (no cursing), and be the opposite of what men are expected to be. Unfortunately, this is not an isolated situation for us as Black women. Jean shared her views on how she feels powerful as an African American woman.

I guess, in my head, I really don't feel like I've done anything to feel powerful. I feel like everything I'm doing is because I'm supposed to do it. So, I think the only thing that will make me feel powerful is when I finally get to walk across that stage and have that sense of accomplishment. I feel like that's when I will feel powerful because right now, I feel like I'm a...even as a student and I'm doing good, and I have good grades, I still feel like I'm in a stance of struggle. I guess I can say when I get my grades, and they're good, I feel powerful because I feel like my work is paying off.

It is important for Jean to give back to her community, and ultimately, she just wants to be successful for her children. Since she did not have anyone that could show her how to be a college student, she is creating that blueprint for her children and future generations of her family.

I believe success is an individual concept. It's not a required amount of money. Success is when I reach a level of fulfillment and happiness. So, even if I get my bachelor's and that's a success for me, as long as I find genuine joy and pride in what I do, I feel myself as being successful. Another aspect of success for me is to join groups and give back. I'm trying to build a better career for myself, so staying on top of my work, following through, and showing the pride I have in my education is success to me.

Jean was not able to see anyone in her life go to college. Being a college graduate is very important for this mother of two. She wants to show her children that if she can navigate college, they can do it too. As shared in her story, she has also stayed active on campus and taken advantage of virtual events because this will also show her children how to be well-rounded students.

Discussion of Themes

Three-Dimensional Space Narrative Inquiry

The three-dimensional space narrative inquiry is a research approach shaped by philosopher John Dewey. Dewey based his principles on the concept that personal, social, temporal, and situation were essential in describing the characteristics of an experience. This approach was used by Dewey to find meaning and became central to his philosophy of experience in personal and social context (Wang & Geale, 2015). The threedimensional space narrative is structured from the researcher's point of view. It helps to identify the elements that should be considered if we look at the participants' knowledge from a holistic and critical perspective (Connelly & Clandinin, 2006). Based on the participants' narratives, their experiences ranged from the three-dimensional space of

personal, social, temporal, and situation that was important to the women. The themes found in this study showed that the participants could share their experiences within a personal context while also sharing narratives of holistic viewpoints. All themes discussed are from a personal or social context, while the theme measuring success as a Black student also focused on the holistic perspective of the participant's experiences.

Awareness of Negative Stereotypes

Each woman is aware of the labels placed on Black women, and they are concerned about those labels being placed on them. If they speak up as Charmaine has, there is an understanding that people outside of our race will look at us as the angry Black woman. Several of the women discussed the stereotype of the angry Black woman. Jean and I spoke about her experiences as a mom and Black woman. She shared stories about biting her tongue in certain settings because she is a Black woman. Although she believes this is not just an issue for African American women, she explains that she was conditioned not to speak up for herself. Women have been raised to be young ladies, to speak and carry ourselves a certain way, and be the opposite of what men are expected to be. Unfortunately, this is not an isolated situation for us as Black women, but we get accused of having a chip on our shoulders or being "angry." Two participants spoke about being polite when addressing professors or staff so they would not be labeled the "angry Black woman." As Black women, we carry a lot of labels on our shoulders. Although these women, for the most part, shared positive experiences at James University, one participant delved deeper into societal views of Black women. Charmaine discussed the term "strong Black woman." This is a term often used to complement a Black woman on handling life and work responsibilities without complaint. This woman

is known not to ask for help because she is strong enough to handle stressors independently. Charmaine takes offense to this term because she believes it puts Black women down and exposes the exhaustion Black women feel. These stereotypes acknowledge that as Black women, we are perceived by the dominant culture as loud, uneducated, unworthy, sarcastic women. So, although the stereotypes are there and being placed on us, we actively work against them. These stereotypes, at times, can play into our insecurities and do not allow us to celebrate our accomplishments.

Importance of Education and Peer Work Ethic

Each participant discussed the importance of their education and work ethic. They compared their high work ethic to White peers that did not always take class assignments or participating in class discussions as seriously as the participants. All of the women prioritized their education because they were aware of the opportunities education could provide them. Charmaine believes getting her education is a form of empowerment for her. It will allow her the opportunity to have a good career. She also shares that once she can maintain her career, she will eventually set up generational success for her future children and grandchildren. Usually, people discuss generational wealth, but for Charmaine, the wealth she wants to obtain is valued through her level of educational success. Ayanna also recognizes that her education is the opportunity that will lead her to her career. She believes that there is not much there for her without education. Another participant, Jean, also expressed the importance of education in her narrative. Jean is a parent, so she decided to attend college to better her life and set a positive example for her children.

The importance of education is so her children can look at her accomplishments and want to mirror her success. Alice values her education, and although she has had struggles, she is working harder to obtain her degree. All of the participants discussed interactions in their classes with White peers. Several addressed the lack of work ethic White students put into their classes because they bragged about putting little to no effort into their classwork. The women discussed that they put hours into studying or working on assignments. The participants shared that not putting forth much effort is not an option for them. The women did not want their professors to perceive them as lazy or question if they belonged in their class.

Negative Experiences with Communication Issues

Communication issues were another theme found in this narrative study. Two of the participants did not have good experiences while transferring to the university. There was a communication breakdown, and important information was not given to the students. Both Ayanna and Charmaine had such a difficult time during the transfer process that they planned to leave James University once they completed their first semester. Ayanna was given misinformation through the financial aid office. This caused her to have a large bill that she had difficulty paying. This bill could have also kept her from finishing her program at the university and graduating. It left both women disappointed in the university and the staff they encountered during their transfer. Jean had a better experience transferring to James University, but she lost a scholarship awarded at her community college. She did not know who she needed to speak to about obtaining her scholarship. Typically, conversations about scholarships or outside funding such as personal student loans are conducted by the financial aid office. Unfortunately,

these women did not receive the necessary help or communication as new students to the university. As shared by the women, this could have cost them their opportunity to attend college and earn their degrees.

Positive Engagement with Institutional Agents

An institutional agent is a person at the university that can provide resources and institutional support to students. All of the women discussed their relationships with their Academic Advisors and their professors. Although Charmaine, Jean, and Ayanna did not have the best experiences while transferring to the university, they and Alice all had positive stories about the faculty and staff they have encountered. Ayanna shared that the encouragement and support from her advisor convinced her she should stay at the university. This same advisor lets her know when they meet each semester that she is in a far better place as a soon-to-be graduate than students native to the university. Ayanna explained this to mean students that have been at James since their first year may not be at the same level of success as her. Charmaine also had a good experience with her Academic Advisor and the secretary for the College of Education advising center. She also found the empathy J'Von from the technology department showed her was encouraging. Each of these institutional agents made her feel welcomed. Her conversations about faculty members show how comfortable Charmaine has become as a student at the university. Jean also shared she has had positive encounters with her Academic Advisor. Her advisor has supported her since she started at the university and cheered her on for her accomplishments. Jean has also shared that although she does not always feel comfortable speaking up in the classroom, her professors make her feel like she belongs there. Alice also shared her professors made her feel like she belonged in

their classroom. The positive feedback and support she receives from her professors make her feel like she can turn her grades around and graduate from the university.

Measuring Success as Black Students

Like most institutions of higher education, James University measures the success of their students through grading, grade point averages, and student retention. After speaking with each of the participants, they measure their success differently. Several of women do not use money or material gains as a sign of success for them. The women described success as a life fulfillment. Success is measured as an accomplishment of their level of happiness. The women described their success as a connection to their emotions. While Charmaine also supported the idea of measuring her success based on her level of happiness, she first described success for her differently. She explained that success meant health insurance and comfortable living. She further explains that success for her in America means she will have access to people and be in the same room with people she would not have access to. Being educated but ultimately having the ability to use her voice will show how successful she has been. Jean described her success is an individual concept. She also believes that as long as she finds genuine joy and pride in what she does, she will feel successful. This is a woman that feels pride, joy, and fulfillment as a college student because she is able to set an example of being successful to her children.

Navigating the Covid-19 Pandemic

While conducting this research, the participants were trying to navigate the transfer process, be involved on campus, focus on their courses, and navigate a pandemic. James University adhered to a state of emergency and closed the campus. All employees, services, and classes were available remotely. This means students and employees

engaged with one another through the use of web conferences. The use of a virtual space while addressing the transfer process was difficult for a few of the women. Previously, before the pandemic, a student could come to campus to seek assistance from different departments at the university. This was not an option for the women once the university shut the campus down. Remote learning for students was offered in the middle of the Spring 2020 semester. Remote learning did not end until Summer 2021. The university welcomed students back to campus in the Fall of 2021. Faculty, staff, and students had to learn how to navigate this new way of education. It was shared in this study that some of the participants dealt with professors teaching while most of the students kept their cameras off. The level of engagement during class was different. As Charmaine explained, it was not until she started sharing more about her life experiences her classmates turned on their cameras and started engaging in the conversations.

Jean, Ayanna, and Alice became very engaged with the university's community through virtual events and activities. The accessibility to a web conference link allowed all three women to become involved at the university. Jean did not need to find a sitter for her children, Alice did not have to drive an hour to get to campus, and Ayanna was able to take a step away from schoolwork to attend an event. While being remote was positive for the women, Alice shared in her narrative that she struggled with remote learning. The structure of being on campus, going to classes, and having access to face-to-face resources was needed by Alice. Her grades suffered because she had to rely on herself to stay motivated to attend her virtual classes. This was not always easy for her because, as previously explained, her priorities were not aligned with school. Although the pandemic

is still an issue, classes are being offered on campus again, and all of the women were looking forward to seeing how much things have changed for faculty and students.

Conclusion

This chapter detailed the participants' experiences as first-generation African American women who transferred to a predominately White institution. The findings of this study included themes to assist with data arrangement. There were six themes that were included in this study. These themes included The awareness of negative stereotypes, the importance of education and peer work ethic, negative experiences with communication issues, positive engagement with institutional agents, measuring success as Black students, and navigating the Covid-19 pandemic. All of the participants in this study experienced positive faculty interactions, but several had negative experiences during their transfer to James University. They also shared negative interactions with the professional staff at the university. These professional staff members assisted the participants with the transfer process. Now that they are current students at the university, the support these students have from faculty, staff, and peers has been impactful. The extra care these women received to help with their success has not gone unnoticed by them. The implications and conclusion of this study will be discussed in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Implications

The purpose of this qualitative, narrative study was to examine and understand the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. In order to better understand the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution, I interviewed four women who met the inclusion criteria of being African American, a woman, a first-generation transfer student with at least a 2.0-grade point average or higher. Each woman participated in two interviews, which assisted with learning about their experiences. The first interview focused on open-ended questions, and the second interview focused on semi-structured interview questions. The findings revealed six specific themes. These themes were negative stereotypes, the importance of education and peer work ethic, negative experiences with communication issues, positive engagement with institutional agents, measuring success as Black students, and the Covid-19 pandemic.

The first theme identified in this study is the awareness of negative stereotypes. The concerns of negative stereotypes were discussed in Chapter Four with participants because since they use their voices in and outside of the classroom to speak up for themselves, there was concern about stereotypical labels being placed on them. Black women are often perceived as "angry Black women" or "strong Black women" when they speak up for themselves. The participants discuss these terms because historically, African American students are treated unequally, experience racism, and face the same negative stereotypes on a predominately White institution's campus as they do in society.

The second theme focused on the importance of education and peer work ethic. The participants discussed the high priority they placed on their education. It was shared by the participants that their education is a form of empowerment. Being an educated Black woman will open doors and lead to better career opportunities. While becoming educated is important to the women, they also discussed the differences in work ethic between themselves and their peers. The study findings suggest that while they put effort into their classwork, often, their White peers shared that they did the bare minimum and still managed to do well in class.

The third theme, negative experiences with communication issues, focused on several participants' issues during the transfer process to James University. The findings of the study suggest there was a breakdown of communication that caused several of the women to consider leaving the university. These issues could have also cost the participants opportunities to gain a post-secondary education. The fourth theme discussed is positive engagement with institutional agents that positively impacted the participants. The women shared their experiences with faculty, professional staff, and peers at the university. The participants all shared positive interactions with professional staff, specifically their Academic Advisor, and felt very supported by the professors. The fifth theme, measuring success as Black students, identified how the participants viewed their success at James University. Success is often used as a metric for an institution's performance or a student's persistence. The women described success as a life fulfillment. Success, for them, is an accomplishment of their level of happiness. The last theme in this study is navigating the Covid-19 pandemic. The pandemic changed the deliverance of

education to the James University community. The women discussed how they navigated the pandemic and remained engaged as students.

Discussion of Research Questions and Findings

Within this dissertation, Chapter Two reviewed the existing literature on the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. What is available tends to focus on Black men or students of color as one population. It was noted within Chapter Two how limited the current literature is on African American women who transfer to predominately White institutions. The chapter also revealed the majority of literature reviewed discusses the deficits of Black students rather than their success. It was also found within the chapter that many colleges and universities have struggled to retain and graduate first-generation students. Retention has become a challenge for many higher education institutions because first-generation students may not have individuals in their lives (e.g., family) who can relate to their experiences (Glassgen et al., 2018; Green & Wright, 2017; Jenkins et al., 2013). The chapter also addressed limited research on transfer first-generation African American women attending predominately White institutions. Patton et al., 2016 argue that between 1991-2012, a 22-year span, only 48 articles were published on the experiences of Black college women. More specifically, if Black women are researched, they are grouped with Black men and people of color. However, most focus is on Black men because they finish college at a lower percentage than Black women. This is supported by researcher Winkle-Wagner (2015), who argues the college success of Black women remains underexplored due to research examining students of color as a group at the aggregate level (i.e., students of color encompass men, women, and multiple racial/ethnic subgroups).

Black feminist thought and Anti-deficit Achievement theory were used as conceptual frameworks for this study. The significance of these frameworks is the complementary alignment between the two. Both frameworks discuss the success of Black students and the ideology to push back against the oppressive nature of researching Black students through a deficit lens. Both frameworks acknowledge the minimalization of Black students in society. They both also encourage researchers to explore the experiences of Black students by making us the center or primary focus of research. Also, these frameworks complement one another because they challenge the dominant culture's views. This is done by challenging researchers to explore Black student success and how these students navigate an oppressive system in society and on campus.

With results presented in Chapter Four, this study focused on first-generation African American women who transferred to a predominately White institution and discussed their experiences at their institution. The findings of this study suggested that all of the students interviewed were motivated to attend college to obtain a degree. The motivation for obtaining a degree would help the participants create a better life for themselves and, for some, their families. The research questions in this chapter will be further reviewed. Once the research questions are addressed, implications will be discussed along with the study's limitations.

Research Question 1

How do First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution Take a Stance in Their Empowerment Towards Gaining a Post-Secondary Education? First-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards

gaining a post-secondary education by using their voices and pushing back against negative stereotypes. The women are able to push back against negative stereotypes by first acknowledging they exist and using their education to prove the stereotypes wrong. These key concepts emerged from this study because of the importance of using their voices and the women remaining conscientious of negative stereotypes. While they felt they needed to remain professional while interacting with university employees, the women were determined to be heard and respected for their opinions on their education. The study findings suggest that although the women did not want to be negatively judged due to negative communication issues, they refused to back down. They stood up for themselves and worked towards taking control of negative experiences at the university. The women were aware they could be judged as an "angry Black woman" while questioning university employees. They tried to remain calm as they navigated the communication issues and realized their education was more important than backing down. Standing up for themselves is a form of empowerment because the women are pushing back against an oppressive environment. The concept of empowerment shows how Black women can navigate inequities and racial gaps to be successful (Harper, 2010). Based on the findings of this study, the Black women also empowered themselves by understanding the world's perceptions but not letting those perceptions stop us from being who we are in the world. The women also took a stance in their empowerment through relationships with faculty and advisors. The participants felt faculty and advisors listened to them and supported them when they shared their experiences. It was discussed that faculty and professional staff did not view the women as negative stereotypes.

Several negative terms discussed by the women were the idea of the "angry Black woman" and the "strong Black woman." These stereotypes often cause insecurities in Black women, but the participants used their education as their stance against the stereotypes. The participants believe that their education will open doors typically closed for Black women. Rather than waiting to be invited into the conversation, the women will be empowered by being educated and contributing to the conversation. Black feminist thought is used as a path to address negative stereotypes that share a portion of the "general ideology of domination" that takes on a special meaning for Black women (Collins, 2001, p. 69). My findings support the literature that Black women are often negatively stereotyped. Because of this, it leaves an impact on Black women, which causes them to speak up for themselves. The negative image of the "angry Black woman" was depicted as hostile and nagging, which plays into African American women being overly aggressive and masculinized (Wally-Jean, 2009; West, 1995). This stereotype is used against African American women to put us in our place and stop us from questioning the dominant culture. Since their education was important to them, the women questioned the dominant culture and did not allow negative stereotypes to stop them from achieving their goals. Obtaining an education, earning a degree, and ultimately being able to provide for themselves and their family was a powerful motivator. The women refused to allow these stereotypes to keep them from striving towards success. Black women's empowerment involves rejecting the dimensions of knowledge that perpetuate objectification, commodification, and exploitation (Collins, 2000, p. 289).

Black feminist thought clarifies the impacts of racism, classism, and sexism on the lives of Black women by challenging historical views about them and enables scholars to

dispel subordination of some based on race, class, and sex (Guy-Sheftall, 1995). The negative stereotype found during this study, "the angry Black woman," is one stereotype, among others, that has permeated and influenced society's view of African American women (Walley-Jean, 2009). This concept views Black women as an always need to be in charge, argumentative, and threatening Sapphire (Collins, 2009). The second negative stereotype found in this study, "the strong Black woman," is a term that research shows are associated with negative psychological outcomes on Black women (Liao et al., 2020). This term, so much a part of U.S. culture (Liao et al., 2020), shows how Black women have been valued not for intelligence but our labor. This term for generations has been placed on Black women to describe how we do not express emotions, show vulnerability, or allow people to see our gentleness. There was a time when being labeled a strong Black woman meant we were resilient and capable. The study findings suggest that there has been a shift amongst Black women that when this term is used to describe us, it is negative and no longer a source of pride. The women pushed back against this stereotype through their engagement on campus and in the classroom. They had open dialogue with their peers and shared about themselves and their experiences as Black women. This allowed their peers to ask questions and to gain an understanding of who these women were on a personal level. It allowed for the women to show their feelings and views on their education, their lives, goals, and achievements. Being open about their lived experiences helped to combat the prejudged views that society often has about Black women.

Although Black women are viewed in society negatively, we can persist in our educational careers. My study expands on the literature about the impact of negative

stereotypes on Black students. Harper (2015) explains that in a study conducted by Lewis et al. (2000), stereotypes led students of color to disconnect socially from their White peers. The findings of my study suggest the women did not disconnect from their White peers; they used opportunities in the classroom to share their experiences. This was done to remove the stigma of negative stereotypes. Harper (2015) argues that although most research focuses on deficits, there is evidence that points to possible coping strategies that result in positive outcomes for Black students. The participants of this study took a stance against negative stereotypes by not internalizing their harmful impact.

The findings of Black women using their voices as a form of empowerment expands on the current literature. It is understood that there is little known about Black women's experiences and challenges in college (Patton et al., 2016). The author further explains that most literature suggests that over the last 20 years, we are "okay" as Black girls because we fare better than Black boys. This thought process carries throughout our lifetimes. The lack of research on the higher education of Black women and the idea of speaking up for ourselves or using our voices to empower ourselves has not been discussed. I found that faculty members encouraged the women to use their voices and share their stories, which supports being empowered. This encouragement from faculty relates to the idea of culturally responsive teaching. Research has shown that culturally responsive teaching and practices are needed, which will place focus on collective and individual empowerment (Green, 2010; Green & Wright, 2017; Lane, 2006).

Black feminist thought was utilized to discuss the shared experiences of Black women. Black feminist thought privileges experiences and ideas of Black women, which are often minimalized or ignored by society (Collins, 2009). It can often be difficult for a

first-generation student to persist in higher education because they do not have the same support as a White counterpart or continuing generation student (Cataldi, 2018). The intention of empowerment is centered on mutual respect, critical reflection, caring, and a process by which people gain control over their lives, democratic participation in the life of their community, and a critical understanding of their environment (Perkins & Zimmerman, 1995).

Another finding of this study was the importance of the women getting an education, but they recognized the lack of White peer work ethic. White peers told the women that they put minimal effort into their classwork. The high standard these women placed on themselves supports the literature that students of color are forced to think about and speak on behalf of their race (Harris & Linder, 2018; King & Howard-Hamilton, 2003). The participants did extra work because, in addition to the effort they placed in their classes, they also exceeded their professors' expectations. The women exceeded the expectations of their professors to combat the negative stereotypes about themselves. Black feminist thought was used as a conceptual framework to discuss societal views of Black women and how those views are seen on a predominately White institution's campus. The findings of this study support the fundamental concepts of this theory.

Research Question 2

How do First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution Demonstrate Success? First-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success through the fulfillment of happiness, being productive, giving back, and feeling

accomplished. The participants shared that achieving their goals made them feel successful. Success for the women is a life fulfillment that they measured as a form of accomplishment that made them happy. Providing a better life for themselves and their family is another measure of Black student success. While obtaining an education and college degree helps demonstrate success for these women, it is also another form of empowerment. The connection of success and empowerment allows the participants to continue to take a stance towards obtaining a post-secondary education. Moreover, the feelings of happiness, life fulfillment, and feelings of accomplishment as a measure of success is comparable to Black joy. Black joy is inspired by anything that uplifts or supports Black culture through Black excellence. Tichavakunda (2021) explains a student might be more likely to persist and achieve on campus if they find the campus experience joyous. The empowerment of success allows the women in spaces they may not always be welcomed in, and it helps them fight against the systems of oppression. Collins (2000) argues that the skills gained in school are part of focused education for Black community development and thus help centralize our worldviews, which empowers us more.

Terenzini et al. (1996) state that first-generation students are less likely than traditional students to have experiences connected to success and persistence in college. Harper's Anti-Deficit Achievement Theory was used as the framework to answer this question. This theory is used to place focus on the positive aspects of a student and their success at their college. The Anti-Deficit Achievement model suggests researchers should understand the African American college student experience from the standpoint of what works and what contributes to their success (Harper, 2006). Rather than look at the deficits of first-generation students or Black students, Harper challenges researchers

to explore what helped these students become successful. This study found that faculty and professional staff support helped contribute to these women's success. The transfer process for several of the women was complex, and they planned to transfer out of the university. The support and recognition of their hard work from faculty members in the classroom motivated the women to persist. This study also found that Academic Advisors maintained assisted with persistence by keeping the women on track for graduation. This encouragement from staff and faculty supports the literature about institutional agents. Stanton-Salazar (2010) describes an institutional agent as a high-status, nonrelated actor occupying high positions in the multiple dimensional stratification system, which provides critical social and institutional support.

These findings also support the three researchable dimensions of success discussed by Harper (2012). Success influences students' college achievement through classroom experiences, out-of-class engagement, and enriching educational experiences (Harper, 2012). The findings of this study suggest that the participants' success was influenced by their experiences in the classroom. The women were able to have discussions in the classroom that engaged mutual understandings between the Black women, their peers, and their professors. If faculty are operating based on negative stereotypes in the classroom, whether consciously or not, minority students may feel uncomfortable, mistrustful, or demoralized (Davis et al., 2004). This, however, was not a finding in this study. The accessibility and support from a professor are crucial for students. The type of contact an African American student has with faculty help predict subsequent college persistence (Strayhorn, 2008b). This supports the findings of this study because encouragement from faculty was discussed, and it was shown that the students

maintained a positive rapport with faculty, which led to their success in the classroom. Another finding of this study related to Harper's three dimensions of success is the participant's out-of-class engagement. Several of the women were involved in clubs, charities, and volunteerism.

While getting good grades is a measure of success, Harper (2012) believes focusing on how a Black man can persist through graduation is necessary to investigate. Investigating how a Black woman can persist through graduation is also necessary to focus on. This study supports Harper's research because Black women participants demonstrate that GPA is not a predictor of persistence or graduation. The participants of this study had their own definitions of success, which likely compelled their academic achievement and accomplishment of traditional measures of success. Numerous researchers have pointed to the underrepresentation and racism Black students endure on predominately White campuses. While important implications for policy and practice have been generated from these studies, Harper (2015) maintains that much remains to be known about how students excel and persist despite these challenges. Based on the data obtained in this study, the demonstration of success for these students was their ability to attend college as first-generation African American women. The women measured their success through the level of happiness and fulfillment they felt as Black students. These women have shown that their success is based on their desires to keep striving for better in their lives.

Research Question 3

How do First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution Engage on Campus? First-generation African

American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus by participating in events on campus and building relationships with faculty and staff. Several women participated in events that discussed Black Lives Matter, health, and wellness and allowed them opportunities to give back. The findings of this study suggest that once the women became more engaged on campus, they felt successful, and they connected that success to their happiness. This study also found that although the university changed the methods of engagement by making events virtual because of the Covid-19 pandemic, the participants were still able to be involved with the campus community.

I found in my study that the more welcomed the students felt, the more engaged the students were on campus. Black women on a predominately White institution's campus are viewed as a population that does not need much support because of their success in college. However, when students are engaged, involved, and feel appreciated on their campus, they are more likely to be retained (Furr, 2002). This study supports these findings because participants that were very active on campus became more involved, felt appreciated, and enjoyed their experiences at the university. While it is imperative for Black students to feel welcomed on their campus, this is not always the case for Black women. This study has found that although the women did not feel welcomed initially, those feelings changed once they had more positive interactions with faculty and staff.

The women were able to build positive and supportive relationships with the faculty and staff at the university. The support of faculty and staff who are institutional agents can provide privileges, institutional resources, opportunities for career mobility,

wealth creation, political empowerment, and school achievement for students (Stanton-Salazar, 2010). The relationships were established because faculty members and professional staff provided a safe space for the women. They were also comfortable sharing their experiences with peers through the encouragement of faculty. This encouragement to the women showed that faculty members trusted them to share in the classroom and supported the women's idea that many faculty members understood Black experiences in education. The women demonstrated a strong work ethic in their classes as well. The participants believed that the professors appreciated this work ethic, which also helped with the women's and faculty's relationships.

Research has shown that while Black women earn degrees at higher rates than Black men, Patton et al. (2015) maintain that Black women historically and currently maintain a presence in the academy. However, their experiences linger primarily invisible and unacknowledged. This insinuates a subtle yet direct link between their representation and engagement on campus (Patton et al., 2015, p. 59). My findings suggest that once students were assigned an Academic Advisor, the experiences for these students became even more positive. This is encouraging as research has shown that academic advising has consistently been reported to positively influence student retention (Habley & McClanahan, 2004). My participants each have shared positive experiences they had with their advisors. These experiences made the women feel appreciated and welcomed.

This study also found that student engagement on campus was attached to the participant's points of view on college success. Several of the participants wanted to feel like well-rounded college students. Doing well in their classes was important, but getting involved, volunteering, and giving back to others made the women feel like they had

gained a significant college experience. The measure of their success was not focused on how much they accomplished; it was based on an internal satisfaction of feeling happy. Research has shown that social support systems such as student organizations are generally used to facilitate African American students' adjustment, retention, and progress (D'Augelli & Hershberger, 1993; Williamson, 1999). Many African American students experience feeling isolated or alienated when they attend a predominately White institution. Being involved in student clubs and organizations has been associated with academic achievement and persistence (Guiffrida, 2004). The findings of this study support the literature on students being actively involved on campus. It has been found that through active involvement, the participants were excited to be college students and gain experiences on campus as a student.

Becoming engaged on campus can come in many forms. A student does not have to be actively involved in clubs or honor societies. Engagement can also take place in the classroom. The findings of this study suggest that classroom discussions with faculty and peers were another form of engagement for the women. They were able to share about their lives and educational careers. This made the women feel like their peers were able to understand the Black student experience. This study found that while there were negative experiences for some, the engagement received in the classroom helped with the participants' persistence. One of the most substantial impacts on student validation and retention is their relationships with faculty. Faculty, parents, classmates, and partners substantially affect student involvement and retention both in and outside the classroom setting (Hurtado et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2019a). Research has found that students of color tend to have a more challenging time adjusting to the campus environment, are less

engaged, and are less likely to persist through college when professors do not consider the unique differences in their students (Holmes et al., 2000). The study findings suggest that several faculty members engaged students in the classroom and were open to diverse conversations. Because of these conversations, White peers became more actively involved in class discussions, allowing participants to feel heard during conversations surrounding diversity, equity, inclusion, and race.

Limitations and Delimitations

This study was conducted at a mid-size, public research university located in a rural East Coast area. A delimitation of this qualitative, narrative inquiry study is the decision to exclude Black men, Indigenous, and people of color. For this study, I chose to focus on the experiences of African American women. Since there is research on the experiences of Black men, I wanted to share the voices of Black women. Another delimitation of this study was focusing on a predominately White institution. The experiences of Black women at HBCUs are very different; however, this study is in the context of a PWI, which represents the majority of post-secondary institutions. Also, this study is not universal for students that transfer from one four-year school to another fouryear school. This study looked at the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer from a two-year school into a four-year school that is predominately White. This experience may be different because a transfer student does not know or understand the expectations of the four-year school. A transfer student from one fouryear school to another four-year school could better understand the policies and procedures during the transfer process.

All participants of this study are non-traditional students. This study focused on the experiences of first-generation African American women who transferred from a twoyear community college to a four-year university. The participants of this study ranged from ages of 24 years old to 30 years old. According to the NCES, traditional-aged students vary between 18-and 23 years old. While this can be seen as a limitation, it was expected that all participants would be non-traditional students. Most students who start their education at a community college and then transfer to a four-year college or university tend to be non-traditional-aged.

Implications for Practice, Research, and Policy

Practice/Leadership

The findings from this study had implications for practice. Through the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution in this study, James University must address the lack of communication, information, and help during the transfer process. Rather than having several different departments handle transfer students, I recommend creating a transfer department. This department should assist transfer students with all of their needs leading up to scheduling appointments with their advisors. Creating a transfer department would help new transfer students become more acclimated on campus. This department could also help with the retention of transfer students. The findings of this study show that because of communication issues, several students were considering transferring to another school. Since the university utilizes an embedded advisor model, once transfer students have completed their transfer requirements, they can expect to meet with their advisor for their major and discuss courses, future goals, and educational plans.

Another recommendation is that the university could start a peer mentor program. These mentors can be student volunteers that are familiar with the transfer process. New transfer students can be assigned a peer mentor as they are starting to transfer to James University. This would give the new transfer student a contact person to answer general questions about the university or their expected process. The findings of this study suggest that this program would be beneficial for transfer students. If the participants of this study had peer mentors, they could have obtained the information they needed easier. The participants may have felt less frustrated because they would have a contact person that could have provided the support they needed through the transfer process. I would also recommend appointing employees in key departments to become transfer liaisons. These liaisons would be the point of contact for a transfer student with questions or concerns. These key departments would be financial aid, bursar's office, wellness center, advising centers, and admissions. This would allow transfer students to ask questions or conduct business with each department but only be in touch with one employee in that department. This could also help avoid students getting sent to different departments and speaking to different people, confusing them. Creating this transfer liaison program could help diffuse the issues found in this study and help future transfer students feel welcomed to the university.

Another recommendation is that the university could build on its first-generation program. Although there is student outreach through the program, the participants in this study were not aware enough about the program to be involved. If the university created a center for first-generation students, this could positively impact students. It would help create a community and a safe space for first-generation students. As previously

discussed, these students often do not have resources or help, so they have various needs that the center could address. The university has an international office, a veterans office, and an honor's program with a center, housing, and programs for students in the honor's program. These same concepts the university has already created can be used to provide much-needed support for first-generation students.

The last recommendation I would encourage the university to consider is creating a safe space for Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) students. While the university has created a Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) department to help address inequities. Higher education institutions need to designate centers that can meet the needs of first-generation students, Black, brown, and students of color. Often Black students feel marginalized by their White peers and have a difficult time navigating racial issues and the campus climate (Bourke, 2010). These experiences can negatively impact students who identify as first-generation African American students. If they feel like they are not supported on their college campus, it creates a feeling of not being welcomed at their school. Creating a center for BIPOC students would help them feel more welcomed and supported. Tichavakunda (2021) argues that Black cultural centers (BCCs) might also be considered pathways for greater Black student engagement and potential sites of Black joy. This center could create cultural programs open to the campus community. This could help start a dialogue amongst Black students, peers, and faculty members. Several participants felt disappointed by their White peers because of rude remarks about African American people or poor treatment of Black faculty members. Creating a space for all students to learn about BIPOC experiences can assist with a more culturally responsible campus community. Cultural spaces designed for students from different

racial and ethnic backgrounds will communicate those different cultural identities are acknowledged and welcomed (Rullman & Harrington, 2014; Yakaboski & Perozzi, 2014).

Research

This study aimed to understand better the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. There is a need to know how these women can navigate a predominately White institution campus while obtaining success. Further research can be conducted using Harper's Anti-Deficit Achievement theory but focusing the theory on the success of Black women. Based on the findings of this study, Black women are not researched as much as Black men. The findings suggest that while Black women are more successful than Black men, the women gauged their success from an internal satisfaction rather than GPAs or grades. The transfer process from a two-year institution to a four-year institution should also be explored more to further the research. The findings of this study suggest since the participants were non-traditionally aged students, further research could look at the impact of the transfer process between traditional-aged women and non-traditional-aged women. Data analysis made it evident that there was a breakdown of communication and support for these women while transferring into the institution. Although the transfer experiences were not negative for all participants, it is essential to recognize that student enrollment can be impacted if these types of experiences continue.

Another suggestion for further research is to continue to explore the experiences of African American women. Current research will discuss Black students as one group, or if the group is explored further, research has focused on men. While it is clear that Black

women are more successful than Black college men, there is not enough research exploring why Black women are more successful than Black men. The study findings suggest that family helped inspire the participants and keep them motivated to pursue their education. Further research should focus on family influence on their college choice and experience. Since this study focused on students transferring to a predominately White institution, school choice could impact future research.

Also, researchers and administrators are often looking to obtain statistical data to measure Black students' deficits but exploring the success of Black women could be researched differently. This is based on the understanding that most published evidence on Blacks at predominately White institutions makes clear why these students fail but reveal too little about what can be learned from those who craft productive responses to racism and other environmental factors that undermine success (Fries-Britt & Griffin, 2007; Harper, 2013). As a researcher, I found that investigating environmental factors can explain how Black students can maintain success at a predominately White institution. Success in Black students has been measured from the dominant cultures' perspectives of what success should be and how success should look. It is essential to understand that one size does not fit all. Further research can focus on the role of a broader success definition in promoting students' persistence. Gaining an understanding of how Black students define success for themselves could help to explain the retention and graduation rate of Black women.

Policy

The findings for this study had implications for policy for the colleges and universities in the state of New Jersey. The Lampitt Law supports transfer from

community colleges to four-year institutions in New Jersey, and my research has demonstrated how complex transfer is, particularly for Black women. Under the Lampitt Law, community college students who complete an Associates of Arts or an Associates of Science degree will receive half of the credits they need to graduate with a bachelor's degree. While the law was created to facilitate an effortless transfer from a community college to a four-year college, this is not happening at James University. Although New Jersey has a state policy that guarantees transfer of all credits for students that complete an AA or AS at a community college, the policy does not address the transfer experience. It is recommended that the state update the Lampitt Law and policy. State lawmakers could implement a policy that requires all New Jersey colleges and universities create a transfer department that will assist students while they are transferring. Implementing this state policy could help to assist with making the Lampitt law more effective.

The findings for this study had implications for policy at James University. My findings suggest that deans, stakeholders, and higher education leaders consider reviewing the transfer process and policies. Revising current policies at the school should be considered to help students feel more welcomed and included on campus. The revision of the transfer process would allow Black women to make a smoother transition to the university. Based on the findings of this study, the participants were not informed during the transfer process and had issues with communication. The university could establish an institution policy to assign transfer facilitators. The facilitators would be assigned to the transfer student and become a direct contact for the student while the student is initiating transfer from their community college to James University. This person would be with the student through the whole transfer experience from the moment the student

applies to the university until at least their first semester. Once they have started the first semester, they would then be able to start meeting with their Academic Advisor. This will give transfer students one person they can contact if they have questions or concerns.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative, narrative inquiry study was to examine and understand the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. Six themes emerged from the findings: negative stereotypes, the importance of education and peer work ethic, negative experiences with communication issues, positive engagement with institutional agents, measuring success as Black students, and the Covid-19 pandemic. These findings have expanded upon the limited current literature that is available. The findings further provide insight into the transfer process, motivation towards success, and the engagement of Black women on a predominately White institution's campus. One primary way for Black women to be acknowledged is through pushing back against the dominant culture, obtaining an education which can be a form of empowerment and activism that will allow Black women to fight against the system of oppression. These students should not feel alone in their activism. As leaders, we need to support Black women in higher education by letting them know they are welcomed. Nelson Mandela (2003) once said, "Education is the most powerful weapon which you can use to change the world."

References

- Adams, T. L., & McBrayer, J. S. (2020). The lived experiences of First-Generation college students of color integrating into the institutional culture of a predominantly white institution. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(3), 733–757. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss3/12
- Aljohani, O. (2016). A comprehensive review of the major studies and theoretical models of student retention in higher education. *Higher Education Studies*, 6(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v6n2p1
- Allen, E. L., & Joseph, N. M. (2018). The sistah network: Enhancing the educational and social experiences of black women in the academy. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*, 11(2), 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1080/19407882.2017.1409638
- Allen, J. M., Smith, C. L., & Muehleck, J. K. (2013). What kinds of advising are Important to community college pre- and posttransfer students? *Community College Review*, 41(4), 330–345. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552113505320
- Allen, W. (1992). The color of success: African American college student outcomes at predominantly White and historically Black public colleges and universities. *Harvard Educational Review*, 62(1), 26–45. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.62.1.wv5627665007v701
- Allen, W. R., Epps, E. G., & Haniff, N. Z. (1991). College in Black and White: African American students in predominantly White and historically Black public universities (frontiers in education) (SUNY series, frontiers in education) (First Edition). State University of New York Press.
- Allen, W. R., McLewis, C., Jones, C., & Harris, D. (2018). From Bakke to Fisher: African American students in U.S. higher education over forty years. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 4(6), 41–72. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2018.4.6.03
- Alyahyan, E., Düştegör, D. (2020). Predicting academic success in higher education: Literature review and best practices. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 17(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-0177-7
- Ardoin, S. (2020). Student engagement in higher education: Theoretical perspectives and practical approaches for diverse populations. In S. R. Harper, S. L. Pendakur, & S. J. Quaye (Eds.), *Engaging Poor and Working-Class Students* (3rd ed., pp. 307–323). Routledge.

- Arminio, J. L., Carter, S., Jones, S. E., Kruger, K., Lucas, N., Washington, J., Young, N., & Scott, A. (2000). Leadership experiences of students of color. *NASPA Journal*, 37(3), 496–510. https://doi.org/10.2202/0027-6014.1112
- Ashar, H., & Skenes, R. (1993). Can Tinto's student departure model be applied to nontraditional students? *Adult Education Quarterly*, *43*(2), 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713693043002003
- Astin, A. W. (1984). Student involvement theory: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Development*, 40(5), 518–529.
- Astin, A. W. (1993). What matters in college? Four critical years revisited. Jossey-Bass.
- Astin, A. W. (1999). Involvement in learning revisited: Lessons we have learned. *Journal* of College Student Development, 40(5), 587–598.
- Atherton, M. C. (2014). Academic preparedness of first-generation college students: Different perspectives. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55(8), 824–829. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2014.0081
- Azmitia, M., Syed, M., & Radmacher, K. (2013). Finding your niche: Identity and emotional support in emerging adults' adjustment to the transition to college. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 23(4), 744–761. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.1203
- Bailey-Fakhoury, C., & Frierson, M. (2014). Black women attending predominantly White institutions: Fostering their academic success using African American motherwork strategies. *Journal of Progressive Policy and Practice*, 2(3), 213– 228.
- Baker, D. B., Clay, J. N., & Gratama, C. A. (2005). The essence of college readiness: Implications for students, parents, schools, and researchers. Mill Creek, WA
- Banks, T., & Dohy, J. (2019). Mitigating barriers to persistence: A review of efforts to improve retention and graduation rates for students of color in higher education. *Higher Education Studies*, 9(1), 118–131. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v9n1p118
- Barnshaw, J., & Dunietz, S. (2015) Busting the myths. Academe, 101(2), 4-84.
- Bartman, C. C. (2015). African American women in higher education: Issues and support strategies. *College Student Affairs Journal*,2(2), 1-9.
- Bell, J. S. (2002). Narrative inquiry: More than just telling stories. *TESOL Quarterly*, *36*(2), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.2307/3588331

- Benishek, L. A., Bieschke, K. J., Park, J., & Slattery, S. M. (2004). A multicultural feminist model of mentoring. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 32, 428-442.
- Benjamin, L. (Ed.). (1997). *Black women in the academy: Promises and perils* (1st ed.). University Press of Florida.
- Bennett, P. R., & Lutz, A. (2009). How African American is the net black advantage? Differences in college attendance among immigrant blacks, native blacks, and whites. *Sociology of Education*, 82(1), 70–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/003804070908200104
- Bensimon, E. M. (2007). The underestimated significance of practitioner knowledge in the scholarship on student success. *Review of Higher Education*, 30, 441-469.
- Blackwell, E., & Pinder, P. J. (2014). What are the motivational factors of firstgeneration minority college students who overcome their family histories to pursue higher education? *College Student Journal*, 48(1), 45.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of theory* and research for the sociology of education (pp. 241–257). Greenwood Press.
- Bourke, B. (2010). Experiences of black students in multiple cultural spaces at a predominantly White institution. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 3(2), 126-135.
- Bourke, B. (2016). Meaning and implications of being labelled a predominantly White institution. *College and University*, 91(3), 12-18, 20-21.
- Bowen, W. G., Kurzweil, M. A., & Tobin, E. M. (2005). *Equity and excellence in American higher education* (Illustrated ed.). University of Virginia Press.
- Braddock, J. H. (1981). Desegregation and Black student attrition. *Urban Education*, 15(4), 403–418. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085981154002
- Braxton, J. M. (2000). *Reworking the student departure puzzle*. Vanderbilt University Press.
- Brewer, R. M. (1993). Theorizing Black feminisms: The visionary pragmatism of Black women. In S. M. James (Ed.), *Theorizing Race, Class and Gender: The New Scholarship of Black Feminist Intellectuals and Black Women's Labor* (pp. 13– 30). Rutledge.
- Brooks, M., Jones, C., & Burt, I. (2013). Are African American male undergraduate retention programs successful? An evaluation of an undergraduate African American male retention program. *Journal of African American Studies*, 17(2), 206–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-012-9233-2

- Brown, A., Nietzel, M. T., Jennings, K., Brown, A., Norlian, A., Layberger, T., Etkin, J., Edelman, R., Adams, S., Voytko, L., Panel, E., Moon, K., Brodey, D., Moon, K., Barth, R., & Jung, J. (2017). *Rowan University*. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/colleges/rowan-university/?sh=229d836e47d6
- Brown, O.G. (2011). The jar is half-empty and the jar is half-full: Challenges and opportunities in graduating first-generation African American undergraduates. *Critical Questions in Education*, 2(1), 14-27.
- Carey, K. (2004). A matter of degrees: Improving graduation rates in four-year colleges and universities. *Education Trust*, 1–20. https://edtrust.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/10/highered.pdf
- Carroll, C. (1982). Three's a crowd: The dilemma of the Black woman in higher education. In G. Hull, P. Bell-Scott, & B. Smith (Eds.), All the women were White, all the men were Black, but some of us were brave: Black women's studies (pp. 115-128). The Feminist Press.
- Carter, D. F., Locks, A. M. & Winkle-Wagner, R. (2013). From when and where I enter: Theoretical and empirical considerations of minority students' transition to college. In M. B. Paulsen (Ed.), *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research* (Vol. 28, pp. 93–149). Springer.
- Cataldi, E., Bennett. C., Chen, X. (2018). Stats in Brief, 2018 (NCES 2018-421). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Chan, M. (2019, April 23). More content below time "our pain is never Prioritized." #MeToo founder tarana burke says we must listen to "untold" stories of minority women. Yahoo. https://time.com/5574163/tarana-burke-metoo-time-100-summit/
- Chapman, D. W., & Pascarella, E. T. (1983). Predictors of academic and social integration of college students. *Research in Higher Education*, 19(3), 295-322.
- Charleston, L., George, P., Jackson, J., Berhanu, J., & Amechi, M. (2014). Navigating underrepresented STEM spaces: Experiences of Black women in U.S. computing science higher education programs who actualize success. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 7(3), 166–176. doi:10.1037/a0036632
- Chavous, T. & Cogburn, C. D. (2007). Superinvisible women: Black girls and women in education. *Black Women, Gender, and Families*, 1(2), 24-51.

- Chavous, T. M. (2000). The relationships among racial identity, perceived ethnic fit, and organizational involvement for African American Students at a predominantly White university. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 26, 79-100. doi: 10.1177/0095798400026001005
- Chen, J. M., & Hamilton, D. L. (2015). Understanding diversity: The importance of social acceptance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 41(4), 586–598.
- Chin-Newman, C. S., & Shaw, S. T. (2013). The anxiety of change: How transfer students face challenges. *Journal of College Admission*, (221) 1. p 15–21.
- Choy, S. 2001. Students whose parents did not go to college: Postsecondary access, persistence, and attainment. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Clance, P.R., & Imes, S. A. (1978). The impostor phenomenon in high achieving women: Dynamics and therapeutic intervention. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 15(3), 241-247.
- Clandinin, D. J. (2006). Narrative Inquiry: A Methodology for Studying Lived Experience. *Research Studies in Music Education*, 27(1), 44–54.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research. Jossey-Bass.
- Clark, R., Anderson, N. B., Clark, V. R., & Williams, D. R. (1999). Racism as a stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model. *American Psychologist*, 54, 805–816.
- Collins, A. (2001). Black women in the academy: An historical overview. In R. Mabokela & A. Green (Eds.), *Sisters in the academy: Emergent Black women scholars in higher education* (pp. 29-41). Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Collins, P. H. (1986). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of black feminist thought. *Social Problems*, 33(6), 14-32.
- Collins, P. H. (1990). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. Boston, MA: Unwin Hyman.
- Collins, P. H. (2000). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. Routledge
- Collins, P. H. (2009). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment (10th ed.). Routledge

- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of Experience and Narrative Inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 19(5), 2–14.
- Connelly, M., & Clandinin, D. (2006). Narrative inquiry. In G. Camilli & P. B. Elmore (Eds.), *Handbook of Complementary Methods in Education Research* (3rd ed., pp. 477–487). Routledge.
- Constantine, M., & Watt, S. (2002). Cultural congruity, womanist identity attitudes, and life satisfaction among African American college women attending historically black and predominantly white institutions. *Journal of College Student Development*, 43(2), 184-94.
- Covarrubias, R., & Fryberg, S. A. (2015). Movin' on up (to college): First-generation college students' experiences with Family achievement guilt. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 21(3), 420-429.
- Crenshaw K., Ocen P., & Nanda J. (2015). Black girls matter: Pushed out, overpoliced, and underprotected. New York: African American Policy Forum and Center for Intersectionality and Social Policy Studies.
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A Black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory, and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1(8), 139.
- Creswell J. W., Plano Clark V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed method research*. Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2008). Narrative research designs. In Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (3rd ed., pp. 511-550). Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage.
- Croom, N., & Patton, L. (2011). The miner's canary: A critical race perspective on the representation of Black women full professors. *Negro Educational Review*, 62(1-4), 13-39.
- Cuseo, J. B. (1998). The transfer transition: A summary of key issues, target areas, and tactics for reform. ERIC database. (ED42577)
- D'Augelli, A. R., & Hershberger, S.L. (1993). African American undergraduates on a predominantly white campus: Academic factors, social networks, and campus climate. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 62(1), 67-81.

- Dahlvig, J. (2010). Mentoring of African American students at a predominantly White institution (PWI). *Christian Higher Education*, 9, 369-395.
- Darling, R. A., & Smith, M. S. (2007). First-generation college students: First-year challenges. In M. S. Hunter, B. McCalla-Wriggins, & E. R. White (Eds.), *Academic advising: New insights for teaching and learning in the first year* (pp. 203-211). Columbia, SC: National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Davis, M., Dias-Bowie, Y., Greenberg, K., Klukken, G., Pollio, H. R., Thomas, S. P., & Thompson, C. L. (2004). "A fly in the buttermilk": Descriptions of university life by successful Black undergraduate students at a predominately White southeastern university. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 75(4), 420–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2004.11772266
- Davis, R.L., Coward, L.A. & Jackson, D.D. (2013). The Influence of Selected Academic and Institutional Support Factors on the Retention Rates of African American Males. National Association of African American Studies & Affiliates Conference Monographs, pg. 275-288.
- Decuir, J., & Dixson, A. (2004). "So when it comes out, they aren't that surprised that it is there": Using critical race theory as a tool of analysis of race and racism in education. *Educational Researcher*, 33, 26-31.
- Delgado B. D., & Villalpando, O. (2002). An apartheid of knowledge in academia: The struggle over the "legitimate" knowledge of faculty of color. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 35(2), 169-180.
- Dennis, J. M., Phinney, J. S., & Chuateco, L. I. (2005). The role of motivation, parental support, and peer supporting the academic success of ethnic minority firstgeneration college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(3), 223-236
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. (Eds.) (2012). *Handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Dill, B., & Zambrana, R. (2009). *Emerging intersections: Race, class, gender in theory, policy, and practice.* Rutgers University Press.
- Donovan, R. A., & Guillory, N. A. (2017). Black women's college experience: Influence of sociostructural stressors. In L. D. Patton & N. N. Croom (Eds.), Critical perspectives on Black women and college success (pp. 188–199). Routledge.
- Dorimé-Williams, M. L., & Choi, S. (2021). Class, sex, and the role of involvement on Black collegians degree attainment. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000325

- Dowd, A. C., Cheslock, J. J., & Melguizo, T. (2008). Transfer access from community colleges and the distribution of elite higher education. *Journal of Higher Education*, 79(4), 442-472.
- Duggan, M. H., & Pickering, J. W. (2008). Barriers to transfer student academic success and retention. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 9(4), 437–459. https://doi.org/10.2190/cs.9.4.
- Dulabaum, N. L. (2016). Barriers to academic success: A qualitative study of African American and Latino male students. *League for Innovations*, 11(6).
- Eakins, A., & Eakins, S. L., Sr. (2017). African American students at predominantly White institutions: A collaborative style cohort recruitment & retention model. *Journal Learning in Higher Education*, 13(2), 51-57.
- Edwards, C. W. (2019). Overcoming Imposter Syndrome and Stereotype Threat: Reconceptualizing the Definition of a Scholar. Taboo: *The Journal of Culture and Education*, 18 (1).
- Engle, J., & Tinto, V. (2008). Moving beyond access: College success for low-income, first-generation students. Washington, DC: The Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education.
- Engle, J., Bermeo, A., & O'Brien, C. (2006). Straight from the source: What works for first-generation college students. Washington, DC: Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education.
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity: Youth and Crisis (1st ed.). W.W. Norton.
- Evans, S. Y. (2007). *Black women in the ivory tower*, 1850-1954. Gainesville, Press of Florida.
- Everett, K. D., & Croom, N. N. (2017). From discourse to practice: Making discourse about Black undergraduate women visible in higher education journals and student affairs practice. In L. D. Patton & N. N. Croom (Eds.), *Critical* perspectives on Black women and college success (75–87). Routledge.
- Fast-facts. Rowan University. (2020). https://sites.rowan.edu/fastfacts/index.html
- Fauria, R., & Fuller, M. (2015). Transfer student success: educationally purposeful activities predictive of undergraduate GPA. *Research & Practice in Assessment*, 10(1), 39–52.
- Fischer, M. J. (2007). Settling into campus life: Differences by race/ethnicity in college involvement and outcomes. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 78(2), 125-161.

- Fisher, B.J., & Hartmann, D.J. (1995). The impact of race on the social experience of college students at a predominantly white university. *Journal of Black Studies*, 26(2), 117-133.
- Flying First. *Rowan University*. (2020). https://sites.rowan.edu/studentaffairs/initiatives/firstgen/missionobjectives.html
- Franke, R., Hurtado, S., Pryor, J. H., & Tran, S. (2011). *Completing college: Assessing graduation rates at Four-Year institutions*. Higher Education Research Institute.
- Fries-Britt, S. L., & Griffin, K. A. (2007). The black box: How high-achieving Blacks resist stereotypes about Black Americans. *Journal of College Student Development*, 48(5), 509–524.
- Furr, S. R. (2002) African American students in a predominantly White university: Factors associated with retention. *College Student Journal*, 36, 188-202.
- Gaines, A.D. (1994). *Race and racism*. In W. Reich (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Bioethics. Macmillan.
- Gamble, E. D., & Turner, N. J. (2015). Career ascension of African American women in executive positions in postsecondary institutions. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications, and Conflict*, 19, 82-101.
- Garcia, V. (2010). First-generation college students: How co-curricular involvement can assist with success. *The Vermont Connection*, 31, 46–52.
- George Mwangi, C. A., Thelamour, B., Ezeofor, I., & Carpenter, A. (2017). "Black elephant in the room": Black college students contextualizing campus racial climate within U.S. racial climate. *Journal of College Student Development*, 59, 456–474.
- Gist-Mackey, A. N., Wiley, M. L., & Erba J. (2018). "You're doing great. Keep doing what you're doing": Socially supportive communication during first-generation college students' socialization. *Communication Education*, 67(1), 52-72.
- Glaessgen, T. A., Macgregor, C. J., Cornelius-White, J. H., Hornberger, R. S., & Baumann, D. M. (2018). First-generation students with undecided majors: A qualitative study of university reacculturation. *NACADA Journal*, 38(1), 22-35.
- Glennen, R. E., & Baxley, D. M. (1985). Reduction of attrition through intrusive advising. *NASPA Journal*, 22(3), 10–14.
- Gloria, A. M., Castellanos, J., Lopez, A. G., & Rosales, R. (2005). An examination of academic nonpersistence decisions of Latino undergraduates. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 27(2), 202-223.

- Green, A. L., & Mabokela, R. (2001). Sisters of the academy: Emergent Black women scholars in higher education. Stylus Publishing.
- Green, D., Pulley, T., Jackson, M., Martin, L. L., & Fasching-Varner, K. J. (2018). Mapping the margins and searching for higher ground: Examining the marginalisation of Black female graduate students at PWIs. *Gender and Education*, 30(3), 295-309.
- Green, S. L., & Wright, C. F. (2017). Retaining first generation underrepresented minority students: A struggle for higher education. *Journal of Education Research*, 11(3), 323-338.
- Green, S.L. (2010). A necessary tool for general and special education. In F.E. Obiakor, J.P. Bakken, A.F. Rotatori (ed.) *Current Issues and Trends in Special Education: Research, Technology, and Teacher Preparation* (Advances in Special Education, Volume 20). Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp.107 – 122.
- Guiffrida, D. (2005). Othermothering as a framework for understanding African American students' definitions of student-centered faculty. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 76(6), 701-723.
- Guiffrida, D. A. (2003). African American student organizations as agents of social integration. *Journal of College Student Development*, 44(3), 304-319.
- Guy-Sheftall, B. (1995). Words of fire: An anthology of African American feminist thought. The New Press.
- Habley, W. R., & McClanahan, R. (2004). What works in student retention? Four-year public colleges. *American College Testing*, 2–26. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED515398.pdf
- Hagedorn, L. S. (2006). How to define retention: A new look at an old problem. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College retention: Formula for student success* (pp. 89–106).
- Harper, S. R. (2006). Reconceptualizing reactive policy responses to Black male college achievement: Implications from a national study. Focus: *Magazine of the Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies*, 34(6), 14–15.
- Harper, S. R. (2010). An anti-deficit achievement framework for research on students of color in STEM. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 148, 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.362
- Harper, S. R. (2012). Black male student success in higher education: A report from the national black male college achievement study. Philadelphia, PA: Center for the Study of Race and Equity in Education.

- Harper, S. R. (2013). Am I my brother's teacher? Black undergraduates, racial socialization, and peer pedagogies in predominantly White postsecondary contexts. *Review of Research in Education*, 37(1), 183–211.
- Harper, S. R. (2015). Black male college achievers and resistant responses to racist stereotypes at predominantly White colleges and Universities. *Harvard Educational Review*. (85)4, 646-674.
- Harper, S. R., & Harris, F. (2010). College men and masculinities: Theory, research, and implications for practice (1st ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Harper, S.R., & Shaun, R. (2007). The effects of sorority and fraternity membership on class participation and African American student engagement in predominantly white classroom environments. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 27, 94-115.
- Harris, J., & Linder, C. (2018). The racialized experiences of students of color in higher education and student affairs graduate preparation programs. Journal of College Student Development, 59(2), 141-158
- Harris, M. (2013). Understanding institutional diversity in American higher education. Jossey-Bass.
- Havlik, S., Pulliam, N., Malott, K., & Steen, S. (2017). Strengths and struggles: Firstgeneration college-goers persisting at one predominantly White institution. *Journal of College Student Retention*: 0(0), 1-23.
- Hawkins, V. M., & Larabee, H. J. (2009). Engaging racial/ethnic minority students in out-of-class activities on predominantly White campuses. In S. R. Harper and S. J. Quaye (Eds.). Student engagement in higher education: Theoretical perspective and practical approaches for diverse populations (pp. 179-197). Routledge. Higher Education Desegregation. Washington D.C.: Office for Civil Rights.
- Hills, J. R. (1965). Transfer shock: The academic performance of the junior college transfer. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 33, 201-215.
- Hiraldo, P. (2010). The Role of Critical Race Theory in Higher Education. *The Vermont Connection*, 31(1), 53-59.
- Holmes, S. L., Ebbers, L. H., Robinson, D. C., & Mugenda, A. G. (2000). Validating African American students at predominantly White institutions. *Journal of College Retention: Research*, Theory & Practice, 2(1), 41–58.
- Horn, L. & Nunez, A. (2000). Mapping the road to college: First-generation student math track, planning strategies and context of support (NCES Report 00-153).
 Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.

- Horn, L., & Skomsvold, P. (2011). Community college student outcomes: 1994–2009 (NCES 2012-253). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.
- Horowitz, J. (2018). Relative education and the advantage of a college degree. *American Sociological Review*, 83(4), 771-801.
- Hotchkins, B. (2017). Black women students at predominantly White universities: Narratives of identity politics, well-being and leadership mobility. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*, *10*(2), 144–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/19407882.2017.1326943
- Howard-Hamilton, M.F., & Hughes, R.L., (2003b) Insights: Emphasizing issues that effect African American women. *New Directions for Student Services*, 104, 95-104.
- Howard-Hamilton, M. (2003a). Theoretical frameworks for African American women. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2003(104), 19-27.
- Hurtado, S., & Carter, D., (1997). Effects of college transition and perceptions of the campus racial climate on Latino college students' sense of belonging. *Social Education*, 70:324-345.
- Hurtado, S., Griffin, K. A., Arellano, L., & Cuellar, M. (2008). Assessing the value of climate assessments: Progress and future directions. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 1, 204–221. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ a0014009
- Hurtado, S., Ruiz Alvarado, A., & Guillermo-Wann, C. (2011). Creating inclusive environments: The mediating effect of faculty and staff validation on the relationship of discrimination/bias to students' sense of belonging. *Journal Committed to Social Change on Race and Ethnicity*, 1(1), 60–80.
- Ishitani, T. T. (2006). Studying attrition and degree completion behavior among firstgeneration college students in the United States. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77, 861–885.
- Jackson, J. F. L. (2004). Engaging, retaining, and advancing African Americans in executive- level positions: A descriptive and trend analysis of academic administrators in higher and postsecondary education. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 73(1), 4–20.
- Jackson, L. R. (1998). The influence of both race and gender on the experiences of African American college women. *The Review of Higher Education*, 21(4), 359– 375. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.1998.0009

- Jackson, S., & Harris, S. (2007). African American female college and university presidents: Experienced and perceptions of barriers to the presidency. *Journal of Women in Educational Leadership*, 119–137. Retrieved December 2016.
- Jacob, S., & Furgerson, S. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1718
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal* of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy, 5(4), 87. doi:10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Jenkins, D., & Fink, J. (2015). *What we know about transfer*. New York, NY: Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center.
- Jenkins, S., Belanger, A., Connally, M., Boals, A., & Duro[']n, K. (2013). First-generation undergraduate students' social support, depression, and life satisfaction. *Journal* of College Counseling, 16, 129–142.
- Johnson-Ahorlu, R. N. (2012). The academic opportunity gap: How racism and stereotypes disrupt the education of African American undergraduates. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 15, 633-652.
- Johnson-Bailey, J. (1999). The ties that bind and the shackles that separate race, gender, class, and color in a research process. *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 12(6), 659-670.
- Johnson, T. (2013, August 30). The reality of Black male privilege. http://thegrio.com/2013/08/30/the-reality-of-black-male-privilege/.
- Kelly, B. T., Raines, A., Brown, R., French, A., & Stone, J. (2019a). Critical Validation: Black Women's Retention at Predominantly White Institutions. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 1-23.
- Kelly, B.T., Gardner, P. J., Stone, J., Hixson, A., & Dissassa, D.T. (2019b). Hidden in Plain Sight: Uncovering the Emotional Labor of Black Women Students at Historically White Colleges and Universities. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000161
- Kets de Vries, M. F. R. (2005). The dangers of feeling like a fake. *Harvard Business Review*, 83(9), 108-116.
- King, P. M., & Howard--Hamilton, M. (2003). An assessment of multicultural competence. NASPA Journal, 40(2), 119--133.
- King, R.C., Stanfield, W.D. (1990). *A Dictionary of genetics*. London: Oxford University Press.

- Kirk-Kuwaye, M., & Nishida, D. (2001). Effect of low and high academic advisor involvement on the academic performances of probation students. NACADA Journal, 21(1&2), 40–45.
- Klasik, D., Blagg, K., & Pekor, Z. (2018). Out of the education desert: How limited local college options are associated with inequity in postsecondary opportunities. *Social Sciences*, 7(9), 165. doi:10.3390/socsci7090165
- Knapp, C. (1986). The corporate woman officer. *Higher Education and National Affairs*, 48(2).
- Kreig, D. B. (2013). High expectations for higher education? Perceptions of college and experiences of stress prior to and through the college career. *College Student Journal*, 47(4), 635-643.
- Kuh, G. D. (2001). Assessing what really matters to student learning inside the national survey of student engagement. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 33(3), 10-17.
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J. H., & Whitt, E. J. (2005). Student success in college: Creating conditions that matter. Jossey-Bass.
- Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education. *Teachers College Record*, 97(1), 47-68.
- Landsman, J., & Lewis, C. (2006). White teachers, diverse classrooms: A guide to building inclusive schools, promoting high expectations, and eliminating racism (1st ed.). Sterling, Va.: Stylus Pub.
- Lane, I. (2006). Good teaching: Truth or fiction. Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin, 72, 9-12.
- Lee, J. J., Sax, L. J., Kim, A. K., & Hagedorn, L. S. (2004). Understanding students' parental education beyond first-generation status. *Community College Review*, 32(1), 1-20.
- Lee, J.M., & Ransom, T. (2011). The educational experience of young men of color: A review of research, pathways, and progress. http://media.collegeboard.com/digitalServices/pdf/advocacy/nosca/noscaeducational- experience-young-men-color-research.pdf
- Lee, R. M., Keough, K. A., & Sexton, J. D. (2002). Social connectedness, social appraisal, and perceived stress in college women and men. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 80, 355–361.
- Lemons, M. (2003). Contextual and cognitive determinants of procedural justice perceptions in the promotion of barriers for women. *Sex Roles*, 49, 247-264.

- Lewis, A. E., Chesler, M., & Forman, T. A. (2000). The impact of "Colorblind" ideologies on students of color: Intergroup relations at a predominantly White university. *Journal of Negro Education*, 69(1), 74–91.
- Liao, K. Y. H., Wei, M., & Yin, M. (2019). The misunderstood schema of the strong Black woman: Exploring its mental health consequences and coping responses among African American women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 44(1), 84– 104. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684319883198
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Linder, C., & Rodriguez, K. L. (2012). Learning from the experiences of self-identified women of color activists. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53, 383–398.
- Loeb, E., & Hurd, N. M. (2019). Subjective social status, perceived academic competence, and academic achievement among underrepresented students. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 21(2), 150– 165.
- Long, Bridget T. 2004. How have college decisions changed over time? An application of the conditional logistic choice model. *Journal of Econometrics* 121: 271–96.
- Loo, C. M., & Rolison, G. (1986). Alienation of ethnic minority students at a predominantly white university. *Journal of Higher Education* 57(1), 58-77.
- Loue S. (2006) Defining race, ethnicity, and related constructs. In: Assessing Race, Ethnicity and Gender in Health. Springer.
- Louis, D. A., Russell, S. S., Jackson, D. L., Blanchard, S. J., & Louis, S. L. (2014). Mentoring experiences of African American female students: Navigating the academy. *National Journal of Urban Education & Practice*, 7(3), 232-246.
- Lufi, D., Parish-Plass, J., & Cohen, A. (2003). Persistence in Higher Education and its relationship to other personality variables. *College Student Journal*, 37(1), 50–60.
- Malcolm X May 20, 1962 Speech on Police Brutality in Los Angeles, California. (1962, May 22). The Melanin Project. https://www.themelaninproject.org/tmpblog/2020/2/11/malcolm-x-may-20-1962speech-on-police-brutality-in-los-angeles-california
- Mandela, N. (2017). Oxford essential quotations (S. Ratcliffe, Ed.; 5th ed.). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acref/9780191843730.001.0001
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd Ed.) Sage.

- McCoy, D. L. (2014). A phenomenological approach to understanding first-generation college students of color transitions to one "extreme" predominantly white institution. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 32(1), 155-169.
- McKay, V. C., & Estrella, J. (2008). First-generation student success: The role of faculty interaction in service-learning courses. *Communication Education*, 57(3), 356-372.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, E. J. (2017). Black girls rock: The impact of integration and involvement on the success of Black college women. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*,10(2), 156–166.
- Minicozzi, L., & Roda, A. (2020). Unveiling the Hidden Assets that First-generation Students Bring to College. *Journal for Leadership and Instruction*, 19(1), 43-46.
- Mitchall, A. M., & Jaeger, A. J. (2018). Parental Influences on Low-Income, First-Generation Students' Motivation on the Path to College. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 89(4), 582-609.
- Moses, Y. (1989). Black women in academe: Issues and strategies. *Association of American Colleges*.
- Museus, S. D., Nichols, A. H., & Lambert, A. D. (2008). Racial differences in the effects of campus racial climate on degree completion: A structural equation model. *Review of Higher Education*, 32(1), 107-134.
- Muylaert, C. J., Sarubbi Jr, V., Gallo, P. R., Neto, M. L. R., & Reis, A. O. A. (2014). Narrative interviews: An important resource in qualitative research. *Revista Da Escola de Enfermagem Da USP*, 48(Esp2), 184–189. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0080-623420140000800027
- Nettles, M. T. (1991). Racial similarities and differences in the predictors of college student achievement. In W. R. Allen, E. G. Epps, & N. Z. Haniff (Eds.), *College in Black and White* (pp. 75–94). State University of N.Y. Press.
- Niu, Sunny X., and Marta Tienda. 2007. Choosing Colleges: Identifying and modeling Choice Sets. *Social Science Research* 37, 416–33.
- Orbe, M. P. (2008). Theorizing multidimensional identity negotiation: Reflections on the lived experiences of first-generation college students. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 120, 81-95.

- Ory, J. C., & Braskamp, L. A. (1988). Involvement and growth of students in three academic programs. *Research in Higher Education*, 28, 116–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00992886
- Oseguera, L., & Rhee, B. S. (2009). The influence of institutional retention climates on student persistence to degree completion: A multilevel approach. *Research in Higher Education*, 50(6), 546-569.
- Palbusa, J. A., & Gauvain, M. (2017). Parent–student communication about college and freshman grades in first-generation and non–first-generation students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(1), 107-112.
- Pappas, J. P., & Loring, R. K. (1986). Returning learner. In L. Noel, R. Levitz, & D. Saluri (Eds.), *Increasing Student Retention: Effective Programs and Practices for Reducing the Dropout Rate (Jossey Bass Higher & Adult Education Series)* (1st ed., pp. 138–161). Jossey-Bass.
- Parcell, E. S., & Baker, B. M. A. (2018). The SAGE encyclopedia of communication research methods. In M. Allen (Ed.), Narrative Analysis (1st ed. pp. 1-6). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411
- Parkman, A. (2016). The Imposter Phenomenon in Higher Education: Incidence and Impact. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 16(1), 51–60.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). How college affects students. Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E. T., Pierson, C. T., Wolniak, G. C., & Terenzini, P. T. (2004). Firstgeneration college students: Additional evidence on college experiences and outcomes. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 75, 249–284.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). *How college affects students*. Volume 2: A third decade of research. Jossey-Bass.
- Patton, H., & Haynes, C. (2018). Hidden in Plain Sight: The Black Women's Blueprint for Institutional Transformation in Higher Education. *Teachers College Record* 120(14), 1–18.
- Patton, L. D., Crenshaw, K., Haynes, C., & Watson, T. N. (2016). Why we can't wait: (Re)Examining the opportunities and challenges for Black women and girls in education. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 85(3), 194-198.
- Patton, L. D., Harris, J. C., Ranero-Ramirez, J., Villacampa, I., Lui, J. (2015). Engaging undergraduate women of color. In S. Harper & S. Quaye (Eds.), Student Engagement In Higher Education: Theoretical Perspectives and Practical Approaches for Diverse Populations, (pp. 55-77). Routledge.

- Patton, L. D., Haynes, C., & Croom, N. N. (2017). Centering the diverse experiences of Black women undergraduates. NASPA *Journal About Women in Higher Education*, 10(2), 141–143.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Perkins, D. D. (2010). Political and civic leadership: A reference handbook [E-book]. In R. A. Couto (Ed.), *Empowerment*(1st ed., pp. 207–218). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Pierce, C. M. (1995). Stress analogs of racism and sexism: Terrorism, torture, and disaster. In C. V. Willie, P. P. Rieker, B. M. Kramer, & B. S. Brown (Eds.), *Mental health, racism, and sexism* (pp. 277-293). University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Polkinghorne, D. (1995). Narrative configuration in qualitative analysis. In J. Hatch & R. Wisniewski (Eds.), *Life history and narrative* (pp. 5-24). Falmer Press.
- Polonsky, M. J., & Waller, D. S. (2018). *Designing and Managing a Research Project: A Business Student's Guide* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Pratt, I. S., Harwood, H. B., & Cavazos, J. T., Ditzfeld, C. P. (2017). Should I stay or should I go? Retention in first-generation college students. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, and Practice*, 1-14.
- Radunzel, J. (2018). Examining retention and transfer in relation to incoming student data for first-generation and continuing-generation students: What differences exist? *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice.*
- Rastogi, S., Johnson, T. D., Hoeffel, E. M., & Drewery, Jr., M. P. (2010). The black population: 2010. U.S. Department of Commerce Economics and Statistics Administration website: https://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-06.pdf
- Ravitch, S. M., & Riggan, M. J. (2013). *Reason & rigor: How conceptual frameworks guide research* (1st ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Reason, R. D. (2009). An examination of persistence research through the lens of a comprehensive conceptual framework. *Journal of College Student Development*, 50(6), 659–682. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.0.0098
- Reid, M. J. & Moore, J. L (2008). College readiness and academic preparation for postsecondary education: Oral histories of first-generation urban college students. *Urban Education*, 43(2), 240-261.
- Rendon, L. I. (1994). Validating culturally diverse students: Toward a new model of learning and student development. *Innovative Higher Education*, 19(1), 33–51.

- Ricks, S. A. (2014). Falling through the cracks: Black girls and education. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Teaching and Learning*, 4(1), 10–21.
- Riessman, C. K. (2002). Analysis of personal narratives. In J. Gubrium & J. A. Holstein (Eds.), Handbook of interview research: Context and method (pp. 695-710). Sage.
- Riessman, C. K. (2008). *Narrative methods for the human sciences* (First ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Robinson-Wood, T. L. (2009). Love, school, and money: Stress and cultural coping among ethnically diverse Black college women: A mixed-method analysis. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, 33, 77–86.
- Rosales, A. M., & Person, D. R. (2003). Programming needs and student services for African American women. *New Directions for Student Services*, 104, 53–65.
- Ross, T., Rathburn, A., KewalRamani, A., Zhang, J., Kristapovich, P., & Manning, E. (2012). Higher education: Gaps in access and persistence study. Washingtion, DC
- Rossman, G. B., & Rallis, S. F. (2012). The research journey: Introduction to inquiry. Guilford Press.
- Rossman, G. B., & Rallis, S. F. (2017). An introduction to qualitative analysis: Learning in the field (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Rouse, C. E. (1995). Democratization or diversion? The effect of community colleges on educational attainment. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 13, 217-224.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2016). Qualitative interviewing: the art of hearing data. Sage.
- Rullman, L.J. & Harrington, K.D. (2014). College unions, learning, and community building. *New Directions for Student Services*, 145, 39-47
- Schademan, A. R., & Thompson, M. R. (2016). Are college faculty and firstgeneration, low-income students ready for each other? *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 18(2), 194-216.
- Schlossberg, N. K. (1989). Marginality and mattering: Key issues in building community. In D. C. Roberts (Ed.), *Designing campus activities to foster a sense of community* (pp. 5–15). Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Schmertz, B., & Carney, J. (2013). Making the leap: Understanding the successful transfer of high-achieving, low-income community college students to four-year institutions. Lansdowne, VA: Jack Kent Cooke Foundation Report.

- Schreier, M. (2018). Sampling and generalization. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The SAGE handbook* of qualitative data collection (pp. 84–97). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Schwebel, D. C., Walburn, N. C., Jacobsen, S. H., Jerrolds, K. L., & Klyce, K. (2008). Efficacy of intrusively advising first-year students via frequent reminders for advising appointments. *NACADA Journal*, 28(2), 28–32.
- Shapiro, D., Dundar, A., Huie, F., Wakhungu, P.K., Yuan, X., Nathan, A. & Hwang, Y. (2017). Tracking transfer: Measures of effectiveness in helping community college students to complete bachelor's degrees (Signature Report No. 13). *National Student Clearinghouse Research Center*.
- Shavers, M. C., & Moore, J. L. (2014). Black female voices: Self-presentation strategies in doctoral programs at predominately White institutions. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55(4), 391–407.
- Shaw, M. D. (2017). Supporting students who struggle successfully: Developing and institutionalizing support for Black undergraduate women. In L. D. Patton & N. N. Croom (Eds.), *Critical perspectives on Black women and college success* (pp. 200–212). Routledge.
- Shaw, S. T., Spink, K., & Chin-Newman, C. (2018). "Do I really belong here?": The stigma of being a community college transfer student at a four-year university. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*,43(9), 657-660. doi:10.1080/10668926.2018.1528907
- Sieber, J. E. (1992). Applied social research methods series, Vol. 31. *Planning ethically responsible research: A guide for students and internal review boards*. Sage Publications.
- Sims-Woods, J. (1988). The Black female: Mammy, Jemima, Sapphire, and other images. In J. C. Smith (Ed.), Images of Blacks in American culture: A reference guide to information sources. Greenwood.
- Skinner, Benjamin T. (2018). Choosing college in the 2000s: An updated analysis using the conditional logistic choice model. *Research in Higher Education*.
- Smith, W. A. (2004). Black faculty coping with racial battle fatigue: The campus racial climate in a post-civil rights era. In D. Cleveland (Ed.), A long way to go: Conversations about race by African American faculty and graduate students at predominantly white institutions (pp. 171–190). Peter Lang.
- Smith, W. A., Allen, W. R., & Danley, L. L. (2007). "Assume the position...you fit the description": Psychosocial experiences and racial battle fatigue among African American male college students. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 51(4), 551-578.

- Snyder, T.D., de Brey, C., and Dillow, S.A. (2016). Digest of Education Statistics, 2015 (NCES 2016-014). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Solórzano, D.G., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical race theory, racial microaggressions, and campus racial climate: The experiences of African American college students. The Journal of Negro Education, 69(12), 60-73.
- Stanton-Salazar, R. D. (2010). A social capital framework for the study of institutional agents and their role in the empowerment of Low-Status students and youth. *Youth & Society*, 43(3), 1066–1109. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118x10382877
- Stephens, N. M., Hamedani, M. G., & Destin, M. (2014). Closing the social-class achievement gap: A difference-education intervention improves first-generation students' academic performance and all students' college transition. *Psychological Science*, 25(4), 943-953.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2008a). The burden of proof: A quantitative study of high-achieving Black collegians. *Journal of African American Studies*, 13(4), 375-387.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2008b). The role of supportive relationships in facilitating African American males' success in college. *NASPA Journal*, 45(1), 26-48.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2017). Factors that influence the persistence and success of Black men in urban public universities. *Urban Education*, 52(9), 1106-1128.
- Strayhorn, T. L., & Saddler, T. N. (2008). Gender differences in the influence of faculty– student mentoring relationships on satisfaction with college among African Americans. *Journal of African American Studies*, 13, 476–493.
- Sublett, C. (2019). What do we know about online course taking, persistence, transfer, and degree completion among community college students? Community College *Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(12), 813-828. doi: 10.1080/10668926.2018.1530620
- Sue, D. W. (2010). Microaggressions in everyday life: Race, gender, and sexual orientation. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Sue, D., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A. B., Nadal, K. L., & Esquilin, M. (2007). Racial microaggressions in everyday life: Implications for clinical practice. *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 271-286.
- Sutton, E. M., & Kimbrough, W. M. (2001). Trends in Black student involvement. *NASPA Journal*, 39(1), 30-40.

- Swecker, H. K., Fifolt, M., & Searby, L. (2013). Academic advising and first-generation college students: A quantitative study on student retention. *NACADA Journal*, 33(1), 46–53.
- Szymanski, D. M., & Lewis, J. A. (2016). Gendered racism, coping, identity centrality, and African American college women's psychological distress. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40, 229–243.
- Tatum, B. D. (1999). Why are all the Black kids sitting together in the cafeteria? And other conversations about race. Basic Books.
- Terenzini, P. T., Springer, L., Yaeger, P. M., Pascarella, E. T., & Nora, A. (1996). Firstgeneration college students: Characteristics, experiences, and cognitive development. *Research in Higher Education*, 37(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01680039
- Thelamour, B., Mwangi, C. G., & Ezeofor, I. (2019). "We need to stick together for survival": Black college students' racial identity, same-ethnic friendships, and campus connectedness. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 12(3), 266– 279.
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, A. J., Witherspoon, K. M., & Speight, S. L. (2004). Toward the development of the stereotypic roles for Black women scale. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 30, 426–442.
- Thomas, D., Love, K., Roan-Belle, C., Tyler, K., Brown, C., Garriott, P. (2009). Selfefficacy, motivation, and academic adjustment among African American women attending institutions of higher education. The Journal of Negro Education, 78(2), 159–171.
- Thomas, G., & Hollenshead, C. (2001). Resisting from the margins: The coping strategies of Black women and other women of color faculty members at a research university. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 70(3), 166-175.
- Tichavakunda, A. A. (2021). Black joy on White campuses: Exploring Black students' recreation and celebration at a historically White institution. *The Review of Higher Education*, 44(3), 297–324. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2021.0003
- Tillman, L. C. (2002). Culturally sensitive research approaches: An African American perspective. *Educational Researcher*, 31(9), 3-12.

- Tinto, V. (1987). *Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition*. The University of Chicago Press.
- Tong, R. (1989). Feminist Thought: A Comprehensive Introduction. Westview Press.
- Townley, G., & Kloos, B. (2011). Examining the psychological sense of community for individuals with serious mental illness residing in supported housing environments. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 47, 436–446.
- Townsend, B. K. (2008). "Feeling like a freshman again": The transfer student transition. *New Directions for Higher Education*, (144), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/he.327
- Turner, C. S., & Myers, S. L. (2000). Faculty of color: Bittersweet success. Jossey-Bass.
- U.S. Department of Education & National Center for Education Statistics. (2018b). The Condition of Education 2018 (NCES 2018-144), Characteristics of Postsecondary Faculty. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/csc
- U.S. Department of Education. (1991). *Historically Black Colleges and Universities and Higher Education Desegregation*. Washington D.C.: Office for Civil Rights.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1996). *Trends in nontraditional student enrollment*. National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs/web/97578f.asp
- U.S. Department of Education. (2003). *Introduction*. National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d16/index.asp
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). Advancing Diversity and Inclusion in Higher Education. https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/advancing-diversityinclusion.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2020a). *Undergraduate Enrollment*. National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cha.asp
- U.S. Department of Education. (2020b). *The condition of education*. National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cpb.asp
- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). *National Center for Education Statistics*. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs/web/97578e.asp.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). Postsecondary Graduation Rates. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/raceindicators/indicator_red.asp

- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (2018a). Employment Rates of College Graduates. https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=561
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics (2015). Digest of Education Statistics, 2013.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1998). *First*generation students: undergraduates whose parents never enrolled in postsecondary education, NCES 98-082.
- U.S. Department of Education. *National Center for Education Statistics*. (n.d.). https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=72
- Vega, D., & Moore, J. L. (2012). African American and Latino first-generation students: Implications for teachers, school counselors, university officials, parents, and students. In T. Hicks, & A. Pitre (Eds.), *Research in studies in higher education: educating multicultural college students* (pp. 3-25). University Press of America.
- Walkington, L. (2017). How far have we really come? Black women faculty and graduate students' experiences in higher education. *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations*, 39, 51-65.
- Walley-Jean, J. C. (2009). Debunking the myth of the "Angry Black Woman": An exploration of anger in young African American women. *Black Women, Gender* & *Families*, 3(2), 68-86. doi:10.1353/bwg.0.0011
- Walpole, M. B. (2003). Socioeconomic status and college: How SES affects college experiences and outcomes. *The Review of Higher Education*, 27(1), 45–73.
- Walpole, M. B. (2008). Emerging from the pipeline: African American students, socioeconomic status, and college experiences and outcomes. *Research in Higher Education*, 49(3), 237–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-007-9079
- Wang, K. T., Li, F., Wang, Y., Hunt, E. N., Yan, G. C., & Currey, D. E. (2014). The International Friendly Campus Scale, Development and psychometric evaluation. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 42, 115–128.
- Wang, T. R. (2014). "I'm the only person from where I'm from to go to college": Understanding the memorable messages first-generation college students receive from parents. *Journal of Family Communication*, 14(3), 270–290.
- Wang, C. C., & Geale, S. K. (2015). The power of story: Narrative inquiry as a methodology in nursing research. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 2(2), 195–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2015.04.014

- Wang, T. R., & Nuru A. K. (2017). "He wanted me to achieve that for our family and I did, too": Exploring first-generation students' experiences of turning points during the transition to college. *Journal of Family Communication*, 17(2), 153-168.
- Want, J., & Kleitman, S. (2006). Imposter phenomenon and self-handicapping: Links with parenting styles and self-confidence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(5), 961-971.
- Ward, L., Siegel, M. J., & Davenport, Z. (2012). First generation college students: Understanding and improving the experience from recruitment to commencement. John Wiley & Sons.
- Weatherton, M., & Schussler, E. E. (2021). Success for all? A call to re-examine how student success is defined in higher education. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 20(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.20-09-0223
- Webster, L., & Mertova, P. (2007). Using narrative inquiry as a research method: An introduction to using critical event narrative analysis in research on learning and teaching. Routledge.
- Weitz, R. & Gordon, L. (1993). Images of black women among Anglo college students. Sex Roles, 28(1), 19-34.
- Wengraf, T. (2001). Qualitative research interviewing: Biographic narrative and Semi-Structured methods (First ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849209717
- West, C. M. (1995). Mammy, sapphire, and jezebel: Historical images of black women and their implications for psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy*, *32*(3), 458-466. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.32.3.458
- Williams, S. M., & Ferrari, J. R. (2015). Identification among first-generation citizen students and first-generation college students: An exploration of school sense of community. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 43(3), 377–387.
- Williamson, J.A. (1999). In defense of themselves: The Black student struggle for success and recognition at predominantly white colleges and universities. The *Journal of Negro Education*, 68(1), 92-105.
- Winkle-Wagner, R. (2010). An asset or an obstacle? The power of peers in African American women's college transitions. In V. B. Bush, C. R. Chambers, & M. Walpole (Eds.), From diplomas to doctorates (pp. 55-71). Stylus Publication.
- Winkle-Wagner, R. (2015). Having their lives narrowed down? The state of Black women's college success. *Review of Educational Research*, 85(2), 171–204.

- Wolf-Wendel, L., Ward, K., & Kinzie, J. (2009). A tangled web of terms: The overlap and unique contribution of involvement, engagement, and integration to understanding college student success. *Journal of College Student Development*, 50(4), 407-428.
- Wood, J. L., & Newman, C. B. (2017). Predictors of faculty-student engagement for Black men in urban community colleges: An investigation of the community college survey of men. *Urban Education*, 52(9), 1057-1079.
- Yakaboski, T. & Perozzi, B. (2014). Globalization and college unions. New Directions for Student Services, 145, 79-90.
- York-Anderson, D. C, and Bowman, S. L. (1991). Assessing the college knowledge of first-generation and second-generation college students. *Journal of College Student Development* 32(2): 116-122
- Yosso, T. J., Smith, W. A., Ceja, M., & Solorzano, D. (2009). Critical Race theory, racial micro-aggressions, and campus racial climate for Latina/o undergraduates. *Harvard Educational Review*, 79(4), 659-691.
- Zamani, E. M. (2003). African American women in higher education. *New Directions for Student Services*, 104, 5–18.

Appendix A Interview Protocol Interview 1

Research Title

Her-Story: A Narrative Study of the Lived Experiences of First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution

Research Questions

- 1. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining an education?
- 2. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?
- 3. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?

Introduction

My name is DeLithea Davis, and I am a current doctoral candidate in the Educational Leadership program at Rowan University. I am conducting a narrative study for my dissertation under my dissertation chair Dr. Monica Kerrigan. Thank you for choosing to be a part of my study. This study aims to understand the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. There are gaps in research about Black women that attend a predominately White college or university, and your perspective is valuable, especially when looking at the success you have experienced. These questions aim to understand further how you perceive your experience at your university. I am asking you to participate in two interviews which is voluntary.

Video Recording

I will conduct our interview on Zoom. Our meeting is password protected and is locked so that no one else may log on during our interview. With your permission, I would like to record our interview. The purpose of this is to go back if needed to make sure I have as much information as possible and focus on our dialogue. Our conversation will be confidential, and no discussions will take place outside of dissertation purposes. As an added measure, I will use a pseudonym to protect your identity and the identity of the university you attend. This interview may take 1-2 hours or more, and you are free to answer these questions in whatever capacity you are comfortable. Before we move further, please let me know if you have any questions.

Interview Protocol Interview 1

Date:

Interviewee:

Time of Interview:

Main Questions

- 1. How old are you?
- 2. How many semesters have you been at Rowan?
- 3. How many classes do you take each semester?
- 4. What is your current GPA?

Interview Questions

- 5. Can you tell me about your decision to attend college?
- 6. Tell me about the importance of your education.
- 7. I want you to tell me about your transfer experience to Rowan.
- 8. Tell me what success means to you.
- 9. Can you tell me how have you been successful at Rowan?

Interview Protocol Interview 2

Research Title

Her-Story: A Narrative Study of the Lived Experiences of First-Generation African

American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution

Research Questions

- 1. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining an education?
- 2. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?
- 3. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?

Introduction

My name is DeLithea Davis, and I am a current doctoral candidate in the Educational Leadership program at Rowan University. I am conducting a narrative study for my dissertation under my dissertation chair Dr. Monica Kerrigan. Thank you for choosing to be a part of my study. This study aims to understand the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. There are gaps in research about Black women that attend a predominately White college or university, and your perspective is valuable, especially when looking at the success you have experienced. These questions aim to understand further how you perceive your experience at your university. I am asking you to participate in two interviews which is voluntary.

Video Recording

I will conduct our interview on Zoom. Our meeting is password protected and is locked so that no one else may log on during our interview. With your permission, I would like to record our interview. The purpose of this is to go back if needed to make sure I have as much information as possible and focus on our dialogue. Our conversation will be confidential, and no discussions will take place outside of dissertation purposes. As an added measure, I will use a pseudonym to protect your identity and the identity of the university you attend. This interview may take 1-2 hours or more, and you are free to answer these questions in whatever capacity you are comfortable. Before we move further, please let me know if you have any questions.

Interview Protocol Interview 2

Date:

Interviewee:

Time of Interview:

Interview Questions

- 1. In what ways have you been involved on campus?
- 2. What are moments when you have felt most proud as a student at Rowan?
- 3. Can you tell me about a few times you have felt valued or not valued by peers and professors at Rowan?
- 4. Based on your experiences, what advice do you have for other first-generation African American women who transfer to Rowan?
- 5. How if at all do you think your experiences have been influenced by you being an African American woman?
- 6. What are moments when you have felt most powerful as an African American student at Rowan?
- 7. Can you tell me how you maintain that sense of power?
- 8. How do you advocate for yourself?
- 9. What is most important to you about your Rowan experience?
- 10. If you had a little sister, what do you want her to see when she looks at you?

Appendix B Document Protocol

Research Title

Her-Story: A Narrative Study of the Experiences of First-Generation African American Women who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution

Research Questions

- 1. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining an education?
- 2. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?
- 3. How do first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?

Date:

Document:

Document Questions

- 1. Who created this document?
- 2. What is the goal of this document?
- 3. How does this document support student learning?
- 4. Does this document provide insight into student resources?
- 5. Does this document reveal any information that assist with student success?
- 6. Does this document reveal any barriers for students?

Decemb	Theory	Data aguna datailad (a a	Analyzic
Research question	Theory	Data source detailed (e.g, Interview question 3 fully written out)	Analysis technique (e.g., process coding; paired t-test of pre- and post)
How do first- generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution take a stance in their empowerment towards gaining an education?	Black feminist thought	 Can you tell me about a few times you have felt valued or not valued by peers and professors at Rowan. What are moments when you have felt most powerful as a Black student at Rowan? What are moments when you have felt most proud as a student at Rowan? 	Transcribing and coding interviews.
How do first- generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution demonstrate success?	Anti-Deficit Achievement	 Tell me what success means to you. Can you tell me how have you been successful at Rowan? If you had a little sister, what do you want her to see when she looks at you? 	Transcribing and coding interviews.
How do first- generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution engage on campus?	Black feminist thought	 How if at all do you think your experiences have been influenced by you being an African American woman? In what ways have you been involved on campus? What is important to you about your Rowan experience? 	Transcribing and coding interviews.

Appendix C Alignment Matrix

Appendix D Interview Consent Form

This consent form will consist of two parts. One part will be for your consent to participate, and the second part will be your permission to record our interview. We will both have a copy of this form for our records.

This study aims to understand the experience of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution. Should you have any questions regarding this study, you can contact me at 856-256-5819 or you can email me at davisde@rowan.edu.

Research Title: Her-Story: A Narrative Study on the Lived Experiences of First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution

I ______, give my full consent to participate in DeLithea Davis's research study on the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution.

I understand I will be answering questions about my perceptions of my experiences as a student at Rowan University.

I understand that my participation in this study is entirely voluntary and that I can withdraw myself from the study at any moment without penalty or retaliation. There is no known risk associated with my participation in this study.

I understand that my confidentiality is a priority, and to protect my identity DeLithea Davis will use a pseudonym. Any information obtained from my participation will be securely stored electronically and locked with a passcode. DeLithea Davis will not share my information outside of the purposes of the study.

I understand that my participation in this research will require participating in two interviews that will take 1-2 hours. For safety during the pandemic, DeLithea Davis will conduct this interview over Zoom. I may refrain from answering any question at any time during the interview without facing any repercussion.

Signature	 	 	
U			

Date_

Informed Consent Form Video Recording Consent Form

ROWAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD AUDIO/VIDEOTAPE ADDENDUM TO CONSENT FORM

You have already agreed to participate in a research study conducted by DeLithea Davis. We ask for your permission to record our video interview as part of that research study.

You do not have to agree to be recorded to participate in the main part of the study.

The recording(s) will be used for information gathering and analysis purposes only. Specifically, as the principal investigator, I will be transcribing the audio and then looking for emerging themes and patterns that come out of the interview.

The recording(s) will include your name and an audiovisual of you answering the interview questions. However, your identity will not be used during the analysis of data.

The recording(s) will be stored electronically on a personal laptop locked with a passcode. The recording will be retained until the end of the study. Once the study is complete, I will discard the recordings.

Your signature on this form grants the investigator named above permission to record you as described above during participation in the above-referenced study. The investigator will not use the recording(s) for any other reason than that/those stated in the consent form without your written permission.

Signature _____

Date _____

Appendix E Recruitment Email

The Lived Experiences of First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution Volunteer to be a part of an important qualitative research study to understand the lived experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to a predominately White institution.

I am seeking participants who meet the following criteria:

- 1. First-generation college student
- 2. African American woman
- 3. Transfer student from a community college
- 4. Full-time student at Rowan University
- 5. 2.0 GPA or higher

I am specifically exploring the experiences of first-generation African American women who transfer to Rowan University. There is no compensation, but your participation is valued and may directly impact the understanding and future trajectory of resources and services at Rowan University.

This study will include two interviews that will roughly take 120 minutes. The study will take place online using videoconference applications, like Zoom or Webex.

Please note: First-generation is defined as students with parents who never attended college or students with parents that have some college experiences but never graduated.

Contact information:

Principal Investigator: Dr. Monica Reid Kerrigan-kerrigan@rowan.edu Co-Investigator: DeLithea Davis-davisde@rowan.edu This study is approved by Rowan University's IRB (Study # Pro2021489)

Appendix F IRB Approval Letter

DHHS Federal Wide Assurance Identifier: FWA00007111 IRB Chair Person: Dr. Ane Johnson IRB Director: Eric Gregory Effective Date: October 15, 2021

Notice of Approval - Initial

Study ID: PRO-2021-489

Title: Her-Story: A Narrative Study of the Lived Experiences of First-Generation African American Women Who Transfer to a Predominately White Institution Principal Investigator: Monica Kerrigan Study Coordinator: DeLithea Davis Sponsor: Department Funded

Submission Type: Initial Submission Status: Approved

Approval Date: October 15, 2021 Expiration Date: October 14, 2022 Approval Cycle: 12 months Continuation Review Required: Yes Closure Required: Yes

Review Type: Expedited

Expedited Category: 6. Collection of data from voice, video, digital, or image recordings made for research purposes.

7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

Pregnant Women, Human Fetus, and Neonates Code: N/A Pediatric/Children Code: N/A Prisoner(s) – Biomedical or Behavioral: N/A